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In 1979, two CIA agents, Dino A. Brugioni and Robert G. Poirier, published for the first time a selection of air photos of Auschwitz-Birkenau taken by the U.S. Air Force in 1944. They argued that these photographs demonstrated the reality of the mass extermination of Jews perpetrated at Birkenau, but because of their incompetence both in the field of air photogrammetry and in history the result was a superficial and fanciful interpretation.[1]
From that moment on, however, the air photos of Birkenau became part of the argumentative tools of holocaust historiography. On the one hand, these photos led to a heated debate among orthodox historians about the reason why the Allies did not bomb Auschwitz and thus destroy the “factory of death.”[2] On the other hand, the question moved increasingly into the center of the debate whether the alleged introduction holes for Zyklon B in the roofs of the semi-underground morgues of Crematoria II and III are visible on some of these photographs. Already in 1989 Danuta Czech had claimed that this is the case for the photograph of August 15, 1944.[3] The most important of these photographs were published and discussed as late as 1992 by revisionist scholar John C. Ball.[4]
The thesis of the “proof” of the Zyklon B apertures was further developed until it reached its climax with Michael Shermer and Alex Grobman[5] as well as with Robert Jan van Pelt.[6] This thesis has, however, no foundation and has been radically refuted by revisionist scholars.[7] Perhaps for that very reason John C. Zimmerman tried to redirect the focus of the debate to the alleged incineration pits which according to him constitute a proof of the alleged mass extermination. Zimmerman has devoted many pages to this topic in a book he published in 2000.[8] Even though he based himself on two “experts” on air-photo grammetry, Mark van Alstine and Carroll Lucas, his conclusions are even farther off the mark than those of Brugioni and Poirier.
In this matter, the most surprising aspect is that in spite of the enormous probative value which orthodox historians attribute to the air photos of Birkenau, none of them has ever produced a general study of these documents. Although Zimmerman has presented a – rather fanciful – analysis of these photos, he abstains from confronting them with the corresponding testimonies. Since the claim that Jews were extermination en masse at Auschwitz is based solely on self-styled eyewitnesses, a proper historiographic method requires a comparison of the statements by these witnesses with what can actually be seen in the air photos. Only if the photographs confirm the testimonies, can the latter be accepted as proof for the reality of the extermination.
And if they do not? In that case they relegate these testimonies into the realm of fairy tales. It is easily understandable why Zimmerman did not want to risk such a comparison, but any scholar adhering to proper historiographic methods has no choice but to conduct such a comparison. The first part of this study is therefore dedicated to this approach.
In addition to the air photos, orthodox Holocaust historiography also proffers other documentary “evidence” for the extermination of the Jews at Auschwitz in 1944. The increase in the workforce of the Birkenau crematoria in line with the arrival of the Hungarian Jews at Birkenau is claimed to demonstrate that these Jews were for the most part gassed and then cremated in those crematoria. In the second part of this study, I will therefore discuss the available documentation (which is much more abundant than the orthodox Holocaust historians might think) in an effort to decide on whether this interpretation is, in fact, correct or whether there is another, quite innocuous explanation for the fact that the number of inmates working at the crematoria increased considerable during the time when the Hungarian Jews were deported to Auschwitz.
According to the orthodox narrative, spring and summer of 1944 represent the crucial phase of the alleged extermination of the Jews at Auschwitz. During that time, it is claimed, such an enormous number of Jews was deported to Auschwitz and allegedly gassed there that the Birkenau cremation furnaces were no longer able to incinerate the masses of gassed people, and the SS was forced to resort to open-air incinerations. In spite of the fact that the alleged mass-incineration[9] trenches played an essential part especially during this period, orthodox holocaust historiography is extremely vague in this respect.
Franciszek Piper, at the time director of historical research at the Auschwitz Museum, who is considered to have been one of the foremost specialists of the alleged exterminations at Auschwitz during his tenure, had this to say:[10]
“Furnace overload caused frequent breakdowns. For example, in the initial stages of the extermination of Hungarian Jews, Crematorium V had to be shut down due to a breakdown of the chimneys. As a result, some bodies were incinerated in Crematorium IV. The remainder were burned at the rate of about 5,000 corpses in 24 hours in the incineration pits near the crematoria. The same number were incinerated in the pits of bunker 2, which was reactivated in the spring of 1944.
Thus in the summer of 1944, the combined capacity of all the incineration installations reached the staggering number of 20,000 victims.”
Orthodox historiography is unable to say anything specific about the dimensions, the location or the number of these alleged mass-incineration trenches, which means that the assertions of individual historians like Jean-Claude Pressac (see Chapter 5) represent nothing but their own personal conjectures. This is due to the fact that the story of mass-incineration trenches is based exclusively on testimonies and that these testimonies, as we shall see in Chapter 4, are contradictory in every regard so as to preclude any historically verified conclusions.
The first reports concerning incineration trenches at Birkenau in 1944 came from the underground resistance movement at Auschwitz. The “Periodic report for May 5 through 25, 1944” contains a section entitled “The death factory” which asserts the following:[11]
“The 4 crematoria in operation have ‘handled’ up to 5000 (persons) per day. The Auschwitz furnaces have ‘handled’ 1,500,000 Jews, plus 100,000 Poles, Russians and others.”
The “Special annex to the periodic report for May 5 through 25, 1944” was devoted to “Auschwitz Action Heess [Aktion Höss].” We read i.a.:[12]
“Starting in mid-May, intensification of transports of Hungarian Jews. Eight trains arrive each night, and five during the day. The trains have 48-50 cars with 100 persons in each one.”
Hence, within one day we would have a total of 13 trains with 62,400 to 65,000 deportees! The detainees located at Auschwitz furthermore assert that at Birkenau there are two gas chambers altogether:[13]
“Both gas chambers run all the time, but they are insufficient.”
With respect to the incineration of corpses, the report says:[14]
“The four crematoria operate continuously – [there is] a furnace,[15] and pyres[16] for incinerations in the open. From afar, one can see a dense black smoke. Still, it is not possible to cope with the [necessary] cremations. One crematorium is now out of commission and being repaired in feverish haste, because the grids and parts of the furnace burned out on account of the uninterrupted operation.”
On May 27, 1944, the Jewish detainees Czesław Mordowicz and Arnost Rosin escaped from Birkenau. In June they drew up a report on the camp, in which we can read:[17]
“On May 15 [1944], transports from Hungary began to arrive at Birkenau in great numbers. Every day some 14,000 to 15,000 Jews arrived. […] Only some 10% of them were accepted in the camp, the others were immediately gassed and burned. […] Since the capacity of the crematoria was insufficient, trenches some 30 m long and 15 m wide were again dug (as before the time of the crematoria) in the little birch wood, where the corpses were burned day and night. In this way, the ‘possibilities of extermination’ were almost unlimited.”
In her Kalendarium under the date of August 30, 1944, Danuta Czech reports a secret message from the detainee S. Kłodzinski who speaks of the filling in of “trenches, in which the corpses of the gassed had been burned.”[18]
Between February 14 and March 8, 1945, a commission of experts composed of the Polish engineers Jarosław Doliński and Roman Dawidowski and of the Soviet engineers V.F. Lavrushin and J.I. Shuer drew up a report on the alleged extermination installations at Birkenau. On the subject of open-air incinerations, they stated the following:[19]
“b/ Gas chamber No. 2[20] with the pyres
[…] The activity of the second gas chamber and the pyres nearby was interrupted in April of 1943, then resumed in May of 1944 and continued until October 1944. Therefore, this gas chamber and the pyres near it operated for a total of one year and ten months.
c/ Pyres near Crematorium No. 5
Between May and October of 1944, the furnaces of Crematorium 5 were stopped and the corpses of the persons poisoned were burnt on three pyres located in the area of the crematorium.”
In its reports, the Soviet investigative commission speaks always of “pyres,” never of “incineration trenches.”
In his technical report on the alleged extermination installations at Auschwitz, dated September 26, 1946, and prepared for Judge Jan Sehn as part of the preparation of the Höss trial, the engineer Roman Dawidowski wrote:[21]
“In May of 1944 large transports of people began to arrive – (mainly Hungarian Jews) who were sent directly to the gas chambers – so large, in fact, that the four crematoria did not succeed in cremating the bodies of the gassed. On account of this, six enormous trenches were dug next to Crematorium V, and the gas chambers of Bunker 2 were reactivated, as were the trenches next to this gassing installation. On one day in June of 1944, the cremation in all crematoria and in the two groups of trenches reached a total of 24,000. For that reason, the detainees assigned to work in the crematoria were rewarded with [a ration of] vodka.”
In 1946, Jan Sehn published the results of his findings on Auschwitz in the form of an article, which later became the basis of the indictment against Rudolf Höss. On the subject of the extermination of the Hungarian Jews, Sehn affirmed:[22]
“Between May and August of 1944, when there were mass transports of Hungarian Jews and French insurgents, in the rush caused by the developments on the war fronts, Hungarians and Frenchmen were gassed in such numbers that the crematoria were not in a position to cremate all the bodies. Therefore, six enormous trenches[23] were dug next to Crematorium V, and the old trenches near the gas chamber in the woods [Bunker 2] were reopened, and the bodies were cremated continuously. When all installations ran at full throttle, in August of 1944[24], a figure of 24,000 cremated bodies per day was reached!”
The verdict of the Höss trial (April 2, 1947) asserts in this respect:[25]
“In the four crematoria of the Birkenau camp there were thus 46 muffles with a total capacity of 10,000 bodies per day.[26] The gassing of the detainees in the Birkenau camp area took place in the gas chambers. Two of those gas chambers were in the basements of Crematoria II and III. Furthermore, Crematoria IV and V had four gas chambers on the ground floor. The total capacity of all gas chambers was 60,000 [persons per day…].
Because the capacity of the gas chambers in the crematoria was considerably greater than that of the crematoria furnaces, the bodies of those gassed were also burnt in a series of enormous trenches next to the crematoria.[27] In these trenches, the corpses were cremated on piles of burning wood.”
And in the indictment for the trial against the camp garrison one can read:[28]
“At certain times the crematoria were unable to cope with the workload, therefore six enormous trenches were dug near Crematorium V, and a supplementary incineration of corpses was undertaken there. The capacity of the Auschwitz gas chambers was 60,000 gassed per day, but that of the furnaces was much lower. It was only after the trenches had been dug that it was possible to reach an average of 18,000 cremated corpses per day. On the basis of the average capacity of the crematoria and the supplementary installations, the People’s Supreme Tribunal, in the verdict of the Höss trial, has set the total number of persons cremated in the Auschwitz extermination installations at no less than 3 million.”
Many former detainees of Auschwitz have spoken of the alleged incineration trenches, but the most important ones are obviously those of the so-called Sonderkommando of the Birkenau crematoria. In this chapter, I will list their assertions in chronological order.
Henryk Tauber was deported to Auschwitz from the Krakow Ghetto on January 19, 1943, and was given the ID number 90124. In February of 1943 he claims to have been incorporated into the so-called Sonderkommando. On February 27, 1945, Henryk Tauber was questioned by the Soviet military prosecutor, major Pakhomov. As to the topic of this study, he declared:[29]
“Huge numbers of people were exterminated in the summer of 1944; four crematoria and four large pyres were in use for the extermination, French insurgents and Hungarians were exterminated. During the whole time while working in the Sonderkommando I came to work in all crematoria and on the pyres, so I know everything in detail.”
According to this witness, a minimum amount of 400 corpses was placed into one trench and burned within 48 hours.[30] When questioned by Judge Jan Sehn on May 24, 1945, he asserted:[31]
“In May of 1944, the SS ordered us to dig, in the yard of Crematorium V, in the area between the drainage ditch and the crematorium building, five trenches in which the bodies of the gassed persons from the Hungarian transports were then burned. Actually, rails for little carts were laid between those trenches [but because] the SS considered them impractical, the detainees of the Sonderkommando dragged the corpses from the gas chambers directly into the trenches. At that time, the old Bunker 2 and its trenches for burning the corpses were put back into operation.”
In this way, the four “pyres” for the whole camp in the first declaration became five trenches located only in the yard of Crematorium V in the second statement!
Henryk Mandelbaum was deported to Auschwitz on April 23, 1944, and was registered as detainee No. 181970. Six weeks later, according to what he says, he was assigned to the so-called Sonderkommando. On February 27, 1945, he was questioned by the Soviet military prosecutor Major Kotikov. Mandelbaum stated that he had been sent to Crematorium V where the bodies of the gassed were burned on pyres. Asked by the Soviet prosecutor about the number of persons gassed and cremated daily in the crematorium in which he had worked, Mandelbaum replied:[32]
“Each shift worked for 12 hours and cremated 6000-7000 corpses.”
Hence, in Crematorium V alone, 12,000-14,000 corpses were burnt each day! When asked about the make-up of the pyres, the witness replied:[33]
“We laid down one layer of wood and one of corpses, for ten layers altogether. In total, we put about 150-180 corpses on one pyre. We lit the pyre with pinewood soaked with gasoline. For that purpose, we also used the bark stripped off the trees because it contained a lot of resin. We did that when we burned people from the camp, because they were very lean and burned poorly.”
Henryk Mandelbaum appeared as a witness during the fifth session of the Höss trial, where he declared:[34]
“At the time, burning was not done in the furnaces but on pyres, because there were mass transports that arrived, Hungarian transports during that period. We had to work two shifts of 12 hours, a day shift and a night shift, and the shifts changed every week; those who worked the night shift would work the day shift the week after, and vice versa. There was a narrow-gauge track, because the ground was loamy, which made it difficult to carry the dead.”
Later, Mandelbaum also testified during the trial of the camp garrison. At the eighth session of that trial, he declared the following:[35]
“The cremation, when I worked there, was done in trenches and on pyres. The pyres were made up in the following way: they were 30-35 meters long and some 15 meters wide. The preparations for the cremation of the gassed went like this: with carts came large amounts of wood in small chunks which were laid out in the trenches, then from the forest were brought fir branches, and on such a layer the bodies of the gassed were dumped. From the gas chamber to the trenches a narrow-gauge track was laid, by which the corpses were transported on flat cars to the trenches into which they were then thrown. When a certain number of corpses had been thrown in, they were doused with gasoline, and the pyre was lit at its four corners, and then, as the corpses burned, another layer of corpses and wood was added, so that the trenches burned continuously for 24-48 hours. After the cremation, the ashes were removed from the trenches and taken to the place where the crematorium was.”
According to the witness, ten layers of 150-180 corpses alternating with a layer of wood were placed into one cremation trench.[36] If we assume an average thickness of one meter for a layer of firewood plus a layer of corpses, this would have yielded a pyre ten meters high!
Stanisław Jankowski was deported to Auschwitz from the camp at Compiègne (France) on March 30, 1942, and was registered with the ID number 27675. According to his account, he was assigned to the so-called Sonderkommando in November 1942. During the interrogation by Jan Sehn on April 13, 1945, Stanisław Jankowski declared:[37]
“Some time in July of 1944, the first transport from Hungary arrived. […] At that time, an average of 18,000 Hungarians was murdered in Birkenau every day. From the transports that arrived for days on end, one after another, some 30% were picked out and housed in the camp. They were registered as series A and B. The remainder were gassed and burned in the furnaces of the crematoria. In cases where the required number had not been reached, they were shot and burned in trenches. The rule was that the gas chambers were used only for groups of 200 or more, because it was not worthwhile to operate them for smaller groups of people”
In an account secured by Franciszek Piper on August 28, 1985, Alter Fajnzylberg asserted:[38]
“The incineration trenches which had an enormous capacity were located west of the gas chambers of Crematorium V at a distance of some tens of meters. There were two trenches, and each one could accommodate some 2,000 corpses. The corpses were placed on a layer of wood, a layer of men and a layer of women at a time, because they burned better that way. The corpses of children were also burned there. The incineration trenches worked in parallel with the furnaces. Next to the trenches, run-off channels for the human fat had been dug, but I never saw that any fat flowed there – the corpses burned completely.”
The witness attached a drawing to his account (see Document 1) showing the position and the dimensions of the trenches – both were 20 meters long, 2 meters wide, and 2 meters deep. Jankowski’s statement will be addressed in more detail in Chapter 7.3. below.
Szlama Dragon was deported to Auschwitz from the Mława Ghetto on December 6, 1942, and was registered with the ID number 80359. He is said to have become part of the so-called Sonderkommando the day of his arrival. Questioned by Jan Sehn on May 10 and 11, 1945, he declared:[39]
“In early May of 1944, the transports of Hungarian Jews began to be gassed and burned in Crematorium V. The corpses of the gassed of some of the early transports were burned in the furnaces of Crematorium IV, because at the time the chimneys of Crematorium V were damaged. Finally, the corpses of the Hungarian Jews were cremated in trenches dug for this purpose next to the building of Crematorium V. There were five trenches excavated there, 25 meters long, 6 wide, and 3 deep. In these trenches, 5000 corpses were burned daily. But as there were more and more transports with Hungarian Jews that arrived, Bunker 2 was reactivated, and those people were gassed and burned there as well. I don’t know how many persons were burned each day at that Bunker because at that time, when they burned the Hungarian Jews, I was no longer working at Bunker 2 […]. On the basis of my observations, I would guess that during those two months some 300,000 Hungarian Jews were cremated in Crematorium V.”
Both Dragon and Mandelbaum claim to have worked on the incineration trenches at the same place and at the same time, but whereas for the former there were five trenches measuring 25 by 6 meters, for the latter there were only two and they were some 30-35 by 15 meters in size! Moreover, Dragon’s trenches, while having a total area of 750 square meters, had a capacity of 5,000 corpses per day, considerably more than Mandelbaum’s trenches with their 3,000-3,600 corpses in 24-48 hours and their minimum size of 900 square meters!
Sigismund Bendel was deported to Auschwitz from the camp at Drancy (France) on December 10, 1943, and received the ID number 167460. He claims that he became part of the Sonderkommando in June of 1944 and stayed there until January 18, 1945.
In a report published in 1946, he described the alleged incineration trenches near Crematorium V in the following way:[40]
“When I entered the Sonder,[41] the capacity of the furnaces was regarded as being insufficient, and they were replaced by three trenches, each one 12 meters long, 6 meters wide, and 1.5 meters deep. The output of those trenches was tremendous: one thousand persons per hour.”
We have here another testimony on the alleged trenches of Crematorium V which is at variance both with Mandelbaum’s and with Dragon’s statements.
The following year, Bendel asserted that the record of the cremations – 26,000 (and not 24,000 as maintained by Jan Sehn) – was reached on June 25, 1944,[42] a day on which there could not have been any Hungarian Jews to be burnt, because no transports left Hungary between June 21 and 24,[43] and the transports that left on June 25 took three days to arrive at Birkenau. The story of the 24,000 people gassed and burnt in a single day, with all its variants, was part and parcel of the propaganda baggage of the former Auschwitz detainees, and each one gave it a different date. The anonymous author of the “Report on the Auschwitz Camp,” for example, placed it on June 9, 1944.[44] The story had very arbitrary contours. For Jaacov Gabai, the self-styled member of the Sonderkommando, the figure of 24,000 gassed persons was a daily average (see Section 4.12). On the other hand, the detainee Kurt Marcus declared:[45]
“When the transports from Hungary began to arrive on May 16, 1944, the crematoria were insufficient, because up to 30,000 corpses had to be burnt in the first few days.”
Miklos Nyiszli arrived at Auschwitz on May 29, 1944 with a transport of Hungarian Jews and was registered as number A-8450. If we follow his declarations, he was selected in early June by Dr. Mengele as physician for the so-called Sonderkommando, with which he stayed until January of 1945. In 1946, his memoirs were published as a book with the title I Was an Anatomist for Dr. Mengele at the Crematorium of Auschwitz.[46] It was later translated into many languages.
Even though he claimed to have spent eight months with the so-called Sonderkommando, being completely free to move around among all the crematoria, Nyiszli mentions nothing of any incineration trenches in the yard of Crematorium V. Besides, according to his testimony, the so-called “Bunker 2” was not a gas chamber but merely an undressing room for the victims who were subsequently shot in the back of the neck by means of a small-caliber weapon. In this respect, he writes the following:[47]
“The pyre was located about five or six hundred yards from number four [= number V] crematorium, directly behind the little birch forest of Birkenau, in a clearing surrounded by pines. […] We set off in the direction of the thick twisting spiral of smoke. All those unfortunate enough to be brought here saw this column of smoke, which was visible from any point in the KZ, from the moment they first descended from the boxcars and lined up for selection. It was visible at every hour of the day and night. By day it covered the sky above Birkenau with a thick cloud; by night it lighted the area with hellish glow. […] Passing through the gate, we reached an open place which resembled a courtyard, in the middle of which stood a thatched-roof house whose plaster was peeling off. […] In any case, it was now used as an undressing room for those on their way to the pyre. It was here that they deposited their shabby clothes, their glasses, and their shoes. It was here that the ‘surplus’ from the ‘Jewish ramp’ was sent, that is, those for whom there was no room in the four crematoriums. The worst kind of death awaited them. Here there were no faucets to slake the thirst of several days’ voyage, no fallacious signs to allay their misgivings, no gas chamber which they could pretend was a disinfection room.”
Some 150 meters away from this house, according to Nyiszli, there were two incineration trenches which he describes like this:[48]
“The pyre was a ditch 50 yards long, six yards wide and three yards deep, a welter of burning bodies. […] Fifty yards farther on a scene similar in all respects was being enacted. [[49]…] When the two pyres were operating simultaneously, the output varied from five to six thousand dead a day. Slightly better than the crematoriums, but here death was a thousand times more terrible, for here one died twice, first by a bullet in the back of the neck, then by fire.”
Dov Paisikovic was deported to Auschwitz from the ghetto of Munkacs (Hungary) in May of 1944 and was assigned the ID number A-3076 on May 21, 1944.[50] After three days in the camp, he claims to have been incorporated into the so-called Sonderkommando, in which he stayed until January 18, 1945, the day the camp was evacuated. In a declaration made in 1963 on the subject of the so-called “Bunker 2” (which he called “Bunker V), the witness declared:[51]
“There was a pile of naked corpses; the corpses were bloated, and we were ordered to carry the corpses to a trench, some 6 meters wide and 30 meters long, in which corpses were already burning.”
On August 10, 1964, Dov Paisikovic drew up a long account, which was entrusted to Tadeusz Szymański, custodian of the Auschwitz Museum. The witness stated i.a.:[52]
“As we approached the trench that had been dug and which was some 30 meters long and 10 meters wide, we saw at the bottom of this trench chunks of wood. Near the trench I saw a new hole, recently dug, which was already aflame and into which we carried the corpses.”
Paisikovic continued at this job for two weeks, doing alternatingly day shifts and night shifts.[53] The witness attached four drawings of the alleged “Bunker 5” [= Bunker 2] to his account, one of which shows the position of the two “incineration trenches” (see Document 2). With respect to the northern yard of Crematorium V, Paisikovic relates a variant of the story of the incineration trenches:[54]
“There was a time when corpses were buried in a trench near Crematorium IV [= V], but after the end of the work in Bunker V [= Bunker 2] these corpses were unearthed from the trench near Crematorium IV [= V] and were cremated in the crematorium furnaces.”
Another variant of the story appears in the report by a “French student” – who had reached London by way of Auschwitz on April 17, 1945 – dated May 31, 1945. Under Items 41 and 42 we read the following:[55]
“In addition, large transports of Hungarian Jews arrived for extermination and these did not pass through the camp but were sent direct to the gas chambers. During July 44 they were being liquidated at the rate of 12,000 Hungarians daily (!) and as the crematories could not deal with such numbers, many bodies were thrown into large pits and covered with quicklime.”
Joshuah Rosenblum was deported to Auschwitz in March of 1944. After eight weeks in quarantine, he was assigned to the so-called Sonderkommando. In a declaration of 1970 he wrote:[56]
“I started working there on May 15, 1944, on Furnaces No. 3 and 4 to be exact. Up until that time – so I was told – the Polish Jews had been burned. Then it was the turn for transports from all over Europe.
Each furnace could absorb 800 corpses in 24 hours. But that was not enough. More mass graves were dug, each one 2 meters deep, 10 meters long and 5 meters wide, to burn people. […]
But when the large transports from Hungary and the Łódź Ghetto began arriving in May, and there were 10,000 people for each crematorium, they were gassed and then thrown into the graves, in which 2,000 people were burned within 2-3 hours.”
Filip Müller was deported to Auschwitz from Slovakia on April 13, 1942, and registered under ID number 29236. According to his account, he was initially assigned to the so-called Sonderkommando of Crematorium I at Auschwitz, from where he was moved to Birkenau when that camp’s crematoria went into operation. In his well-known book that appeared in 1979, the witness describes the alleged incineration trenches. With respect to the trenches in the yard of Crematorium V, he has this to say:[57]
“The two pits that had been dug had a length of 40 to 50 meters, were some 8 meters wide and 2 meters deep. […] In the rear yard of Crematorium V, Moll had another three incineration trenches dug so that now he had five available there.”
In addition to that, a concrete platform measuring 60 by 15 meters was set up in the yard of Crematorium V:[58]
“In order to quickly and inconspicuously remove the ashes from crematoria and the trenches, Moll had an area of some 60 m in length and 15 m wide next to the trenches close to the crematorium covered with concrete. Later on, the ashes from the trenches were pulverized on it by means of massive pounders.”
And this is how he describes the trenches in the area of “Bunker 2”:[59]
“Furthermore, the farmhouse to the west of Crematoria IV and V, which had been used as a place for annihilations in 1942, was put back into service under the designation of Bunker V. Next to the four rooms of the house, which served as gas chambers, four incineration trenches had been dug as well.”
According to this witness, 1,200 corpses were placed into the trenches in three layers of 400 corpses each:[60]
“Once these ‘work phases’ were repeated one more time, 1,200 bodies were finally lying on top of one another in three layers.”
On the question of the duration of the cremation, the witness asserts:[61]
“The cremation of the corpses had taken five to six hours.”
Josef Sackar arrived at Auschwitz on April 11, 1944, with a transport of Jews from Greece and was registered with the ID number 182739. He was interviewed by Gideon Greif in 1985 and related the following:[62]
“I remember the first day very well. We were in camp D, and one night they took us behind the last crematorium building where I saw the most horrible thing in my life. A small transport had arrived that evening. We did not have to work; they had taken us there just to get us used to the sight. There were excavated trenches called ‘Bunkers’ to burn the corpses. From the gas chambers they brought the corpses to these ‘Bunkers’, dumped them and burned them in the fire. […] The ‘Bunkers’ were being used again when I was there and the Hungarian Jews arrived; at that time there was no more room in the furnaces of the crematoria and the ‘Bunkers’ were activated once more. […] Yes, it was a large trench where the corpses were taken and dumped. The trenches were deep, and there was wood placed on the bottom. They brought the corpses here from the gas chambers and dumped them into the trenches. These trenches were all outside, in the open air. There were several trenches in which they burned the corpses.”
Saul Chasan came to Auschwitz with the Jewish transport from Greece on April 11, 1944, and was registered with the ID number 182527. In an interview given to Gideon Greif in May of 1987, he asserted the following on the subject of the so-called “Bunker 2”:[63]
“We had to bring out the corpses. There was this basin, a deep pit, called ‘Bunker.’ We had to arrange the corpses there, one next to the other, like sardines. Other workers chopped wood, and we loaded everything – wood, corpses, corpses, corpses until the whole pit had been filled. […] The pit was very deep, about four meters, I think.”
This detainee, too, came to Auschwitz with the transport from Greece on April 11, 1944. He received the ID number 182569. When interviewed by Gideon Greif, he stated:[64]
“24,000 Hungarian Jews had to be burned each day. […]
Since the end of April and throughout the month of May, several transports of Hungarian Jews came to Birkenau. There were so many people in these transports that the capacity of the crematoria could not absorb them. So they arranged pits, and were thus able to burn thousands more each day. My group of the Sonderkommando was working next to the ‘sauna building’ in the woods, opposite Crematorium III-IV. Pits were dug there to burn the corpses that the crematorium itself could not handle. These pits were called ‘Bunkers.’ I worked there for three days. From the gas chamber the corpses were taken to the Bunker and burned. The ‘Bunker’ was in the middle, among the trees, so one could not see what was going on there.”
Shlomo Venezia, another self-styled member of the Sonderkommando and latter-day witness, also came to Auschwitz with the Jewish transport from Greece on April 11, 1944, and was registered as detainee number 182727. According to him, he was assigned to the Sonderkommando in May. One day, he was sent to work in the “little farmhouse” (“Bunker 2”) where he witnessed a homicidal gassing. He related:[65]
“Ten minutes later, the door opposite the entrance was opened. The capo called us to take out the bodies. We had to push them into the fire in a kind of swimming pool some 15 meters away. I saw the flames and said to myself: look, that is hell.”
What kind of historical information can we gather from these testimonies? Let us see:
Depending on the witness, the incineration trenches numbered either 2, 3, 4, or 5; they were either 40-50, 30-35, 25, 20, or 12 meters long, 15, 8, 6, or 2 meters wide, and 1.5, 2, or 3 meters deep. Their capacity was either 150-180 corpses per trench in 24-48 hours, at least 400 corpses per trench in 48 hours, 1,000 corpses per hour (in one or three trenches), 1,000 corpses per trench in 24 hours, or 1,200 corpses per trench in 5 to 6 hours.
There were either 1, 2, or 4 trenches, 50 or 30 meters long, 10 or 6 meters wide, and 3 or 4 meters deep. According to M. Nyiszli, there were no incineration trenches near Crematorium V at all, and the so-called “Bunker 2” was not a gas chamber but an undressing room for victims who were then shot or burned alive. Moreover, for S. Chasan, J. Sackar, and J. Gabai the “Bunker” was not the little house with gas chambers, but an incineration trench. I have summarized the essential statements concerning the incineration trenches resulting from the testimonies in the table below.
Area of Crematorium V | |||||
Witness | Pits | Length | Width | Depth | Capacity |
Tauber/1 | 4 pyres | - | - | - | > 400 per pyre in 2 days |
Tauber/2 | 5 | - | - | - | - |
Mandelbaum | - | 30-35 m | 15 m | - | 1,500-1,800 per trench in 1-2 days |
Jankowski | 2 | 20 m | 2 m | 2 m | 2,000 per trench per ? |
Dragon | 5 | 25 m | 6 m | 3 m | 5,000 in 5 trenches per day |
Bendel | 3 | 12 m | 6 m | 1,5 m | 1,000 in 3 trenches per hour |
Müller | 5 | 40-50 m | 8 m | 2 m | 1,200 per trench in 5-6 hrs |
Area of “Bunker 2” | |||||
Witness | Pits | Length | Width | Depth | Capacity |
Nyiszli | 2 | 50 m | 6 m | 3 m | 5,000 in 2 trenches per day |
Paisikovic/1 | 2 | 30 m | 6 m | - | - |
Paisikovic/2 | 2 | 30 m | 10 m | - | - |
Müller | 4 | - | - | - | - |
Chasan | 1 | - | - | 4 m | - |
Venezia | 1 | - | - | - | - |
Area not indicated | |||||
Witness | Pits | Length | Width | Depth | Capacity |
Mordowicz-Rosin | - | 30 m | 15 m | - | - |
Rosenblum | - | 10 m | 5 m | 2 m | 2,000 in 2-3 hrs |
The vagueness of the judicial findings of trials where the incineration trenches of Auschwitz-Birkenau were a topic, derived as they were from contradictory testimonies, is inevitably imprinted from the very beginnings upon the incipient orthodox literature on Auschwitz. One of the first classics in this field – though well informed on most topics – limits itself to the following lines:[66]
“The gas chambers worked day and night. The crematorium chimneys belched not only smoke, but pillars of fire, three to four metres high.[67] It was not enough. Trenches were dug in the ground and temporary gas installations were put in, and the trenches were covered with tarpaulins. The cloakrooms and undressing stations were also inadequate, and an open-air undressing station had to be arranged. The crematoriums could not keep pace with it. So the Germans dug trenches and burned the corpses on wood pyres.”
The story of the “gassing trenches,” later abandoned by orthodox historiography, enjoyed a certain popularity in the immediate post-war years among the Auschwitz detainees. Otto Wolken proposes this version:[68]
“Trenches were dug and covered with tarpaulins, they served as temporary gas chambers; besides, two gigantic pits were dug to burn the corpses in the open air.”
In 1949, Bruno Baum, a member of the underground resistance movement at Auschwitz which, he claimed, also had contacts in the so-called Sonderkommando of the crematoria, wrote:[69]
“In the summer of 1944, that Kommando had grown to nearly 1,200 men, who were implementing the so-called “Aktion Hoess.” It was a matter of gassing three quarters of a million Hungarian Jews [sic!] within a short time; only 80,000 of the physically fittest came into the camp or were sent to other parts of Germany for work. On those days, the capacity of the crematoria was insufficient, and gigantic pits were dug in which pyres were arranged to burn thousands of corpses, piled one on top of the other.”
In their classic work on Auschwitz, Ota Kraus and Erich Kulka were rather terse on the subject of incineration trenches:[70]
“When the furnaces were insufficient – which happened frequently – thousands of dead bodies were burned on pyres. The corpses of the people killed were thrown into the yard, the chambers were cleaned out, and while the bodies were dragged from the yard to the pyres, the gassing went on.”
In his history of the Auschwitz camp, based in large part on his previously mentioned article of 1946, Jan Sehn wrote:[71]
“From May to August 1944, when there were arriving mass drafts [sic] of Hungarian Jews and French resistance fighters, so many people were being hastily gassed (because of developments in the situation on the eastern front) that crematoria could not burn all the bodies. So six huge pits were dug near Crematorium V, the old pits near bunkers 1 and 2 were reopened, and bodies were burnt in them unceasingly. With all these installations in full operation, a cremation figure of twenty-four thousand bodies a day was reached in August 1944.”
The curious thing here is that, as we have seen in the preceding chapter, the number of incineration trenches which Jan Sehn assigns to the area of Crematorium V – six trenches – is not found in any of the testimonies!
The mention of the “French resistance fighters” allegedly gassed in great numbers at Auschwitz is worth a closer look. In the immediate post-war years, this story was widespread among the detainees and was reported i.a. by H. Tauber and H. Mandelbaum. In 1946, Filip Friedman summarized it as follows:[72]
“At the end of the summer of 1944, after the Allied invasion of France, ‘terrorists,’ which means members of the Resistance Movement, were brought from France. Their number is estimated at about 670,000. I feel that both these figures are exaggerated, but there are no other statistics available.”
Actually, besides Jews, Gypsies, Poles, and Soviet prisoners of war, about 25,000 persons of other nationalities were deported to Auschwitz (Byelorussians, Russians, Ukrainians, Lithuanians, Czechs, Yugoslavs, Germans, Austrians, Italians, and Frenchmen). The number of non-Jewish French deportees is documented as being 654![73] According to the reports from the underground resistance movement of the camp,[74] there were 674 French detainees in the Auschwitz camp complex on August 21, 1944, which confirms the order of magnitude of the above documentary data. By the end of the 1970s the legend of the mass extermination of French insurgents had vanished.
In 1974, the Auschwitz Museum published a book which contained as an appendix a plan of the Birkenau camp indicating the sites of the alleged open-air cremations.[75] As far as the area of Crematorium V is concerned, the authors – not knowing where to locate the alleged incineration trenches – simply indicated a large continuous swath of land to the north, east, and west of the crematorium for the cremations (as no. 12). Furthermore, they designated as “No. 10” an “area in which the ashes from Crematorium IV were buried” and as “No. 13” the “pond where the ashes from Crematoria IV and V were put.” They do not say where the ashes from the alleged incineration trenches ended up.
In the German 1997 edition of the same book we have a plan of Birkenau with the legend “Installations and locations of mass extermination in KZ Auschwitz II (Birkenau),” but the open-air cremation sites are no longer indicated.[76]
In 1978, in one of the first books claiming to give a general history of the camp, Franciszek Piper of the Auschwitz Museum writes:[77]
“Henceforth bodies were burned in the open only when there was an influx of particularly large transports and the crematoria were unable to keep pace with the work of extermination. In view of the unlimited capacity of the burning pits, the number of bodies cremated depended in principle on the numerousness of the transports and the capacity of the gas chambers, which was theoretically estimated at 60,000 over a period of 24 hours, taking account of gassing time and the time needed to remove the bodies. The highest daily number of gassed and cremated actually achieved – in 1944 during the extermination of the Hungarian Jews – was 24,000. At that time Bunker 2 was reactivated, the old burning pits reopened, an additional five large pits were dug around Crematorium V, and the railway onto which the transports were shunted was extended right up to [the] crematoria themselves.”
Even more generally, the authoritative encyclopedic guide on the German concentration camps on Polish territory, drawn up by Central Commission of Investigation into the Hitlerian Crimes in Poland, states the following on the topic in question:[78]
“Because the crematoria could not cope with the cremation of corpses, these were also burnt near the little wood on pyres and in trenches. In this way, the figure of 20,000 bodies cremated within a day was exceeded in the summer of 1944.”
In 1979, Danuta Czech, the well-known author of the Auschwitz Kalendarium, wrote:[79]
“In order to master this situation, in May of 1944, during the mass liquidation of the Hungarian Jews, five pits were excavated next to Crematorium V, destined for incinerations of bodies in the open air. At the same time, Bunker II was ordered to be put into service again. The pits near it, which had been used for incinerations once before, were reopened. Under conditions of full load at all cremation installations, crematoria and pits, the Fascists reached a daily throughput of 24,000 corpses in 1944. […] In mid-1944, 1,000 Jewish detainees were working at the four crematoria with [their] 8 cremation pits.”
However, in her most detailed Kalendarium on Auschwitz, Danuta Czech limits herself to some vague references to the incineration trenches. She mentions a single “pit near the crematorium” – presumably Crematorium V – in connection with the alleged gassing of the Gypsies on August 2, 1944,[80] and the filling in of the trenches for August 30,[81] without giving any information as to when and where the trenches had been dug, how many there were or what sizes they had.
According to D. Czech, the four crematoria had a combined capacity of 8,000 corpses in 24 hours.[82] It follows, therefore, that the capacity of the incineration trenches was 16,000 corpses per day!
In 1980, another world expert on Auschwitz, Hermann Langbein, wrote in connection with the alleged extermination of the Hungarian Jews at Auschwitz:[83]
“The capacity of the gas chambers was enough to quickly kill large numbers of people who were ‘no longer fit for work,’ but the crematoria were not big enough to burn them all immediately. Therefore, graves were dug near the crematoria, and in them the bodies were burned.”
H. Langbein was just as evasive and vague in his classic work on Auschwitz:[84]
“As in the early days, pyres were again built in the open air next to the crematoria [sic, plural] in order to burn the corpses; the capacity of the crematoria was insufficient.”
In his second work on Auschwitz, published in 1993, Jean-Claude Pressac asserted – on the basis of data from the Auschwitz Museum and of air photos taken on May 31 and June 26, 1944 (see Documents 18 & 31) – that three incineration trenches existed in the area of Crematorium V of Birkenau, and two more in the area of the so-called “Bunker 2,” one of 30, the other of 20 square meters.[85] But, as we shall see in Chapter 10, these claims are not backed up by reality.
In the magnum opus in five volumes edited by the Auschwitz Museum in 1995, Franciszek Piper devoted only a total of three lines to the matter of the incineration trenches:[86]
“In May 1944, during the killing of the Hungarian Jews, it was put back in operation. Several new burning pits[87] were dug and a new barracks for undressing constructed at that time. Bunker 2 functioned until the autumn of 1944. It was demolished in November after the cessation of killing by gas. The ashes were removed from pits and the whole site was leveled.”
Robert Jan van Pelt, who is presently considered to be the world expert on Auschwitz by orthodox historiography, has provided no particulars on the incineration trenches in his well-known work of over 500 pages about the camp, giving neither the number, nor the dimensions, nor the location. Considering the fundamental importance of the incineration trenches in the assessment of the alleged extermination of Jews in spring and summer of 1944, this omission by van Pelt is serious and unacceptable.
Hence, the knowledge of orthodox historiography about the Birkenau incineration trenches, already vague and inconsistent in the early post-war years, has become even more elusive and uncertain with the passage of time, in spite of the historiographical progress for the history of the camp.
The anti-revisionist U.S.-American author John C. Zimmerman has undertaken to fill this enormous gap in orthodox historiography by trying to prove the presence of three incineration trenches in the area of the so-called “Bunker 2” and another three in the northern yard of Crematorium V. We shall examine later as to whether he succeeded with this task (see Chapter 8).
In the first months of 1943, the Topf Co. was planning two installations of mass cremations for Auschwitz-Birkenau. A letter from the head of the Zentralbauleitung (Central Construction Office) of Auschwitz, SS-Sturmbannführer Bischoff, to the camp commander, SS-Obersturmbannführer Höss, dated February 12, 1943, mentions “the project of a 6th crematorium (an open incineration chamber measuring 48.75 by 3.76 meters,” also called “open incineration site”).[89] The project of Crematorium VI was based on the principle of a field furnace (Feldofen) devised by Friedrich Siemens.[90] By separating the individual hearths as in that project, Crematorium VI would have had 60 hearths, in which some 150 corpses could have been cremated simultaneously.
A letter from the Topf firm to the Central Construction Office at Auschwitz, dated February 5, 1943, mentions a “cost estimate for the large circular incineration furnace,”[91] which certainly was the “Crematorium furnace for corpses operating continuously, for mass application” devised by the Topf engineer Fritz Sander, for which he had filed a patent application on October 26, 1942, which he revised on November 4, 1942.[92] This project had, in fact, a cylindrical combustion chamber with an annular section.
Another project of a device for mass cremations appears in “Cost estimate of Topf Co. for a cremation furnace” dated April 1st, 1943, of which R. Schnabel shows only the last page.[93] The object of this cost estimate was a real and true crematorium furnace, even though of a special design. The presence of a flue shutter (Rauchkanalschieber) is proof for this. This cost estimate probably referred to the furnace devised by Fritz Sander, which also had a single flue duct.
The devices just mentioned were never built, no doubt because the conditions had changed in the months that followed. In January of 1943 the Birkenau crematoria had not yet gone into service; at the end of March Crematoria II and IV were operational, with Crematorium V following in early April. The cost estimate of April 1st, 1943, certainly responded to a request from the Central Construction Office uttered some weeks before when the sanitary conditions in the camp had still been disastrous because of a renewed outbreak of typhus, which had erupted the year before, and in consequence of which the death books (Sterbebücher) registered over 7,300 deaths among the detainees between March 2nd and April 1st.[94] From April onwards, the mortality declined considerably, which was probably the reason why the Central Construction Office abandoned this project. This explanation is reasonable and in conformity with the facts and the documents.
Let us now look at the significance of these projects within the framework of the hypothesis of the reality of the alleged mass extermination.
According to the Auschwitz Kalendarium, open-air cremations at Birkenau began on September 21, 1942. Under that date, Danuta Czech writes:[95]
“At Birkenau, corpses begin to be burnt in the open air. Initially the corpses are burnt on piles of wood loaded each with some 2,000 bodies, later in trenches, with the unearthed corpses. To speed up the combustion, the bodies are doused at first with waste oil, later with methanol. In the trenches, combustion goes on uninterruptedly, day and night.”
By the end of this phase, on December 3rd, 1942, a total of 107,000 corpses[96] are claimed to have been cremated. Hence, over 75 consecutive days on average 1,426 corpses would have been cremated each day without any problems.
In December of 1942, the number of gassed, per the Kalendarium, amounted to some 16,800, but in January of 1943, some 45,700 people were allegedly gassed – the highest figure for the year – yielding an average of about 1,474 corpses per day, some 48 more than the figure for the period of September 21 through December 3, 1942. This rate of cremations, too, seems to have been carried out without the least difficulty.
Now, all of a sudden, at the end of January of 1943, the Central Construction Office begins seriously to look into the possibility of building mass-incineration units: what was the reason, seeing that they had already managed to burn 107,000 corpses in the open air without any problems and in view of the fact that the number of allegedly gassed and cremated persons for the month of February was less than half the load for January (about 18,700)?
As we will see in detail further on, some 134,300 Hungarian Jews are said to have been gassed and cremated in the period of May 17 through 31, 1944; an average of 8,950 per day, of which 1,100 could have been cremated in the crematoria, so that the remaining 7,850 had to be cremated in trenches.
However, for such an enormous cremation, which the Birkenau crematoria could not possibly have handled, the camp administration and the Central Construction Office did not in the least consider those mass cremation projects of early 1943. Jan Sehn must have considered this fact to be so absurd that he felt obliged – in an act of blatant fraud – to move the projects of early 1943 into the summer of 1944. He wrote:[97]
“The method of burning a large number of bodies in open pits, as used in August 1944, proved to be quickest and most economical. Thus the crematoria stopped working and only the pits were used. The sixth crematorium, as included in the plans for extending the camp, was to be based on the principle of burning corpses in open pits. In the correspondence with Topf’s, reference is made to ‘large ring incineration oven,’ ‘open combustion chamber,’ and ‘open combustion site.’ The crematorium was to be a reheating furnace which would couple the enormous capacity of pits with the economy of crematoria ovens fitted with rational hearths. That enabled the wood piles used in pits to be replaced with a small quantity of coke or coal.”
This deception was later taken up and endorsed even by Franciszek Piper, who strengthened it, saying:[98]
“The project was brought up again in 1944 in connection with Eichmann’s forecasts of new transports due to arrive in late 1944 and early 1945. According to Höss’ testimony, work on the construction of large crematoria was about to begin. He described them as projected to be built ‘in the shape of a huge brickworks with a ring furnace’.”
This confirms, once again, the lack of foundation for the orthodox thesis. The projects for installations of mass cremation concerned exclusively the corpses of the registered detainees who had died of natural causes. They were discussed in late January and early February of 1943 because of an upswing in the mortality of the registered detainees and because the Central Construction Office knew it would not be able to meet the new completion date for Crematorium II, February 15, 1943.[99]
As Crematoria II and IV went into operation and the death rate among the detainees decreased in April, the realization of those projects became superfluous and was therefore abandoned.
There is no doubt that open-air incinerations of corpses were carried out at Birkenau in the summer of 1944. What has to be examined is the reason for them and, above all, their extent.
On June 28, 1944, a ministerial delegation made up of seven members inspected the Auschwitz camp. One member of this delegation, Ministerialrat Müller, later drew up a “travel report,” in which we can read:[100]
“The final item on the agenda for the tour of the camp was a large dog kennel where several hundred dogs were trained for police and Wehrmacht purposes [and] for the hunt in SS riding schools. On the way back to the camp we passed a crematorium where apparently pyres were also used for the incineration of corpses.”
The register of the WL (Werkstattleitung = workshop management) Schlosserei (locksmith workshop) contains i.a. all work orders relative to the crematoria coming from the Central Construction Office at Auschwitz. In the preparatory phase of the trial of Rudolf Höss, these documents were assiduously compiled in a list dated July 24, 1945. In this list we also find the following orders for tools which were used in connection with open-air incinerations:[101]
“June 1, 1944. [order] no. 1600. Crematory administration. Object: Repair of 30 furnace doors of Crematoria III and IV, as well as manufacture of 4 pcs. fire-hooks. Cartwright-shop: make 4 pcs. poles for fire-hooks, 8 m long. Order slip of SS garrison administration no. 336/O Dept. VU of May 26, 1944. Urgent! In charge: Zając. Finished: June 7, 1944. […]
June 19, 1944. [order] no. 1645. Crematory administration. Object: 4 sieves for sifting ash, in the form of sieves for sand. Order slip SS garrison administration of June 7, 1944. In charge: Dunikowski. Finished: June 26, 1944. […]
June 28, 1944. [order] no. 1719. Crematory administration. Object: 4 pcs. sieves in the shape of sieves for sand as previously supplied under Com. 1685. Order [slip] SS garrison administration no. 349/3 of July 14, 1944. In charge: Dunikowski. Finished: Aug. 5, 1944.”
The “fire-hooks” were pokers with a hook for arranging the corpses and stoking the fire in open-air cremations. The “sieves” on the other hand were probably used for sifting the ash for gold teeth. What is of importance here is the number of pieces – 4 fire hooks and 8 sieves, 12 tools altogether. This number is absolutely not in keeping with the orthodox thesis of mass cremations in the open air of thousands of corpses per day.
It is known that in the crematoria there existed a “Häftlingszahnstation des K.L. Auschwitz” (detainee dental station of Concentration Camp Auschwitz), which was responsible for removing the gold teeth from the mouths of corpses prior to incineration. For each corpse, a report was written for “the political department of Concentration Camp Auschwitz,” which contained the ID number of the detainee, the number and the metal (amalgam, gold) of the extracted teeth.[102] According to the orthodox history, gold teeth were also extracted from the corpses of the allegedly gassed prior to incineration, and the order for “sieves” would thus seem to be unexplainable no matter whether the ashes belonged to registered detainees who had died of “natural” causes or if they came from corpses of persons allegedly gassed. There is, however, an explanation: the ashes belonged to detainees who had died of “natural” causes and were taken directly from the Birkenau camp mortuaries to the pyres without passing through the mortuaries of the crematoria.
In the archives of the Auschwitz Museum numerous reports exist indicating that between May 16 and December 10, 1942, 16,325 gold teeth were removed from 2,904 corpses. The lowest ID number is 40 for a man and 16 for a woman. The highest ID number is 78,947 for a male and 7,425 for a female detainee. Besides the reports mentioned, there is a series of cards which do not give the name of the detainee but only the respective ID number.[103] During the period in question, a total of over 37,000 registered detainees died in the camp, while 122,000 more were killed in gas chambers, if we follow the orthodox narrative. However, there is not a single report card mentioning extraction of teeth from an unregistered detainee. The indications in the orthodox literature stem from mere assertions of self-styled witnesses and have no material or documentary backing.
In the Auschwitz literature one can read on occasion that the “sieves” were used to separate wood and bone fragments of the corpses from the ash, which were then broken up with pounders. But even if this explanation were true, the number of “sieves” mentioned would be completely out of proportion with the daily load of ash that would have come from the incineration of allegedly gassed corpses (see Section 9.6).
Because orthodox historiography asserts that at Birkenau the corpses of allegedly gassed victims were cremated in great numbers in pits, it is important to look into the question of the groundwater level at Birkenau. I have already dealt with this question in a specific article (see Part Three of the present study), which I will supplement here with further remarks.
The Central Construction Office Plan No. 2534/2 of June 15, 1943, concerning “temporary basins” at BAIII shows that the groundwater level stood at 232.51 meters, the surface of the ground was at 233.71 meters, and the bottom of the decantation basins at 231.01 meters.[104] Thus the groundwater level was at 1.20 meters below ground and the settling pools had a depth of 2.70 meters.
The Königsgraben – the main drainage ditch of Sectors BI and BII at Birkenau – flowed into the Vistula River in an area where the river forms a double loop. To be precise, the ditch flowed into the first loop, the one to the south. This loop embraces a little stretch of river bank situated at a level of 232.8 meters; a point on the river bank of the second loop – some 500 meters further north as the crow flies – stands at about the 233 m level,[105] hence the river stood practically at the same level as the groundwater at Birkenau. The south-west corner of Sector BI of Birkenau, where the Königsgraben left the camp, is at the 235.17 m[106] level. On the other hand, the northern area of the Birkenau camp is slightly lower than the southern portion.
The point where “Strasse B” (the road which divided Sectors BII and BIII) crosses the fence (to continue towards Crematoria IV and V, some 200 m further along) is at the 234.26 m level. The area of these crematoria was lower still, because the little pond (see Document 17), which was used as a fire-fighting reserve in the birch wood east of Crematorium IV, is nothing but an outcropping of the groundwater, and the water was only a little less than one meter below the surrounding area.[107] The entire Sector BIII was in a similar state, if not worse, as emerges from a telex sent by Jothann on June 2nd, 1944. The head of the Central Construction Office had refused permission to occupy 14 barracks located in Sector BIII of Birkenau, explaining:[108]
“Barracks are only partly roofed, area is swampy and not leveled in any way. A contamination of the groundwater and the formation of further sources of disease is feared.”
In conclusion, as far as the groundwater level is concerned, the situation around Crematoria IV and V was practically the same as that near the waste-water plant in Sector BIII, i.e. the groundwater level stood some 1.2 meters below ground.
The Auschwitz Museum is in possession of two photographs which are said to show a scene of outdoor cremation.[109] Photograph 278, the clearer one, was shown at the Höss trial as Attachment 33 of the expert report prepared by Roman Dawidowski on September 26, 1946, on the alleged extermination installations.[110]
Before we examine this photograph, we should look at its origin. It is necessary to state at the outset that the reproductions of this photograph as they normally appear in publications are cropped. The full-size originals, as they have been reproduced by Jean-Claude Pressac,[111] were taken through the open door of a ground-floor room.
The origin of this photograph – and of two others which we shall discuss later – is described in the following way in a secret message by a member of the camp resistance movement who signed “Stakło” (Stanisław Kłodziński), dated September 4, 1944:[112]
“Send us soonest two rolls of film with metal spool for cameras 6 by 9 [cm].
We have sent you photographs of Birkenau – of the gassing action. One photograph shows one of the pyres[113] in the open air on which corpses are burnt when the crematorium is not able to cope with the cremations. In front of the pyres lie corpses which wait to be thrown on the pyre. Another photograph shows a place in the woods where people undress, supposedly for a bath, and then go into the gas. Send us a roll ASAP. Send you the attached photographs to report soonest. We think we can send you enlargements later.”
This message does not contain any information on the identity of the person who took the pictures but indicates clearly that they were developed and printed within the camp. According to Jan Sehn, the man behind the camera was the detainee David Szmulewski.[114] Yuri Suhl has written about the alleged “mission” of this detainee, a self-styled member of the underground resistance movement in the camp who is claimed to have been able to penetrate into the area of the crematoria with the excuse of repairing a roof in order to take those photographs.[115] There is no independent proof of this very general account. Szmulewski did not even say from where he shot the pictures. Furthermore, even though he was a Polish Jew, Szmulewski did not testify during the Höss trial or in the trial of the camp garrison. According to a later version, however, which was proposed by Henryk Świebocki, a researcher at the Auschwitz Museum, the photographs mentioned were not taken by Szmulewski but by a Greek detainee named Alex:[116]
“The Jews who participated in the production of the photographs were part of the detainees in the Sonderkommando assigned to this crematorium. In particular, the detainee Alex from Greece (the last name of this detainee is not known), as well as Szlojme (Szlama) Dragon, his brother Abram Dragon, and Alter Fajnzylber from Poland were involved. Indirectly, Dawid Szmulewski, already mentioned in the preceding chapter as being involved in the conspiracy, who was working as clerk in a barrack of the men’s camp at Birkenau (BIId), was also involved in this undertaking.”
In a long note, Świebocki adds:[117]
“Dawid Szmulewski had secretly handed the camera to the members of the Sonderkommando mentioned in the text, and received the film from them once the shots had been taken. […] In some publications, Dawid Szmulewski himself is reported to have been the author of the photographs […]. This is not true in all respects. Dawid Szmulewski cannot have taken those pictures himself; he was merely part of the undertaking, as was exposed hereinabove. When Dawid Szmulewski came to Poland after the war, persons from the staff of the Auschwitz National Museum tried several times to clarify with Dawid Szmulewski the question of authorship; they did, however, not succeed in doing so.”
The Szmulewski report published by Y. Suhl is therefore incorrect, and that explains why he always evaded a direct confrontation with the staff of the Auschwitz Museum.
Hence, the story of his “mission” is completely unsustainable, and the author of the photographs remains unknown, because nothing is known about this mysterious “Alex.” There is no doubt, however, that the images stem from the underground resistance movement at Auschwitz and were developed and printed in the camp.
Jean-Claude Pressac affirms that the Photographs 277 and 278 (see Documents 4f.) were taken from the inside of the “northern gas chamber” of Crematorium V, looking north-west.[118] Leaving aside the reference to the “gas chamber,” Pressac’s localization is no doubt correct. The wooded background of the two photographs is compatible with the wooded area of the zone beyond the northern enclosure near Crematorium V, called “Fence 35” (Zaun 35),[119] as is the distance between the enclosure and the camera. Another element compatible with the area mentioned is the concrete post visible on the left side of Photograph 278 behind the enclosure between two supporting pillars of the fence (see Document 6). A Polish photograph of 1945 shows, in fact, a row of posts lined up behind Fence 35 (see Document 10). A site visit I did in 1991 has confirmed the presence of those posts (see Document 11).
Finally, in both of the uncropped photographs one can see (top left) the rectangular outline of one of the wooden beams which supported the roof above the entrance. They appear in the foreground in the Polish photograph taken of the ruins of Crematorium V in 1945.[120]
The only element on hand for the dating of the photographs is the date of the secret message mentioned earlier: September 4, 1944. Taking into account the time needed for developing and printing and the fact that the incineration trenches were filled in on August 30, 1944 – according to the camp resistance movement that sent the photographs to the outside – one may assume that the pictures were taken some time in the last ten days of August of 1944.
In order to establish the orientation of the photographs, I proceeded as follows. The concrete posts mentioned above are 90 cm high, they stand behind each post of Fence 35 at a distance of about 115 centimeters. However, the post visible on Photograph 278 is apparently located in the center between two posts of the fence. At the time of my visit, the area was thickly covered with vegetation. I placed myself to the south of the fence near Crematorium II (Fence 26) which is parallel to Fence 35, and I moved until the post behind one of the posts appeared in the center between two posts. From that point I established, by means of a compass, the bearing as being 310°.
When projecting an appropriately resized Plan 2036(p) of the camp onto the air photo taken on May 31, 1944 (cf. Chapter 10), and when taking into consideration the bearing just established, then the crematorium door through which the photographs were taken was some 35 meters away from the fence at the point where the post is visible. Photograph 277 shows, on the left, four posts of Fence 35, which are 3.30 meters apart on the ground. Taking into account the increasing distance between the posts when moving from left to right, it can be stated that on the right-hand side of the photograph, hidden by smoke, there were three more posts plus about one meter of fence.
On the extreme left a post is slightly outside the field of view, therefore that stretch of fence can be taken to be some 3 meters. Hence, the field of view at the level of the enclosure can be taken to correspond to the distance between 7 posts plus some 4 meters or about 24 meters. Compared to No. 278, this photograph has a field of view more extended to the left (west) by 2 posts or (with the corresponding fence wires) about 8 meters.
The bearing of the left edge of the fence from the camera is about 305° in Photograph 277, and its distance, as measured on the air photo, is about 42 meters from it. About 75% of the field of view of Photograph 278 can be superimposed on that of Photograph 277. The area to the right (east) covered by the smoke contains another two posts of the enclosure, or, in practical terms, another 7 meters of fence. Hence, the field of view of both photographs together, projected on the enclosure, is roughly 31 meters.
The width of the foreground scene on Photograph 278 is about 9 meters, which means that the front line of the foreground, on the basis of the corresponding triangulation, was parallel to the outside wall of the crematorium and about 8 meters away from it. The distance between this wall and Fence 35 was about 24 meters, but in front of that enclosure there was a drainage ditch whose internal edge was about 6 meters inside the enclosure. The smoking area and the corpses in front of it thus had a depth of some 10 meters up to the edge of the ditch.
I shall come back to this matter in Section 10.2.
Let us now consider the order of magnitude of what is on the photographs.
Number 277 shows in the foreground a space of some nine meters in length. Some 4 meters at the left are free of smoke. In that area five persons in civilian clothes can be seen as well as a number of objects on the ground. Three of the persons are doing something with those objects. On the extreme left there is a somewhat blurred figure of what could be a guard with a gun strapped over his shoulder. In this area there is no smoke, hence this is the limit of the smoking zone.
Photograph 278 shows, likewise, a foreground space of some nine meters in length, although here the smoke stretches over some seven meters. Compared to the former photo, the field of view extends by about two meters towards the right, i.e. to the east. In this photograph, eight human figures can be seen in civilian clothes standing around. At the extreme left we have the leg of a ninth figure, perhaps the guard shown on Photograph 277. Since the two pictures overlap by about 75% and were taken within a short period of time, the persons shown are probably mostly the same one. If that hypothesis is correct, then both photographs show eight persons involved in a cremation of corpses – if those photographs show a cremation in the first place.
The author of the two photographs no doubt wanted to illustrate the “atrocity” of the SS, and we may assume that he chose the sight that he thought to be the most atrocious – or something that the recipients of the pictures would have considered to be most atrocious. If, therefore, to the right of the field of vision of the first photograph there had been an even more-atrocious scene, the detainee behind the camera could not have missed out on it. From where he was, all it would have taken was for him to move half a step to the left instead of half a step to the right. The fact that, instead, he chose to have the two images overlap on the left, wasting four meters of “atrocity” (the four meters without smoke), signified that on the right there was nothing particularly “atrocious.” It signified that the smoke began on the right hand side of the first photograph. Hence, the smoking area had a length of about seven to eight meters.
As we will see in Chapter 10, the air photo of August 23, 1944, confirms fully the validity of this interpretation.
As for as the number of objects on the ground – presumably corpses – it is impossible to count them, because their contours are very blurred, but on the extreme left of Photograph 278 the layer of corpses starts with three bodies, and there are about ten bodies in the foreground, so that we would have a total of about 30 to 40 bodies.
Whose bodies are we dealing with here? The enlargement of Photograph 278 shows bodies with anatomically contorted proportions, such as the one shown in Document 7 or the hairdo without a face of Document 8. Most of the bodies are surrealistically twisted and indistinct – a strange contrast with respect not only to the man in the center of Photograph 278 (see Document 9), whose baldness is clearly distinguishable, but also with respect to the enclosure, of which we can see the electrical insulators and even the wires, although it ran some 16 meters behind the corpses. In Photograph 277, the corpses form a shapeless heap, quite different from the relatively well defined shapes of the people standing.
There is therefore no doubt that the two photographs have been grossly retouched. Everything leads one to believe that this was done by the underground resistance movement of the camp which, as we have seen, developed and printed the photographs.
According to the orthodox history, the corpses shown in the two photographs belong, for reasons of chronology, to the Jews who were deported to Auschwitz from the Łódź ghetto from August 15, 1944, onwards. This question will be treated in greater detail in Section 10.3.
So what do we really see on these images – I deliberately avoid the term “photographs”?
An area with some 7-8 meters wide
Eight men involved in the cremation
Some 30-40 corpses ready to be burned.
This view does not actually fit in with a mass cremation of more than a thousand corpses (1,200 according to Filip Müller’s system) of allegedly gassed victims, but agrees perfectly well with the cremation of a few dozen corpses of detainees who died in the camp.
According to H. Tauber, the personnel of Crematorium IV, at the time, consisted of 60 detainees, that of Crematorium V of 300 detainees,[121] therefore 240 detainees would have worked on the alleged incineration trenches. But only eight of them can be seen on those two photographs!
As we have already noted, Stanisław Kłodziński added to his message of September 4, 1944, a further photograph showing
“a place in the woods where people undressed supposedly to go to take a bath and then went into the gas.”
The photograph in question (see Document 12) is the one corresponding to Negative 282 of the Auschwitz Museum.[122] It was likewise attached by R. Dawidowski to his report of September 26, 1946.[123] In 1961, Jan Sehn published it with the following caption:[124]
“Naked victims proceeding to gas chambers. Photograph taken surreptitiously in August 1944, by inmate David Szmulewski, member of the resistance movement.”
The authorship of Dawid Szmulewski for this photograph was soon repudiated. In 1979, it appeared in an album of photographs published by the Auschwitz Museum with this caption:[125]
“Birkenau. Women driven to the gas chambers. Photographed from hiding by a member of the camp resistance movement. The photo was illegally sent to Kraków (Unknown author, 1944).”
Jean-Claude Pressac analyzed this photograph and asserted that it had been retouched. He mentions two further versions, besides the original, in which facial features had been added to the three women in the foreground whereas in the original they had been indistinct, and their bodies, originally of old women and hence unfit for work, had been altered to show young women, fit for work, thus yielding an “embarrassing contradiction,” which had escaped the retoucher. Pressac added:[126]
“What is more, contrary to popular belief, the women are not ‘running towards the gas chambers’, but are waiting to enter them. The two on the left are taking a few steps and the one on the right is walking normally. The location of the scene makes it possible to state that the western part of Krematorium V, containing the gas chambers, is behind them, not in front.”
Pressac supposes that the photograph was taken near the south-east corner of the crematorium, looking south-west from a point north-east.[127]
Let us look, first of all, into the location of the scene. Pressac’s hypothesis is clearly wrong, because the sun is in front of the women and also very high above the horizon, as can be deduced from the fact that the shadow of the alleged victims’ heads is projected on their trunks near the neck. Also, the sun illuminates the right side of the faces only partly. Hence, the picture was taken around noon and looking north-west from the south-east. The original photograph has a slightly larger field of view than the one normally shown,[128] and in it, in the lower right-hand corner, one of the chimneys of Crematorium V appears behind a tree. That it is Crematorium V and not Crematorium IV is beyond doubt, because otherwise the photograph would have to have been taken in the opposite direction, from north-west towards south-east.
An analysis of the contents of the photograph furnishes us with further elements for a localization. We see about 15 persons, and at least three men dressed like the ones who appear in the photographs we have just examined. In the foreground, there are four naked women, three grouped on the left and a single one on the right. The picture is sufficiently clear, showing young faces and bodies.
The alterations of which Pressac has spoken do exist, but in a sense contrary to his interpretation: for the very reason that the original showed faces and bodies of young women – hence fit for work – the “retoucher” has clumsily tried, in line with the orthodox credo, to make them look like those belonging to old women, unfit for work and hence destined to be gassed! This falsification is particularly evident in the picture published by Jan Sehn (see Document 16).
Why are these young women naked in the vicinity of Crematoria IV and V? The answer is in the picture itself. It shows, in fact, in the center two large tubs into which two persons, from the rear, are pouring water from two vessels, and from which water runs over (see Document 13). A little further to the right, a hand holds a vessel (see Document 14) similar to the one held by the old man in the foreground in the photograph contained in the Auschwitz Album mentioned above.[129] Moreover, the man on the right holds a large cylindrical bucket from which water pours out (see Document 15). The scene, shot in August of 1944, therefore contains many elements of a real outdoor bath and no signs of an imminent gassing. The young women were close to the fire-fighting pond located to the east of Crematorium IV, and the picture was taken from the south-east to the north-west with a bearing of about 330 degrees.
Why this outdoor bath? As the presence of the tubs and the pails show, it was an organized affair, probably a makeshift bath due to the overcrowding of the regular showers in the Zentralsauna during the deportation of the Jews from the Łódź ghetto.
S. Kłodziński’s message is therefore mendacious, because the women in the picture did not undress “allegedly to take a bath,” but to take a real bath. The person behind the camera tried to hide the truth by moving the camera while shooting his scene, which thus became blurred. The fact that it is blurred is therefore not accidental, but intentional.
In his account of August 28, 1985, already cited, Alter Fajnzylberg made precise statements on the origin of the photographs we have just examined:[130]
“From the vestibule which led to the gas chamber we took – we, meaning Alex, a Greek Jew, myself, and others – one of the three photographs known as those of the resistance movement – which shows nude women coming from a wood. The other two photographs which show corpses lying in front of smoking trenches were taken from the inner door of the gas chamber. We took all those pictures with a camera we received from Dawid Szmulewski. It came from the luggage of victims, and there were only three pictures left. Szmulewski took the finished roll and we buried the camera near the crematorium. At the moment, I am not in a position to say where.”
The drawing, which Fajnzylberg-Jankowski has attached to his account, shows the area around Crematorium V, which was obscured from view on the south and west sides by a fence made of branches beyond which (to the west) there are two perpendicular incineration trenches (see Document 1). In the drawing of the crematorium the witness has indicated the points from which the photographs were allegedly taken. Those with the corpses are said to have been taken towards the west from the door located in the north-west corner (marked “A” by myself) but that cannot be true, because in that case the enclosure in the background would have run perpendicularly to the line of sight of the camera, whereas in the two photographs it runs at an angle of 310 degrees (from north), not to mention the fact that no air photo of Birkenau shows any smoke in this area.
The photograph of the women is instead said to have been shot from the vestibule door on the south side of the crematorium (marked “B” by myself), but that, too, is wrong, because in that case the view would have been north to south with the sun shining towards the photographer.
The assertion of the witness, quoted earlier (p. 20), that each of the trenches were 20 meters long, 2 wide, and 2 deep and could have accommodated 2,000 corpses in alternating layers of wood and corpses, is simply ludicrous. If we assume an average area of 0.75 m² per corpse, the bottom area of a trench (40 m²) could have taken up roughly 50 corpses. If we assume the height of a layer of wood plus a layer of corpses to be about one meter, then 2,000 corpses would have formed a (2000÷50 =) tower 40 m high!
Finally, the assertion that there were only three empty frames left in the camera is likewise wrong, because there exists a fourth photograph taken in the area of the women which, however, shows only trees.[131]
The reference to Dawid Szmulewski – with a different function – is nothing but a concession to the legend about the author of the pictures that prevailed in the post-war period.
The existence of air photos of Auschwitz-Birkenau was revealed in 1979 by Dino A. Brugioni and Robert G. Poirier, who published 14 photographic images[132] in their well-known 19-page brochure. Their analysis was not only superficial but tainted by a propagandistic agenda, which they made precious little attempt to hide. In the photograph of June 26, 1944, they designated as “pits” two points in the northerly yard of Crematorium V and as “burning” a point in the area of the waste water treatment plant located between Crematorium III and the Effektenlager (the so-called “Kanada”).[133] This is their comment:[134]
“Several indications of extermination activities can be identified in the camp. Smoke can be seen near the camp’s main filtration facility. While this is to be expected near the camp crematoria, where bodies had to be burned in open pits during the hectic days of the Hungarian Jews’ influx, it is a surprise to see it here. There are a number of ground traces near Gas Chambers and Crematoria IV and V which could also be connected with extermination activities. Ground scarring appears to the rear of Gas Chamber and Crematorium IV and is very noticeable to the immediate north and west of Gas Chamber and Crematorium V. These features correlate with eyewitness accounts of pits dug near these facilities; they were no longer present on coverage of 26 July and 13 September 1944. The small scale of the imagery, however, prevents more detailed and conclusive interpretation.”
In practice, the only plume of smoke present in the picture is situated in a zone which is not in keeping with the testimonies, whereas in the zone that is, Brugioni and Poirier “identify” pits because according to “eyewitnesses” those pits had to be there!
Since 1979, such a propagandistic use of the air photos has become the rule in orthodox circles. With even more pronounced propagandistic spirit, the claims of the two above authors were taken up by John C. Zimmerman, first in two articles on the Internet,[135] to which I have replied extensively,[136] and then in a book.[8]
This notably superficial analysis was ordered by Zimmerman from a member of one of the many Jewish anti-revisionist organizations with a propagandistic aim. He states the following in this respect:[137]
“Late Holocaust History Project member and computer programmer Mark van Alstine examined the May 31 photo for the author and confirms Brugioni’s observation that the White Bunker is in the wooded area where the eyewitnesses said it was. He has identified three pits in the area of the White Bunker that could be used to burn and dispose bodies during the Hungarian operation, which lasted from mid May to mid July 1944. Van Alstine was able to confirm from the photo the existence of three huts that were used for prisoner undressing near the White Bunker. Van Alstine also confirms the existence of the three pits near Krema V each of which he estimates to be about 1150 square feet [≈ 106.8 m2] for a total of 3450 square feet [≈ 320 m2] of pit space.”
The source given for this analysis is a “communication” from Mark van Alstine to Zimmerman “dated April 13, 1999”![138]
This analysis was likewise commissioned by Zimmerman, who also gives the following background information:[139]
“In the Spring of 1998 I began to search someone who could analyze the Auschwitz photos taken by the Allies in 1944. It was quite by accident that I had the good fortune to run across Carroll Lucas. His 45 years of experience with the Central Intelligence Agency and private industry make him one of the world’s foremost experts in the field of photo interpretation. I was interested in the contents of the photos and whether they had been tampered with as alleged by Holocaust deniers. Mr. Lucas agreed to undertake the project and what follows is his comprehensive analysis of the photos.”
Zimmerman actually published the entire report by C. Lucas of 23 pages,[140] but as we shall see, the essential problem of the “cremation pits” of Birkenau is dealt with in only a few lines. Furthermore, the report is not accompanied by any air photos. The reason for this odd fact, which makes the report absolutely incomprehensible to anyone not having those photographs at their disposal, will become clear later.
As far as the period of the alleged mass extermination of the Hungarian Jews is concerned, there are only two photographs, taken on May 31, 1944, which show the camp at a sufficiently large scale (1:16,167), one of them has also good coverage of the area around the alleged “Bunker 2” (see Document 18).
This is C. Lucas’s respective technical analysis:[141]
“Smoke plume.
A long thin smoke plume can be observed emanating from disturbed earth alongside a long rectangular building adjacent to the northwestern perimeter of the Birkenau complex. The plume is drifting to the northwest and is most noticeable where it crosses over the perimeter fence. This building had been identified as Crematorium IV [sic!] in several reports.”
And that is all as to the smoke and the “cremation pits”! C. Lucas then asserts to have identified, in an area south of Crematoria IV and V, an array of trenches which he describes as follows:[142]
“Twelve of the trenches (having a total length of approximately 800 feet [≈ 240 m]) are open, whereas another 9 trenches (totaling approximately 650 feet [≈ 200 meters]) appear to have been filled in. The open trenches appear to be shallow but precisely oriented, with little scattered soil. They appear to have been dug by hand, with the excavated soil stored between the trenches. These have all the appearances of hand dug, mass grave sites used to dispense the residue from the adjacent crematoria.”
Aside from these trenches, C. Lucas asserts to have observed more trenches outside the Birkenau camp:[142]
“Outside the Birkenau complex, situated in a vegetated area near the northwest corner of the perimeter fence, are four, possibly five large, recently bulldozed, linear excavations. They are connected to the complex by a bulldozed trail leading to, and through, the perimeter fence to the area of the above mentioned hand dug trenches. The total length of these excavations is between 1200 [≈ 366 m] and 1500 [≈ 457 m] feet. All appear to have recently been covered over, since no shadows are evident. These excavations have the classic appearance of a mass grave site, and their connection with the trenches within the perimeter fence lends credence to their affiliation with the crematoria.”
Zimmerman was obviously dissatisfied with this report and tried to induce Carroll Lucas to make some concessions to the orthodox thesis of gassings and cremations. Lucas, obligingly, furnished the following details by “E-Mail”(!):[143]
“In answer to your question on ‘the Structure.’ You are correct in stating that it exists. In my notes I recorded the existence of a small cluster of two, possibly three buildings that are situated approximately 550 feet [≈ 168 m] outside of the Eastern Security fence of the Birkenau complex, approximately 1500 feet [≈ 457 m] from the northeastern corner of what has been identified as Crematorium III. It can be seen on the 31 May photographic image and also on the 21 December image. On the photography, the structures appear as a small farm house and a couple storage buildings. There is no evidence of security, and nothing that would indicate, or negate, the structure being a gas chamber.”
U.S scholars Michael Shermer and Alex Grobman have published a book entitled Denying History. Who Says the Holocaust Never Happened and Why Do They Say It?[5] The authors had approached Dr. Nevin Bryant, head of the Cartographic Applications and Image Processing Applications department of the Jet Propulsion Laboratory (managed by the California Institute of Technology) of NASA at Pasadena, California, for an analysis of the Birkenau air photos “by digital technology.” They explain that
“the photographic negatives were converted to digital data in the computer, then enhanced with software programs used by NASA for aerial and satellite images.” (p. 143)
However, in spite of such sophisticated technology, the authors say absolutely nothing about the presence of mass “cremation trenches” in the air photos, whereas they devoted a full seven enlargements to the identification of columns of persons, presumably detainees, apparently marching within the camp![144]
Robert Jan van Pelt says that when M. Shermer and A. Grobman met with Nevin Bryant he was present as well. Here is what he tells us about the matter:[145]
“The original CIA analysis was based on the study of analog enlargements. With new digital technologies it has become possible, however, to revisit the issue of the evidentiary value of the photos. In April 1996 I visited Los Angeles to meet with Michael Shermer, the editor of Skeptic magazine, and Alex Grobman, the director of the Martyrs’ Memorial and Holocaust Museum. Together we went to NASA’s Jet Propulsion Laboratory in Pasadena to meet with Dr. Nevin Bryant, Supervisor of Cartographic Applications and Image Processing Applications. One of the world leaders in the analysis of aerial and satellite images, Dr. Bryant agreed to analyze with his computers the photos, enhancing the data using software programs used by NASA. The most important results were that the four shaded markings on the roofs of morgue 1 of both crematorium 2 and 3 did belong to the original negative, and were not added later on. Furthermore, Dr. Bryant discovered through comparison of various consecutive exposures taken on May 31, 1944 a long line of people moving into the compound of crematorium 5.”
And that is all!
I must state, first of all, that I have quoted the three analyses mentioned in the reverse order of their importance. The first, Mark van Alstine’s, is an obviously amateurish analysis for propaganda purposes. The second is a scientific analysis done by a specialist with a good array of technical equipment. The third was done by a specialist using one of the best technologies available world-wide. This sequence shows that the higher the qualifications of the scientist are, the lower the relevance of the results become as far as the Holocaust is concerned:
– Van Alstine claims to have identified in the photographs of May 31, 1944, three trenches and three “huts” in the area of the so-called “Bunker 2” and “3 cremation trenches” with a surface area of 106.8 m² each and a total of some 320 square meters.
– Lucas mentions only “a long thin smoke plume” in the northern yard of Crematorium V in his report. Later, prodded by Zimmerman, he added “two, possibly three buildings” in the area of the so-called “Bunker 2.”
– Bryant, according to M. Shermer and A. Grobman, has identified only columns of “detainees” within the camp.
This shows the purely propagandistic nature of the first analysis and of the “addendum” of the second.
Actually, Mark van Alstine’s analysis is completely wrong. In this respect, we note that:
The presence of a small house in the area of the “White Bunker” (the alleged “Bunker 2”) does not prove in the least that this small house was used as a homicidal gas chamber.
The presence of three trenches in the area around the so-called “Bunker 2” is completely false as shown by an enlargement of the air photo of May 31, 1944, and as results from the fact that Carroll Lucas does not even mention it.
The presence of three trenches in the northern yard of Crematorium V is clearly false, because C. Lucas did identify a full 21, but:[146]
“situated within the northwestern perimeter of the Birkenau complex, across the road from a line of barracks and adjacent to, but south of, the two buildings designated as Crematoria IV & V,”
hence to the south of the crematoria, whereas van Alstine’s three alleged trenches are in the north where Lucas, instead, has seen only a smoke plume.
What really can be seen on these air photos will be dealt with in more detail in Chapter 10. Let me now move on to C. Lucas’s report, on which I have the following remarks to make:
C. Lucas does, in fact, not mention the area of the so-called “Bunker 2” at all where, according to the testimonies, one, two, or four incineration trenches existed on May 31, 1944.
In the yard of Crematorium V (which he confused with Crematorium IV!) C. Lucas has identified only “a long thin smoke plume” and nothing else. He did not even measure the smoking area on the ground!
The presence of 21 trenches south of Crematoria IV and V appears somewhat improbable, whereas their total length of 1450 feet (= about 442 meters) is nonsensical. Crematoria IV and V each had a length of 67.50 meters, thus the overall length of the alleged trenches would have been 6.5 times the length of one of them!
Outside the Birkenau camp area, some 160 meters north of Crematorium V, the photographs of May 31, 1944, actually show traces of four long trenches running north-south (see Document 29). Starting from the west, the first two trenches were 100 meters long, the other two 130 meters. Each of them was about 10 meters wide. What is totally false is that the trenches had been “recently bulldozed” if by “recently” is meant a period of time less than a few months, because the trenches appear to be overgrown by vegetation to a large extent.
It is clear that the adverb “recently” is a friendly concession by C. Lucas to Zimmerman. Actually, we have here mass graves used in 1942 for the burial of the corpses of registered detainees who died on account of the tragically deficient sanitary conditions in the camp. During 1942, some 48,500 detainees died. From the coke supplies to the crematorium of the main camp we can deduce that some 12,000 could have been incinerated there, so that some 36,500 corpses had to be cremated in the open, many of them after they had first been buried. Because of the groundwater level, the mass graves could not be made deeper than one meter. Hence, their total volume (some 4,600 m³) fits in with the ca. 36,500 corpses which could not be cremated in the crematorium.
Lucas’s assertion of “two, possibly three buildings” in the area of “Bunker 2” found in the “addendum” is another friendly concession. Actually, J.C. Zimmerman needed three undressing barracks to confirm the respective assertions of R. Höss,[147] and so here the analysts saw what Zimmerman wanted them to see. On inspection, it is clear that on the photographs of May 31, 1944, no barracks can be seen (see Chapter 10).
The analysis of Nevin Bryant is known to us only through M. Shermer and A. Grobman, two strong opponents of “negationism” who in their book seized every legitimate or, more often, illegitimate means for their reply to the revisionists. It is thus obvious that the analysis of Neville Bryant did not offer them the least support for the orthodox Holocaust narrative, otherwise they would have hastened to publish the results of the analysis as “converging evidence” of the alleged extermination at Auschwitz. This is fully confirmed by the fact that – as I have stressed – not even Robert Jan van Pelt, who was even more interested than Shermer and Grobman to find “converging evidence,” makes the slightest mention of the essential question of incineration trenches.
Therefore, the Jet Propulsion Laboratory managed by the California Institute of Technology of NASA at Pasadena, California, did not find any incineration trenches or undressing barracks. It is clear that the smoke plume rising from the north yard of Crematorium V could not have escaped Nevin Bryant’s eye, therefore one has to conclude that both Michael Shermer and Alex Grobman as well as Robert Jan van Pelt have preferred not to mention it at all, obviously because they realized that such a small outdoor burning activity is in absolute contrast with all the testimonies of the members of the so-called Sonderkommando!
In early 2001, a massive hoof-and-mouth epidemic broke out especially in England, to which thousands of animals succumbed. Due to a lack of incineration capacity, a large portion of the resulting cadavers had to be incinerated outdoors on pyres. The data resulting from this event were compiled by Heinrich Köchel and applied to the claimed mass incinerations in the alleged German extermination camps at Bełżec, Sobibór and Treblinka, in order to estimate the amount of space and fuel needed as well as the time and labor efforts required. Köchel’s study can be applied analogously to Auschwitz, although the presence of crematoria renders it a little more difficult. We encourage, even urge, the reader to read Köchel’s study. Based on real events, it illustrates the stark discrepancy between what we ought to see on the air photos and what can actually be seen on them. Due to its importance, we have reprinted this contribution in Part Three of the present study.
– The Editor
According to the most recent results of revisionist historiography, the number of Hungarian Jews deported to Auschwitz amounted to a total of about 398,400, of whom 106,700 were immediately registered or admitted into the transit camp of Birkenau without registration and then transferred to other camps;[148] hence the percentage of those allegedly gassed would be about 73%.
The existing documents allow us to sketch the following table of the deportation of the Hungarian Jews to Auschwitz up to May 31, 1944:
Date | Total | Total | Incremental | Average daily | Incremental |
May 25 | 138,870[149] | 44 | 45,179 33,187 | 15,600 11,062 | 14 11 |
May 28 | 184,049[150] | 58 | |||
May 31 | 217,236[151] | 69 |
The first trains from Hungary left on May 14 and arrived at Auschwitz on May 17. Moreover, the first trains that left the country on June 25, after a hiatus of four days, arrived at Auschwitz on June 28. Finally, the last deportation trains – which left on July 8 – reached Auschwitz on July 11. One may therefore assume that for the trip from Hungary to Auschwitz three days were needed on average.[152] It follows that the 184,049 persons deported by May 28 would have reached Auschwitz by May 31. Furthermore, because another 11 trains left Hungary between May 29 and 31, with 33,187 deportees on board, at least three or four of the trains that had left on May 28 would have arrived at Auschwitz by May 31. This would have amounted to an additional 9,051[153] or 12,068[154] deportees arriving at Auschwitz. On May 30, on the other hand, four or five trains arrived with 12,908[155] or 16,135[156] deportees.
In conclusion, using rounded figures, at least some 12,900 deportees arrived on May 30, and at least another 9,050 on May 31. The list of deportees published by R.L. Braham cannot be used because it does not correspond to the Veesenmayer reports, neither with respect to the number of deportees nor with respect to the number of trains.[157]
Assuming that 73% of all deportees were indeed gassed, the number of persons allegedly gassed would therefore be:
– up to May 31, 1944: (184,049 × 0.73 =) roughly 134,300
– on May 30, 1944: (12,908 × 0.73 =) roughly 9,400
– on May 31, 1944: (9,050 × 0.73 =) roughly 6,600.
The maximum theoretical capacity of the Birkenau crematoria, taking into account a possible presence of children among those cremated, would have been 1,104 corpses per day.[158] Hence, between May 17 and 31, over 15 days, the crematoria would have been able to handle (15 × 1,104 =) roughly 16,600 corpses at the most. This, however, was impossible in practice, because – as we shall see in Section 10.4 – all the Birkenau crematoria were undergoing repairs, their capacity was therefore in the best of cases seriously impaired.
But let us leave that aside for the moment. Out of the 134,400 allegedly gassed persons, 16,600 could then have been incinerated in the crematoria. That would leave about 117,700 for the incineration trenches, i.e., within those 15 days roughly (117,700 ÷ 15 =) 7,850 corpses per day on average for outdoor cremation.
As results from the study of the groundwater level at Birkenau (see Part Three of the present study), the depth of the cremation pits was limited to one meter or less, which means that they could at best contain one layer of wood and bodies. The only system of cremation that could be realized in this way was the pyre: arrangement of the corpses on a layer of wood and setting it on fire. The kind of continuous operation described by some witnesses – corpses thrown into a trench already on fire – could not have been implemented for two reasons:
The temperature of the trench would not have permitted an approach close enough for a body to be thrown into the fire.
Even if the persons assigned to this job had worn protective clothing (something no witness has ever mentioned), they could only have launched the bodies to within a few meters of the trench. Such corpses would have accumulated outside of the edge of the trench without increasing the cremation capacity in any way.
For the cremation of an average of 7,850 bodies per day, assuming a surface area of 0.75 square meters per corpse, one would have needed a total area of roughly (7,850 × 0.75 =) 5,900 m² (7 times the floor area of Crematorium IV or V) corresponding to
– 11 trenches as described by H. Mandelbaum (35 m × 15 m)
– 13 trenches as described by Cz. Mordowicz and A. Rosin (30 m × 15 m)
– 14 trenches as described by F. Müller (50 m × 8 m)
– 19 trenches as described by D. Paisikovic (30 m × 10 m) and by M. Nyiszli (50 m × 6 m)
– 39 trenches as described by Sz. Dragon (25 m × 6 m)
– 82 trenches as described by S. Bendel (12 m × 6 m)
– 118 trenches as described by J. Rosenblum (10 m × 5 m)
– 147 trenches as described by S. Jankowski (20 m × 2 m).
The depth of the mass-incineration trenches being limited to one meter by the groundwater level, it would have been necessary to excavate a theoretical volume of (5,900 × 1 =) 5,900 cubic meters of earth. In practice, the effective volume would have been higher, up to 6,500 m³ because of the well-known expansion of excavated earth, which may reach 10 to 25% of the original volume.[159]
The cremation of a corpse in a cremation trench would require an average of some 200 kg of wood (taking into account the presence of children).[160] Hence, total wood consumption up to May 31, 1944 would have amounted to (117,700 × 200 =) 23,540,000 kg or 23,540 metric tons of wood, with an average daily consumption of (7,850 × 200 =) 1,570,000 kg or 1,570 metric tons of wood. To help the reader visualize what this quantity of wood really means, I include a photograph taken by me in 1997 near the former camp at Sobibór. One can see enormous piles of wood (see Document 45). In the foreground, we have a pile some 30 meters long and on average 2.5 meters high, constituted by pine trunks about 3 meters long and 10-15 cm in diameter. The weight of this pile is about 120 tons, sufficient to burn about 600 corpses. The daily requirements for the alleged Birkenau cremations – 1,570 tons – would have been equivalent to 13 piles of wood such as the one shown in the photograph.
A growth of fir trees will produce, over a period of 50 years, about 496 tons per hectare[161] or about 200 tons per acre. Thus, the total consumption of wood up to May 31, 1944 would have been equivalent to the deforestation of over 47 hectares (or about 120 acres or 0.18 square miles) of fir growth, and the daily needs would have required all the wood grown on over 3 hectares (or about 8 acres) of forest.
According to sources in India, the cremation of 21,000 Hindus who die each year in a certain region calls for some 8,100 tons of wood (385 kg of wood per corpse on average), the equivalent of about 227 hectares (or a little less than 600 acres or almost a square mile) of forest area.[162] Assuming these data to be valid for our case, the supply of 23,540 tons of wood to the camp would have resulted in the deforestation of about 660 hectares (or roughly 1,500 acres or 2.6 sq miles) of forest!
According to another source, a 20-year-old tree furnishes four metric quintals (or 900 lbs.) of wood.[163] The 23,540 tons required would thus have had to come from 58,850 felled trees. Where did this enormous quantity of wood come from?
It is known that the series of documents for the “Arbeitseinsatz” (labor deployment) for the men’s camp at Birkenau – partly preserved – mentions from July 29, 1944, onwards among the personnel of the crematoria a “Kommando 61B” constituted by 30 “Holzablader (wood unloaders) Krematorium IV.”[164] From August 5, 1944, onwards “Kommando 61B” operated at Crematoria II and III (“Holzablader Krem. I. u. II.”), the wood was therefore unloaded also near Crematoria II and III, and not only near Crematorium V where the alleged mass-incineration trenches were located. Thus, the wood was primarily intended for the crematoria. Actually, as early as September of 1943 the crematoria were also being to run on wood. In the list of “Coke and coal for the crematoria in tons” compiled by the Auschwitz Museum on the basis of the original “Bescheinigungen” (vouchers), the following deliveries of wood to the crematoria are noted:
September 2, 1943: 16 m³
September 9, 1943: 20 m³
September 12, 1943: 10 m³
September 16, 1943: 30 m³
October 19, 1943: 20 m³.[165]
A pile of wood located between the ruins of Crematorium V and the drainage channel still existed in May of 1945 and was photographed by the Poles (see Document 44). It is also visible on the photograph taken on February 19, 1945 (see Document 43). It had a length of some 50 and a width of some 3 meters. Assuming a height of 2 meters, the total volume of the pile would be 300 m³ and its weight about 135 tons – enough to burn 675 corpses in the open air. The daily requirements of 1,570 tons of wood for the outdoor cremation of the corpses of allegedly gassed persons would correspond to a volume of about 3,490 m³ of wood (or close to 1000 cords U.S.), i.e. a pile as long as the one shown, but about 12 times as wide – 35 meters!
Let us now examine this conclusion within the hypothesis of a mass extermination. The report of the underground resistance movement at Auschwitz for the period of May 5-25, 1944, already cited, states the following with respect to the trains bringing the Jewish deportees from Hungary:[166]
“To the trains of the ‘settlers’ are attached two cars with construction wood[167] which they unload at the ‘ramp of death’ and then carry elsewhere to pile it up […] for themselves.”
Leaving aside the absurdity of using precious construction wood for purposes of cremation, let us look at the amounts. One open Güterwagen (freight car) usually carries a load of 25 tons;[168] therefore each of those trains brought a maximum of 50 tons of wood to Birkenau. Up to May 31, 1944, 58 trains from Hungary arrived at Birkenau with a maximum of 116 cars of wood or (116 × 25 =) 2,900 tons. However, up until that date, the requirements of wood for the outdoor cremation of the allegedly gassed would have been 23,540 tons, the equivalent of (23,540 ÷ 25 =) 942 freight cars! In actual practice, 24 trains with 40 cars each would have been needed for the necessary fuel. The daily load of 1,570 tons of wood would have called for about 63 freight cars, but instead, there were (58 trains ÷ 14 days =) four trains per day on average, with a total of only eight freight cars carrying lumber.
The comparison of the photographs taken on May 31 with those taken on December 21, 1944 (cf. Documents 30 and 42) tells us that the wooded areas to the north and west of the Crematoria IV and V outside the camp had remained untouched, thus no wood for the alleged incineration trenches was removed from them.
The combustion of this enormous amount of wood, if we assume an experimental content of 8% of ash,[160] would have produced (23,540 × 0.08 =) 1,883.2 tons of ash overall, or some (1,570 × 0.08 =) 125.6 tons of ash per day, corresponding to about (125.6 ÷ 0.34 =) 370 m³ or 26 truckloads.[169]
The cremation of a corpse yields about 5% of incombustible ash with a density of 0.5 g/cm³.[170] Up to May 31, 1944, we would thus have (117,700 × 58 × 0.05 =) 341,330 kg or 341.33 tons of human ash. The daily amount would be (7,850 × 58 × 0.05 =) 22,765 kg or 22.7 tons. Hence, the total amount of ash from both sources would be (1,883.2 + 341.3 =) 2,224.5 tons with an average daily rate of (125.6 + 22.7 =) 148.3 tons. To this has to be added an undetermined amount of incompletely burned wood and corpse parts, as they inevitably occur during pyre incinerations.
According to orthodox historiography, the ash was loaded on trucks and dumped into the Vistula River or used as fertilizer on the farms![171] For the sifting of the ash, eight sieves were available, similar to those used for sand. Thus each sieve would have been used for (148.3 ÷ 8 =) 18.5 tons or some 52 m³ of ash per day!
Hence, if the story of the cremation of the Hungarian Jews were true, then the air photos taken on May 31, 1944 would have to show:
– 5,900 m² of incineration trenches
– 6,500 m³ of earth extracted from the trenches
– at least 1,570 tons of wood for the cremations of the day
– dozens of trucks for the transportation of the wood and the removal of the ash.
The question of the trucks, because of its importance, merits our particular attention. The responsibility for the transportation of materials and machinery for construction work around the camp – including the coke supply – lay with the transport section of the Central Construction Office called “Fahrbereitschaft” (motor pool). This section would have been responsible also for the alleged logistical back-up for the extermination: it would have had to excavate the trenches, bring in the wood for the cremations, and take away the ash etc.
In May of 1944, the motor pool had 18 trucks and 8 tractors available. In the period of March 15 through June 15, 1944, these vehicles undertook a total of 6,315 trips over a total of 86,774 km and transported 30,653 tons of materials, an average of 4.85 tons per trip.[172] In the months of April, May, and June of 1943, the vehicles of the Central Construction Office had gone on 2,389, 2,548, and 2,946 trips respectively, rolling a total of 78,083 kilometers.[173] In September of 1943, there were 3,237 trips covering a total of 20,516 kilometers.[174] One may, therefore, reasonably assume that within the period of March 15 through June 15, 1944, at least 4,000 trips were effected in the first two months, i.e. between March 15 and May 15, 1944 and that some (4,000 × 4.85 =) 19,400 tons of material were transported.
Hence, between May 15 and June 15 there were 2,315 trips at the outside, for the transportation of 11,253 tons of materials, which agrees perfectly well with the activity of the other months. However, for the cremation of the allegedly gassed persons alone, some (23,540 ÷ 4.85 =) 4,853 trips with wood and 40 trips with coke[175] would have had to be made, plus (2,224.5 ÷ 4.85 =) 458 trips for the ash, or about 5,350 trips altogether just for the period of May 17-31, 1944. If we include the further 76,900 Hungarian Jews deported in the first half of June,[176] 60,300[177] of whom are said to have been cremated outdoors, there would be a further requirement for (60,300 × 0.2 =) 12,060 tons of wood necessitating (12,060 ÷ 4.85 =) 2,486 trips and producing another (12,060 × 0.08 =) 965 tons of wood ash, corresponding to (965 ÷ 4.85 =) 199 trips, and (60,300 × 58 × 0.05 =) 174.8 tons of human ash, equivalent to 36 trips, to which we must add another 40 trips for coke, yielding a total of another 2,761 trips.
If the story of the extermination of the Hungarian Jews were true, then the vehicles of the Central Construction Office would have effected at least 8,111 trips transporting about 39,200 tons of various materials during the period of May 15 through June 15, whereas there were actually, as we have seen, at the most 2,315 trips (and a load of 11,253 tons), a figure even less than the corresponding one for the second quarter of 1943.
Some orthodox historians and the witnesses, as has been stated above, quote figures of allegedly gassed and cremated victims that are far higher (F. Piper speaks of 20,000 gassed and cremated persons per day!) and which would make it necessary to multiply by a factor of three all the parameters investigated here (number of persons cremated, surface area of the trenches, amount of wood and ash etc.).
The witnesses describe, moreover, other installations linked with the alleged extermination process, which would have to appear on the aerial photographs:
– a narrow-gauge railway in the area around Crematorium V for the transportation of the corpses to the trenches (Tauber, Mandelbaum),
– a fence of branches south and west of Crematorium V some 150 meters long[178] (Fajnzylberg-Jankowski),
– a concrete platform measuring 60 by 15 meters (Müller).
Now that we have established what the air photos would have to show if the story of the mass extermination of the Hungarian Jews were true, we shall examine what these photographs actually do show.
The technical means employed by C. Lucas and N. Bryant have allowed the discovery of details on the air photos not identifiable by the naked eye, as for example the columns of marching persons in the camp. Objects of a size which are orders of magnitude larger, on the other hand, should be observable even with the naked eye. Objects of such a size would have been the alleged incineration trenches together with the inevitable mounds of earth excavated from those trenches, the barracks and the smoke.
Therefore, let us examine first of all the area of the so-called “Bunker 2.” Mark van Alstine claims that the photographs taken on May 31, 1944, show in this area:
1. “Bunker 2” itself;
2. three undressing barracks near “Bunker 2”;
3. three non-smoking trenches.
Let us look at the individual points.
1. The presence of a small house in these photographs is not in doubt, but that does in fact not prove that this was “Bunker 2,” i.e. that it contained homicidal gas chambers, in the same way as the presence of Crematoria II-V in the same photograph does not prove that there were homicidal gas chambers inside them.
In my book Debunking the Bunkers of Auschwitz: Black Propaganda versus History[179] I have demonstrated that the story of the so-called Birkenau “bunkers” has no foundation in reality, and this also goes, obviously, for the alleged “Bunker 2.”
I wish to add here that the two air photos taken on May 31, 1944, refute most strongly the thesis of orthodox historiography. To the west of the house there is in fact an area surrounded by a thick fence which, however, also blocks the road leading from the camp to the house (see Document 22). The trucks with the victims therefore had to stop at the end of this road, the victims had to get off and somehow cross the fence to enter the yard of the house. Some inmates would certainly have tried to escape, and the guards in return would have shot at them, and all that in full view of everyone in the camp. It would have been sufficient to open up a gate in the fence to allow the trucks to enter the yard directly and avoid any such problems.
2. The presence of three trenches in the air photos of May 31, 1944, is clearly wrong, as we can easily see from the fact that Mark van Alstine gives neither their location nor their dimensions. He wants to sell as incineration trenches the three dark areas visible to the west of the house which I have numbered 1, 2, and 3 on the corresponding enlargement (see Document 21). The three dark areas have, furthermore, a shape too irregular and too blurred for them to be rectangular trenches. They cannot be the shadows cast by the edges of the trenches either, because the direction of the sun’s rays, from south-east to north-west,[180] follows more or less the direction of dark area no. 1, therefore the three dark areas would have been fully illuminated.
Mark van Alstine’s claim is, moreover, at variance with the testimonies that speak of one (Chasan, Venezia), or two (Nyiszli, Paisikovic) or four trenches (Müller), but not of three.
We have seen earlier in this book that Paisikovic claimed to have worked for two weeks – between May 23 and June 6 – near “Bunker 2,” which means that on May 31, 1944, he was in the area where the extermination activity was going on day and night. The two incineration trenches (30 by 10 or 30 by 6 meters) should have been running full blast, cremating some 5,000 corpses per day according to F. Piper. The daily wood requirements would have been about 1,000 tons, and about 94 tons of ash would have been generated.
However, neither in this nor in any other air photo showing the area around the alleged “Bunker 2” do we see any traces of smoke or any kind of activity on the part of the 100 or 150 detainees who were allegedly working there. On the contrary: we have seen that the road leading to the outer yard of the alleged “Bunker 2” was blocked off by a thick fence. It was therefore impossible to bring these 1,000 tons of wood into that yard, close to the incineration trenches, and it would likewise have been impossible to remove the daily load of 94 tons of ash. Thus, the air photo of May 31, 1944 shows not only no incineration trenches around “Bunker 2,” but demonstrates also that mass cremations did not occur in that area and were in fact impossible.
3. The claim that the images in question show “the existence of three huts that were used for prisoner undressing near the White Bunker” is an overt lie, obviously based on the false testimony by Filip Müller who asserted that near “Bunker 2” (which he calls “Bunker V”) there existed indeed “three wooden barracks,” and so Mark van Alstine, urged by Zimmerman, had to find them! We know that Zimmerman solicited C. Lucas in the same way, who initially did not quite grasp what he was supposed to find in the photographs, but then remedied that mistake with his “addendum,” speaking of “two, possibly three buildings.”
Actually only three rectangular shapes of leveled ground appear near the little house, the smallest one measuring about 12 by 32 meters, the other two about 12 by 42 meters. We have here a leveling of the ground for the installation of barracks, certainly not barracks already erected. There is not the least doubt regarding the absence of barracks in the images of May 31, 1944 – all one has to do is to compare the three rectangles just mentioned with the real barracks of the camp, such as those of the Effektenlager. Document 19 shows (from east to west) barracks 8-13 and 28-30 of the Effektenlager. The three barracks in the first row below the Zentralsauna (i.e. to the east of it) and two in the second row were “Effektenbaracken Typ 501/34,” also called “Luftwaffenbaracken” (air-force type barracks), which measured 12.64 × 41.39 meters,[181] whereas one in the second and three in the third row were “Pferdestallbaracken Typ 260/9,” (horse-stable barracks) having dimensions of 9.56 × 40.76 meters.[182] In Section 10.3 below, I shall come back to the question of the barracks.
In conclusion it can therefore be said that none of the three experts called up by Zimmerman has identified in this area (or along the road leading to the camp) any real trace of an extermination activity. The zone appears to be completely vacant (to the point that the fence around the house blocked the access road) and, as Carroll Lucas has pointed out, “there is no evidence of security.”
With respect to the area of Crematorium V, Mark van Alstine claims that the photographs of May 31 show the existence of three incineration trenches, each having a surface area of about 106.8 square meters. Carroll Lucas, on the other hand, has seen only a “thin smoke plume,” whereas R.J. van Pelt, M. Shermer, and A. Grobman have preferred to keep quiet about Nevin Bryant’s observations. The smoke plume is, in fact, visible, but the smoking area on the ground does not exceed 50 m² and could not have accommodated more than about 60-70 corpses for cremation.[183] The smoke rises over roughly 7-8 linear meters near the (eastern) extremity of a dark rectangle some 25 meters long and 6 meters wide (see Documents 23f.).
If, on the other hand, the gassing and the cremation of the Hungarian Jews were an actual fact, the air photos would have shown an inferno – with incineration trenches that burned continuously for 48 hours (H. Tauber), 24-48 hours (H. Mandelbaum) or 24 hours (Sz. Dragon) – described by the witness Otto Wolken[184] in the following terms:[185]
“The 4 chimneys[186] of the crematoria belched smoke day and night, day and night the heavy smoke of the incineration trenches hung over the camp and at night the sky was tinted bright red.”
In his famous “Chronicle” of the Birkenau camp, the witness adds:[187]
“This was the time of the large Hungarian transports. The crematoria turned out to be too small for the incineration of so many thousands of people and two large pits were therefore excavated which allowed the simultaneous burning of 5000 and more corpses. The stifling smoke hung over the camp day and night. At night, the sky was colored dark red far and wide.”
This is in contradiction not only to the air photos, but also to the following statement by Rudolf Höss:[188]
“On account of enemy air activity from 1944 on, burning at night was no longer allowed.”
This decree had come into force already by December of 1943. In the Standortbefehl (garrison order) Nr. 55/43 dated December 15, 1943, the camp commander at the time, SS-Obersturmbannführer Liebehenschel, specified:[189]
“Blackout. On the basis of the strengthening of air-defense measures for the Auschwitz area, immediate total blackout is hereby ordered.”
In early 2004, a new photograph of the Birkenau area, taken by an RAF aircraft on August 23, 1944, appeared on the Internet.[190] It shows the entire Birkenau camp. No smoke rises from any of the crematory chimneys, but a thick column of smoke can be discerned rising from the northern yard of Crematorium V. The area around “Bunker 2” is completely free of any smoke. Later on three more air photos taken on August 25, 1944, were published. One of them shows the entire Birkenau camp without any smoke anywhere, not even in the yard of Crematorium V.[191] The other two show only the southern parts of the camp with two crematories, whose chimneys do not emit any visible smoke either.[192]
Two barracks appear in the area of the alleged “Bunker 2” (see Document 37). A new road from the western gate of the camp (next to the Effektenlager) passes between the two barracks after having joined up with the old road a little earlier to form the hypotenuse of a right triangle. There is now a passage in the fence which allows access to the inner yard (the one towards the camp) and to the outer yard on the other side. The fence of the inner yard extends some twenty meters towards the camp, up to the end of the barrack in the north, with a corresponding enlargement of the yard area.
The two barracks can already be seen on a photograph of June 26, 1944 (see Document 31). Were those the undressing barracks that the witnesses spoke about? Let us examine this hypothesis, beginning with the number of the barracks. The three essential witnesses on the subject of “Bunker 2” are M. Nyiszli, D. Paisikovic, and F. Müller.
As we have already seen, for M. Nyiszli the so-called “Bunker 2” was not a gas chamber but merely an undressing room for the victims who were killed by a shot in the back of the neck with a small-caliber gun, hence the undressing barracks never existed. Paisikovic does not mention them at all in the two declarations noted above. At the Auschwitz trial in Frankfurt, he states the following:[193]
“The victims first went into the undressing room. Then they were led by the SS into the Bunker, and we had to take their clothes out. […]
We had to carry out the clothes. The trucks were already waiting outside, and all had to be done quickly.”
The witness speaks of a single “Auskleideraum” (undressing room) and says nothing about any barracks. It is important to remember that Paisikovic claims to have worked at “Bunker 2” for only two weeks (hardly eight days according to his statement of 1963),[194] from the end of May through the beginning of June of 1944, therefore the undressing room (just as the two incineration trenches on fire) should already appear on the photograph of May 31, 1944, but there is no trace of it.
Müller, on the other hand, does speak of barracks, but for him there were three:[195]
“The undressing rooms, in which the victims had to remove their clothing before being gassed, were located in three wooden barracks”
Hence, the three essential witnesses not only contradict one another regarding the barracks, but the only one who speaks of them mentions three, whereas on the air photo of May 31, 1944, there are none, and on the one taken on August 23 one can see two.
Let us look at the function of these barracks. On August 30, 1944, two members of the underground resistance movement of the camp, “Stakło” (Stanisław Kłodziński) and “J.,” sent the following clandestine message to the outside:[196]
“The gassing of the Jews still continues. Transports from Łódź, Holland, and Italy. The trenches, in which the people gassed at Birkenau are burned when the crematoria are insufficient, are now being filled in[197] to hide the traces.”
This means that the outdoor cremation activities for the corpses of the allegedly gassed came to a stop at that time, as did, for the same reason, the activity of “Bunker 2.”
However, the two barracks are still visible on an air photo taken on November 29, 1944,[198] which shows also the house (the alleged “Bunker 2”). According to normal practice at Auschwitz, the availability of barracks being insufficient, barracks would be dismantled and rebuilt elsewhere for other uses as soon as they no longer had a function. But if the barracks were undressing rooms for the alleged victims of “Bunker 2,” why were they left in place for another three months after the end of their usefulness? The matter is all the more mysterious as, according to Danuta Czech, the alleged order “stop gassings” arrived at Auschwitz on November 2, 1944.[199]
No known document mentions those two barracks and it is therefore difficult to say what their function was. It seems clear, though, that they had some sort of direct relationship with the deportation of the Hungarian Jews.
The two barracks stood on two leveled rectangles that can be seen on the photograph of May 31, 1944, thus the decision to build them had been taken earlier. They were erected between May 31 and June 26, 1944. The Hungarian Jews were deported between mid-May and early June and brought with them to Birkenau enormous quantities of personal objects, which were piled up in front of the barracks of the Effektenlager as shown by various photographs taken at the time.[200] It is possible that the two barracks, erected not far from the Effektenlager, were to take up those goods that had to be sheltered from the weather. The enlargement of the yard of the alleged “Bunker 2” could have the following explanation: the yard was the place where the goods were unloaded and where they were then sorted by detainees and stored in the two barracks.
As opposed to the zone around the alleged “Bunker 2,” there is a column of smoke in the yard north of Crematorium V (see Document 38). When comparing this image with the photograph taken on May 31, one can see that the smoking area is now some 30 meters further west (see Document 25, encircled area). The location of this area with respect to the northern door of the alleged gas chamber corresponds exactly to the field of view of Photographs 277 and 278 showing a scene of outdoor cremation (see Document 27). The photograph of August 23, 1944 therefore shows from the air what Photographs 277 and 278 show on the ground. The cremation area stood at about 7 by 7 meters in size, and this order of magnitude agrees perfectly with my analysis of the two terrestrial photographs mentioned.
At the western corner of Fence 35 there was a guard tower which still exists today (see Document 28). Starting from there and going east, on the fourteenth fencepost a lamp to illuminate the fence had been installed, which is also present on the second fencepost from the left in Document 26. Photograph 278 clearly shows two fenceposts of the enclosure, but without lamps. For that reason, it covers a field of view which begins to the right (to the east) of the 14th fencepost. This is confirmed by the fact that the field of view of this photograph meets Fence 35 a few meters before the 14th fencepost.[201] Therefore the field of view of Photograph 278 matches well with the area between the third fencepost (from the left) and the eighth of Document 26.
The new cremation site already appears on the air photo taken on July 8, 1944.[202] There is, in fact, a column of white smoke rising from it, whereas the chimneys of the crematoria actually do not produce any smoke. The area of the alleged “Bunker 2” is outside the picture.
Thus, there were two cremation sites in the yard of Crematorium V, but they were used in succession. This point of fact is at variance with all the testimonies, which speak of between two and five trenches which were in operation simultaneously in that area (J. Sehn even has 6). Of these testimonies, the most important one is the one by Fajnzylberg-Jankowski, the only witness to have indicated the number, the locations, and the dimensions of the alleged incineration trenches, but his drawing (see Document 1) is completely refuted by the air photos.
Chronologically speaking, the more recently published photographs fit into the period of the deportation to Auschwitz of the Jews from the Łódź ghetto. According to orthodox Holocaust historians they should therefore show a scene of outdoor mass cremation of corpses belonging to persons from this ghetto who had been gassed.
How many Jews were brought from Łódź to Auschwitz? F. Piper gives a figure of 60,000-70,000 persons,[203] but even a commenter like Robert Jan van Pelt has contested this, reducing it to 25,000.[204] In a separate article I have demonstrated on the basis of documents that the Jews from Łódź taken to Auschwitz numbered some 22,500, of whom no less than 11,500 adult women were transferred to Stutthof without having previously been registered.[205] There were at least some forty-odd children among them aged between 6 months and 14 years. The youngest among them was Jacob Gittel, born March 6, 1944! If the claims of orthodox historiography were true, then these children would have been gassed immediately upon arrival at Auschwitz.
Of the men, 3,076 were registered; the fate of the 7,900 others is unknown. Up to August 22, 1944, five transports from Łódź arrived at Auschwitz (on August 15, 16, 17, 21, and 22) with some 12,500 Jews, 1,100 of whom were registered and 6,400 sent on to the transit camp at Birkenau without registration, waiting to be moved on. Even under the assumption that the remaining 5,000 were gassed (but if the children mentioned above were not gassed, why should the adult men have been gassed?), this would have happened within the span of eight days. On August 22, about 1,200 Jews are said to have been gassed, a load that the crematoria could have swallowed without choking, if we follow F. Piper. As we have seen above, he has, in fact, dared to write that the Birkenau crematoria were able to cremate 8,000 corpses per day! Furthermore, according to D. Czech’s Kalendarium,[206] no transport at all arrived on August 23. Thus on that day there were absolutely no gassed victims to be burned outdoors. How can we then explain the column of smoke visible on the photograph taken on August 23? It could only have been from registered detainees who had died in the camp.[207]
Another important problem which arises from the air photos is that of the absence of smoke from the crematoria’s chimneys. This is particularly evident in the two photographs taken on May 31, 1944, and on the one taken on August 23, 1944. In an article written in 1998, Jean-Claude Pressac has stated the following:[208]
“A crematorium does not emit smoke, because the manufacturers have banned smoke as early as the very first European congress on incineration held at Dresden in 1876. For the Topf Co., the will to manufacture furnaces which would not generate smoke was a constant preoccupation ever since the foundation of the company; in fact, the first two patents filed by Johann Andreas Topf (No. 3855 filed March 16, 1878 and No. 7493 filed February 14, 1879) concern smoke-absorbing furnaces. The technical leaflets for prospective customers promised them that ‘Topf type ‘furnaces ensure a complete and smoke-free combustion’. Prüfer was under the obligation to fulfill this double requirement (professional and legislative) even with the concentration camp furnaces, as he confirmed to the Smersh officers who interrogated him on March 5, 1946.
That is why none of the photographs taken by the American air force show smoke coming from the six chimneys of the four crematoria.”
In a previous article,[67] I have already demonstrated that Pressac’s claims are not only technically unsound – because the chimneys of civilian crematoria, especially coke-fired ones, inevitably smoke – but also in contradiction with his own correct observations of 1989. In the caption of a photograph of Crematorium II from the Kamann series, he had in fact noted:[209]
“The Krematorium had already been at work, as we can see by the soot at the top of the chimney.”
And the soot can also be observed at the top of the western chimney in a photograph of Crematorium V.[210]
The Auschwitz Album contains at least six photographs – taken on May 26, 1944 – which show the chimneys of the four Birkenau crematoria: the upper edges are black with soot but none of them smokes.[211]
Robert Jan van Pelt fully agrees with my point of view and substantiates it with arguments taken from the “history of cremation technology.”[212] An air photo of August 20, 1944, even seems to show a column of smoke rising from the chimney of Crematorium III (see Documents 34f.), although Robert Bartec has pointed out that this could merely be one of the many scratches on this scatched-up negative.[213] I will subsequently continue to assume, however, that this could be smoke, as this would be the worst case for the revisionist thesis.
In the following table, I have summarized the situation as presented by the air photos of Birkenau with respect to the presence of smoke:
Date in 1944 | Smoke from the chimneys | Smoke from the north yard | Smoke from the |
May 31 | No | Yes | No |
June 26 | No | No | No |
July 8 | No | Yes | No |
August 20 | KIII | Yes | No |
August 23 | No | Yes | No |
August 25 | No | No | No |
September 13 | No | No | No |
Hence not a single photo shows smoke in the area of the so-called “Bunker 2”, at most one shows smoke from a chimney of a single crematorium, and three photographs show a little smoke coming from the northern yard of Crematorium V.
In the light of what has been said above, the absence of any smoke rising from the chimneys of a crematorium is proof of its inactivity. Other documents show that during the entire period of the deportation of Hungarian Jews to Auschwitz, the crematoria of Birkenau, far from being in operation 24 hours a day as the witnesses have declared, were again and again under repair.
As early as May 4, 1944, the head of construction of the Birkenau camp asked the local Kommandantur for a “Bescheinigung auf der Ausweiskarte” (entry on the ID card) for the civilian employee Jährling, giving the following reason:[214]
“[Civilian employee] Jährling has to do mounting supervisions in sections I, II, and III. Besides, Jährling has been charged with the supervision of repair works in the crematoria.”
On May 9, the head of construction submitted to the Kommandantur of Concentration Camp II another request for “permission of access to Crematoria I-IV,” worded as follows:[215]
“This office requests permission of access to be granted for the ID cards joined, as the Koehler Co. has been ordered to perform urgent repairs on the crematoria.”
On May 13, the head of construction requested a specific permit for a bricklayer of the Koehler Co., giving the following reason:[216]
“The bricklayer Apolinary Golinski, born Aug. 5, 1904, has been ordered by the Koehler Co. to perform repairs on the crematoria. We request to endorse his temporary ID card with a permit to enter same.”
The Koehler Co. had built the chimneys and the flues of the crematoria, hence in early May of 1944 all four Birkenau crematoria showed brickwork damage on these structures. But at the time, the cremation furnaces, too, were damaged, as results from the following work list of the inmate locksmith workshop:[217]
– “Apr. 13, 1944. No. 1483. Crematory administration. Object: Repair of 20 furnace doors a. 10. scrapers in Crematoria I and II […]. Finished: Oct. 17, 1944.”
– “June 1, 1944. No. 1600. Crematory administration. Object: Repair of 30 furnace doors in Crematoria III and IV, as well as supply of 4 pcs. fire hooks […]. Finished: June 7, 1944.”
– “June 7, 1944. No. 1617. Crematory administration. Object: Daily repairs on crematoria 1 – 4 from June 3 – July 20, 1944. Finished: July 4, 1944”[218]
Order no. 1617 refers to the request by the SS garrison administration No. 337/4 of May 31, 1944, which means that the damages to be repaired had been observed prior to that date.
Hence, these documents prove that on May 31, 1944, the four Birkenau crematoria were under repair, and that explains why they do not emit any smoke on the corresponding photographs.
The photograph taken on August 20 is particularly important because it shows smoke emanating both from the yard of Crematorium V as well as possibly from the chimney of Crematorium III. On that day, according to D. Czech’s Kalendarium, no homicidal gassing was carried out,[219] and the outdoor fire could thus not have any criminal character. Moreover, if all four Birkenau crematoria were operational but at most one of them was operated, as indicated by the lack of any smoke from the other chimneys, what need was there for any outdoor cremation?
I may furthermore remind the reader that the actual order of magnitude of the outdoor cremations visible on these air photos was about 60-70 corpses per day, a figure that is absolutely out of balance with the story of mass cremations as alleged by orthodox historians. As we saw in the beginning, F. Piper claims that in the summer of 1944 about 20,000 Jews were gassed each day, with 10,000 of their corpses being cremated in the crematoria and the other 10,000 in the incineration trenches!
Orthodox historiography knows nothing specific about the incineration trenches and is not in a position to say anything about their number, their location, their dimensions, or their capacity.
The testimonies of the former detainees contradict each other regarding the number, location, dimensions, and capacity of the incineration trenches.
The testimonies of the former detainees are radically refuted by the air photos of Birkenau.
If the story of mass exterminations at Birkenau were true, it would have been necessary and even indispensable for the SS, during the deportation of the Hungarian Jews to Birkenau, to carry out the projects for installations of mass cremation envisioned in early 1943, as is demonstrated by the corresponding fabrications of Jan Sehn and Franciszek Piper.
An outdoor cremation activity does emerge from the documents for the summer of 1944, but its order of magnitude is far lower than, and absolutely incompatible with, the enormous figures brandished by orthodox historiography.
The ground-level photographs do show an outdoor cremation activity in the north yard of Crematorium V, but its dimensions are extremely small and absolutely incompatible with the immense order of magnitude argued by orthodox historiography.
The reports of the motor pool of the Central Construction Office for the period March 15 through June 15, 1944, show a perfectly normal activity of the vehicles. For the month of May 15 through June 15 there is a maximum of 2,315 trips with a total load of 11,253 tons of materials. (In September of 1943 there were 3,237 trips!) However – assuming the hypothesis of a mass extermination – 8,111 trips for a total load of 39,200 tons would have been necessary merely for the transportation of the firewood and coke and for the removal of the ash. In the same way, the report in question should show at least 14,426 trips instead of 6,315, with a load of at least 69,853 tons instead of 30,653 tons for the three-month period covered.
If the story of a mass extermination at Birkenau were true, the air photos would show:
– incineration trenches with a minimum surface area of 5,900 square meters in the area both around “Bunker 2” and around Crematorium V,
– piles of earth excavated from the trenches with a total volume of at least 6,500 cubic meters,
– a supply of at least 1,570 tons of wood for the cremation of May 31, corresponding to a pile of wood 50 m long, 35 m wide and 2 m high, i.e. a total surface area larger than Crematoria IV and V put together,
– dozens of trucks for the transportation of the wood and the removal of the ash,
– a camp railway with flatcars for the transportation of the corpses from the gas chambers to the incineration trenches,
– a concrete platform 60 by 15 meters (or 900 m²) i.e. a surface area larger than Crematorium V in the yard of this very crematorium,
– a fence made of branches running south and west of Crematorium V, some 150 m long,
– smoking chimneys at the crematoria.
Although the air photos show an area of some 50 m² near Crematorium V from which smoke emanates, these photos show:
– no trace of trenches or smoke around “Bunker 2,”
– no trace of any excavated earth,
– no trace of any piles of wood for the cremation,
– no trace of any trucks,
– no trace of a camp railway,
– no trace of a concrete platform 60 by 15 meters,
– no trace of a hedge made of branches allegedly some 150 meters long to the south and west of Crematorium V;
– at most one single smoke column rising from the chimney of Crematorium III (air photo of August 20, 1944).
All the documentary and photographic evidence examined in this study converges on a single and irrefutable conclusion:
The story of the gassing and the cremation of the Hungarian Jews at Birkenau has no foundation in history. It is a simple propaganda story invented and structured on the basis of the elements provided by the real but insignificant and sporadic cremation of registered detainees in the yard of Crematorium V.
In Part One of this study I have demonstrated that the story of the mass extermination of the Hungarian Jews in the period of May through July of 1944 has no historical basis. In this context, however, two important questions regarding the so-called Sonderkommando remain to be clarified. As Franciszek Piper has noted:[220]
“the ‘Sonderkommando’ reached its maximum numerical strength (about 900 persons) in early summer of 1944 at the height of the extermination of the Hungarian Jews.”
Except for F. Piper, the other orthodox historians have only an incredibly superficial knowledge of the documents concerning (inter alia) the strength of the personnel of the crematoria. For example, John C. Zimmerman knows no more than two such documents. He writes:[221]
“However, a camp document dated July 28, 1944 lists 870 stokers (heizer)[sic] and 30 wood unloaders (holzablader)[sic] assigned in two shifts to the four crematoria. A similar report from August 29 shows 874 workers assigned to the four crematoria in two 12 hour shifts. These two reports on the strength of the crematoria detail further reinforce the credibility of the eyewitnesses. This extremely high number is far beyond any amount that would be needed for a normal death rate. There is no benign explanation for this number, and deniers have never addressed the issue.”
As far as the “credibility of the eyewitnesses” is concerned, I have demonstrated in Part One of this study that all testimonies of all self-styled “eyewitnesses” (members of the Sonderkommando) concerning the alleged incineration trenches are – purely and simply – propagandistic lies. I will add that all testimonies of all self-styled “eyewitnesses” on the subject of the cremation capacity of the Birkenau crematoria are technically ludicrous – starting with D. Paisikovic (“the corpses burned completely within about 4 minutes”)[222] and ending with M. Nyiszli (“each day, a total 20,000 persons move through the gas chambers and from there into the incineration furnaces”).[223]
As I have explained elsewhere,[224] these absurd testimonies were concocted by the witnesses together with the experts of the Extraordinary Soviet Commission of Inquiry on Auschwitz and were used to prop up the propaganda story of the extermination of four million persons. This figure would have found little credence if the “eyewitnesses” had not attributed a manifestly absurd capacity to the Birkenau crematoria.
The second question waiting to be clarified is the following: in the documents that speak of the strength of the crematorium personnel, the latter are subdivided into day and night shifts. Hence, one could argue that the furnaces were running day and night, which would be consistent with the mass extermination of the Hungarian Jews.
Let me first state that the term Sonderkommando as used in connection with the personnel of the crematoria does not appear in any document of the camp administration. These workers, as we will see in the section to follow, were called “Krematoriumspersonal” in the documents or were indicated by the designation of the corresponding “Kommando.” On the other hand, there were at Auschwitz-Birkenau at least 11 Sonderkommandos, which had nothing to do with the crematoria.[225] There was nothing special about the “Kommando” for the crematoria.
The documentation regarding the strength of the personnel of the crematoria in 1944 is very fragmentary, except for the month of August. I have assembled the data contained in all available documents in the tables in the appendix.
1. We see, first of all, that the increase in the strength of the crematorium personnel is undeniable, but it has no necessary relationship with the deportation of the Hungarian Jews. On May 15, 1944, the workforce was brought up from 214 detainees (for the period between April 20 and May 3) to 315, but it is not known when it rose to 900 detainees. The latter figure appears for the first time in a document dated July 28, i.e. 17 days after the last transport of Hungarian Jews had arrived at Auschwitz.
2. As we have seen above, John C. Zimmerman finds no “benign explanation” for the increase of the crematorium personnel to over 900 detainees – but does the hypothesis of the mass extermination furnish us with a reasonable explanation?
During the questioning by the Soviet officers, Szlama Dragon and Henryk Tauber agreed on the following distribution of the personnel for one shift (day or night) in Crematoria II-III:[226]
Task | # of detainees |
Cleaning undressing room, | 15 detainees |
Removal of the corpses from the gas chamber | 15 detainees |
Loading of the corpses into the elevator | 2 detainees |
“Barbers” | 4 detainees |
“Dentists” | 2 detainees |
Operating the gasifiers (i.e. hearths) | 2 detainees |
Operating the elevator | 2 detainees |
Unloading the elevator | 2 detainees |
Transportation of the bodies to the furnaces | 2 detainees |
Introduction of the bodies into the furnaces | 10 detainees |
Assistants to “shift leader” | 4 detainees |
Total | 60 detainees |
Henryk Tauber, moreover, has furnished us with the following distribution of detainees to the crematoria:[227]
Crematorium II | 120 detainees (in 2 shifts |
Crematorium III | 120 detainees (in 2 shifts |
Crematorium IV | 60 detainees |
Crematorium V | 300 detainees |
“Separate gas chamber no. 2 | 300 detainees |
Total | 900 detainees |
Let us look first of all into the personnel of the crematoria. The witnesses’ statements need to be seen on the background of the claim that 3,000 persons were gassed and cremated each day in each of Crematoria II and III.[228] This means that in Crematoria II and III alone, 6,000 persons were gassed and cremated on a daily basis. Sixty detainees were assigned to Crematorium IV for the claimed gassing of (3,000÷15×8=) 1,600 persons, while Crematorium V was not in operation (the 300 inmates listed by Tauber allegedly worked outdoors at the pyres). If correlating the number of inmates working in each crematorium with the number of claimed victims, the personnel for the four crematoria, if they all operated, should have been 120 inmates each for Crematoria II and III, and 60 each for Crematoria IV and V, amounting to a total of 360.
However, on January 15, 1944, the personnel of the crematoria amounted to 383 detainees, to 414 detainees on January 31, 1944, and to 405 detainees on February 15, 1944.
According to Danuta Czech’s Kalendarium, about 5,800 detainees were gassed in all of January of 1944, and some 5,400 in February, i.e. some 190 each day on average. It follows that for an activity 50 times lower than that of the summer of 1944, the workforce in January and February of 1944 was even larger than it was to be later! This clearly shows that there is no relationship between the workforce in the crematoria and the claimed gassings. This is all the more evident because the first documented increase in the workforce occurred at a time – on May 15, 1944 – when the Birkenau crematoria were in a state of repair (see Subsection 10.3.4.).
Tauber states furthermore that some 600 detainees worked on the alleged incineration trenches, 300 of them around Crematorium V and another 300 near the so-called “Bunker 2.” However, as I have demonstrated in Part One, there has never been any outdoor cremation site in the area of “Bunker 2,” whereas near Crematorium V a single site of some 50 m² is documented. Aside from that, in the two ground-level photographs which show it, we can see only eight detainees at work, a number that is perfectly adequate for the outdoor cremation of a few dozen corpses, But then, what were the other 592 detainees allegedly employed at non-existent incineration trenches doing all day?
3. According to orthodox historiography, the so-called Sonderkommando was from time to time totally or partially eliminated by the SS as “Geheimnisträger” (carriers of secrets), and the detainees making up this unit were perfectly aware of this. M. Nyiszli even goes so far as to state that they were completely eliminated every four months.[229] Danuta Czech writes than on September 23, 1944, “200 Jewish detainees of the Sonderkommando who had been assigned to the cremation of corpses in open pits,” were gassed in the disinfestation chamber of the so-called Kanada 1 storage area, “now that the pits have been filled in and leveled.”[230] There is no documentary support that these detainees were actually killed. The only thing one can say with any certainty is that on September 7 the crematorium personnel numbered 874 and was down to 662 on October 3. Nothing prevents us from assuming that the 212 missing detainees were transferred to another camp or assigned to other Kommandos. Let me add that the motivation for the alleged massacre – the elimination of witnesses of the alleged mass outdoor cremations – is numerically unconvincing: if we are to believe H. Tauber, then there would have been 600 detainees working on the alleged incineration trenches. From the end of August onwards, once these trenches had become inactive and had been filled in (see Subsection 10.3.1), these 600 “carriers of secrets” were out of work, but in spite of this, they were maintained in the so-called Sonderkommando up to September 23, the day on which only 200 of them were allegedly killed!
It should be mentioned in passing that Danuta Czech attributes the following motivation to the revolt of the so-called Sonderkommando of October 7, 1944:[231]
“On Saturday morning, the resistance movement of the camp informs the head of the fighting section of the Sonderkommando that it had received word about plans by the camp commanders to liquidate soonest the Sonderkommando members still alive. This information probably coincides with the news of a few days back that a move by the SS to reduce the strength of the Kommandos of Crematoria IV and V by 300 named detainees, allegedly destined for a transport [elsewhere], is to be carried out around noon. The detainees named decide to resist.”
So the SS at Auschwitz, who is said to have assassinated 200 detainees of the crematoria personnel on September 23, is claimed to have decided to reduce that Kommando by another 300 detainees. Under those conditions, the possibility of an insurrection of the intended victims loomed large. How did the camp authorities react to prevent it? In no way at all!
On July 28, 1944, the 903 detainees of the crematorium personnel were watched over by only 22 SS guards! The number of guards stayed practically constant throughout the month of August, with a peak of 24 guards on the 6th and the 9th for 903 and 897 detainees respectively. On average, there was one guard on duty for 40 detainees. On September 7, the camp authorities which, as alleged, were already planning to exterminate 200 detainees of the crematorium personnel, even reduced the number of guards to 12 for 874 detainees instead of increasing it! On October 3, after the alleged extermination of the 200 members of the so-called Sonderkommando, which should have made the SS be alert about a potential revolt among the detainees at the crematoria, there were still only 12 guards for 662 detainees.
The revolt of the Sonderkommando on October 7, 1944, is not mentioned in any document. The only document which is cited in this context is the garrison order no. 26/44 of October 12, 1944, which states:[232]
“On active service in the fight against the enemy and true to their oath on the Führer lost their lives on October 7, 1944.”
This is followed by the names of three SS-Unterscharführer, Rudolf Erler, Willi Freese, and Josef Purke. The circumstances of the deaths of these three non-coms are not known.
The strength of the crematorium personnel fell from 661 detainees on October 8 to 212 on the October 9th and to 198 on the 10th. Besides, from the 10th onwards, Crematorium V remained unmanned, which confirms that it had suffered irreparable damage. On the air photograph of December 21, 1944, it appears to have been completely demolished (see Document 42). However, no Central Construction Office document speaking of the causes and the extent of the damage has been found, although such considerations would have entered into the cognizance of this office. There is no documentary evidence that the 463 detainees missing had been killed either.
According to D. Czech, a “selection” was made among the 200 detainees assigned to the crematoria on November 26, 1944: 30 were sent to Crematorium V, 70 were assigned to the “demolition squad” for demolishing the crematoria, and 100 were killed.[233] Danuta Czech tells us that “they were probably shot in one of the incineration trenches at Birkenau,”[233] but she forgets that she had written earlier that these alleged incineration trenches had been filled in at the end of August.
As far as the remaining detainees are concerned, the Kommando “53-B Heizer Krematorium IV” was in fact made up of 30 detainees on January 16, 1945, among whom the Poles Józef Ilczuk (ID 14916), Wacław Lipka (ID 2520), and Mieczysław Morawa (ID 5730), all housed in Barrack 16 of the camp’s Sector BIId, who had the functions of Kapo and foremen.[234] But according to the worksheet of January 16, 1945, this Kommando did not have any guards![235]
This document also mentions an “Abbruchkommando Krematorium” (Demolition Detail Crematorium) designated 104-B, made up of 70 detainees. It, too, did not have any SS guards, which proves that the crematorium personnel may well have been assigned to some other Kommando and that the reduction in strength did not necessarily mean that those detainees had been killed.
All of the future “witnesses” of the alleged extermination, that is to say: Henryk Tauber, Szlama Dragon, Stanisław Jankowski, Miklos Nyiszli, Henryk Mandelbaum, and Sigismund Bendel, belonged to these two Kommandos, but instead of being exterminated as “carriers of secrets,” those hundred detainees were peaceably evacuated on January 18, 1945.[236] Another five “carriers of secrets” – Józef Ilczuk, Wacław Lipka, Mieczysław Morawa (see above), Władysław Biskup (ID 14501), and Jean Agrestowski (ID 74545) had been transferred to Mauthausen on January 5, 1945, where they are said to have been shot on April 3[237] (but there is no document to sustain this), which means that these detainees were moved from a mass extermination camp to an ordinary concentration camp only to be shot there later on! This makes no sense, because it would have been easier to kill them right there in Auschwitz.
Actually, the insignificant number of SS guards assigned to the crematorium personnel and the normal evacuation of at least 105 detainees that had been part of it demonstrates that the SS at least believed they had nothing to fear from these detainees. Hence, the crematorium Kommando was never party to a “terrible secret” (Walter Laqueur’s expression) and was therefore never treated as such.
It is thus clear that the alleged mass extermination did not, in fact, justify the increase of the crematorium staff to over 900 persons, nor did, even less so, the normal cremation activity of the corpses of detainees who had died a natural death. But then why this increase?
The most plausible motive is an administrative one. In the “File memo on inmate deployment in the POW camp” written on March 1, 1943 by SS-Untersturmführer Jährling we can read:[238]
“On the basis of a meeting of the camp commander, SS-Obersturmbannführer Höss, with the head of Central Construction Office, SS-Sturmbannführer Bischoff, additional Kommandos in addition to those already assigned to the POW camp should be called in, because several thousand detainees in the camp have [as yet] no assignment.”
As early as September 4, 1943, the head of Office DII of SS WVHA, SS-Obersturmbannführer Maurer, had complained to SS-Hauptsturmführer Schwarz, head of department for labor deployment at Auschwitz, that out of the 25,000 Jewish detainees at Auschwitz only 3,581 were registered as working and had asked:[239]
“What are the other 21,500 Jews doing all day?”
As evidenced by Kommandanturbefehl (garrison headquarter order) No. 6/44 of April 22, 1944, and No. 8/44 of July 14, both signed by SS-Hauptsturmführer Schwarz, head of the Monowitz camp,[240] the SS, in their effort to improve the work output of the detainees, had decreed to make sure that each detainee worked in his profession. At the same time, it was necessary to raise the number of detainees employed (“Beschäftigte”) and to reduce the number of those unemployed (“Unbeschäftigte”). In the Birkenau camp, in fact, the “employed” increased considerably from early May onwards, as shown by the following table:
Date | Strength | Employed | Percentage |
March 3, 1944 | 18,403 | 6,179 | 33.57 |
May 11, 1944 | 17,589 | 6,269 | 35.64 |
May 14, 1944 | 17,358 | 6,460 | 37.21 |
May 15, 1944 | 17,529 | 6,804 | 38.81 |
July 28, 1944 | 15,298 | 8,830 | 57.71 |
July 29, 1944 | 15,266 | 8,882 | 58.18 |
Aug. 1, 1944 | 16,082 | 9,582 | 59.58 |
All Kommandos of the camp were strengthened. For example, the Kommandos which were part of “Baumaßnahmen im Standort” (garrison construction measures) – Kommandos 101-B/124-B with another three being added later – went from 1,530 detainees on May 3 to 2,140 detainees on May 15, 1944. The “Landwirtschaft” (agriculture) Kommandos grew from 160 to 373 detainees. From May until August of 1944, the detainee hours worked at the Central Construction Office went up by almost one million, from 1,955,754 to 2,943,320.[241] New Kommandos were formed and others were reorganized. Among them, there were those of the crematorium staff, which went from an initial two (206-B and 207-B) to nine (57-B/61-B).
We still have to explain why in the documents cited the detainees were working in two shifts, day and night. Does this mean that the crematorium furnaces functioned 24 hours a day? Let us look into this.
Continuous operation of the furnaces had its primary a reason in energy conservation, because by keeping a furnace warm as long as possible with cremations in series, the fuel consumption goes down considerably. In this regard, one can use as an example the operation of the Terezín (Theresienstadt) crematorium. This crematorium had four oil-fired furnaces built by Ignis Hüttenbau A.G. of Teplitz-Schönau, now Teplice in the Czech Republic, then located in the Protectorate of Bohemia and Moravia. One can see from the respective list of cremations that only one furnace was normally used and was kept hot for 14 hours at a time. The operators worked two shifts, from 6 am to 1 pm and from 1 pm to 8 pm. After some 3 weeks of operation, the furnace was taken out of service and the activity was shifted to another one, and so on.[242]
At Birkenau, such a practice was even more necessary because of the scarcity of coke. As I have pointed out in Part One of this study, this problem had caused the camp authorities to supply the crematoria with fire-wood, and for that reason the Kommando 61-B Holzablader (wood unloaders) was formed.
The second reason for a night shift was the decree by SS-Standartenführer Mrugowski of July 31, 1943, stating:[243]
“the corpses are to be removed to the mortuaries of the crematoria twice a day, i.e. in the morning and in the evening.”
These measures, approved by the commander of the camp, were still in force on May 25, 1944, when garrison physician SS-Hauptsturmführer Wirths stressed:[244]
“removal [of the corpses] to the crematoria has been organized and occurs twice a day, in the morning and in the evening.”
The transportation of corpses to the crematoria in the evening hours (see Section 12.5.) justified – even necessitated – the continuous operation of a limited number of furnaces and hence a night shift for the crematorium staff.
There still remains a final point: was the practice of running two shifts a permanent measure? The air photos of August of 1944 allow us to give a definitive answer to this question.
In Chapter 10, I showed that the absence of smoke from the chimneys of the crematoria is proof of their inactivity. Therefore, on August 23 and 25 and on September 13 all four crematoria were inactive, and on August 20 at most Crematorium III was in operation. However, according to the worksheets there were still two regular shifts (day and night) specified for the crematoria,[245] hence those shifts do not necessarily show that the crematoria were in active operation 24 hours a day.
As I have pointed out above, the photograph of August 20 is of particular importance in this respect because it shows smoke coming both from the north the yard of Crematorium V and possibly from the chimney of Crematorium III. Yet on that day no alleged homicidal gassings are said to have been carried out.[246] Then what did the crematorium personnel on the day shift do in the crematoria?
It is thus clear that the essential reason for the practice of day and night shifts in the worksheets mentioned was closely linked with the need for an apparent maximum employment of the detainees: The crematorium staff was formally on duty day and night, but would effectively work, in limited numbers, only as necessary, but this did not happen every day.
In conclusion it can be said that the increase in the workforce of the so-called Sonderkommando and its assignment to day and night shifts does not prove anything with respect to mass exterminations at Auschwitz.
The witnesses who had been part of the crematorium staff hardly ever speak of the cremation of registered detainees, as if there had not been any such incinerations, and as if it had not been necessary to use the mortuaries of the crematoria for precisely what their name implied, but only and at all times as “undressing rooms” and “gas chambers.”
In a separate article I have demonstrated on the basis of previously unknown documents that the mortuaries of the Birkenau crematoria, ever since they had been put into operation starting in March of 1943, were not used – nor could they have been used – as “undressing rooms” and “gas chambers” within the claimed mass extermination by means of gas.[243] This aspect becomes particularly important for the second half of May of 1944, during which the death rate among the registered detainees was threateningly high. Conditions were, in fact, so serious that on April 12, 1944, the head of the Gestapo, Heinrich Müller, sent a letter to the SS WVHA concerning “Internment of female detainees of German Reich nationality at the women’s concentration camp Auschwitz,” in which he prohibited such internments and ordered the transfer to Concentration Camp Ravensbrück[247] of those already present at Auschwitz.
From the surviving, rather fragmentary documents it emerges that some 800 inmates died at Birkenau in May 1944, but the total figure for that month was probably twice as high.
On May 22, 1944, a meeting was held at Auschwitz, attended by SS-Obersturmbannführer Höss, SS-Hauptsturmführer Baer, who had been named commander of Auschwitz I on May 11, SS-Sturmbannführer Bischoff, then head of Construction Inspection of Waffen-SS and Police Silesia, and SS-Obersturmführer Jothann, head of Central Construction Office. In the minutes of the meeting, written by Jothann the following day, we read:[248]
“SS-Obersturmbannführer Höss points out that according to a decree in force the daily load of L.[= corpses] is to be collected by a specifically appointed truck in the morning hours of each day, therefore an accumulation of corpses cannot occur if this decree is respected and no necessity exists as far as the erection of the above-mentioned halls is concerned.”
The “decree in force” was the one mentioned by Bischoff to the garrison physician dated August 4, 1943:[249]
“SS-Standartenführer Mrugowski declared in the meeting of July 31 that the corpses are to be transferred to the mortuaries of the crematoria twice a day, in the morning and in the evening, which obviates the need for the separate erection of mortuaries in the subsections”
On May 25, SS garrison physician Dr. Wirths sent the camp commander a letter, in which one can read the following:[250]
“In the detainee sickbays of Concentration Camp Auschwitz a certain number of corpses accumulate naturally each day whose removal to the crematoria has been organized and takes place twice a day, in the morning and in the evening. In view of the scarcity of vehicles and, at times, of fuel, it does, however, occur that the corpses remain where they are for up to 24 hours.”
However, the second half of May of 1944 was also the period during which the deportation of the Hungarian Jews was taking place, which was known to all persons present, particularly to Rudolf Höss. The first transports arrived on May 17. Up to May 22, the day of the meeting just mentioned, some 62,000 Hungarian Jews had arrived at Auschwitz,[251] more than 45,000 of whom were allegedly gassed and cremated, if we follow orthodox historiography.[252]
If this were true, the mortuaries in the crematoria at Birkenau would have been permanently swamped with gassing victims during the period that interests us. But then how could Rudolf Höss blithely re-invoke the order of moving to those mortuaries the bodies of registered detainees who had died of natural causes in the camp?
No matter how you look at it, Rudolf Höss’s order to take those bodies to the mortuaries of the crematoria twice a day demonstrates that the mortuaries were, in fact, not clogged or used for other purposes and refutes categorically the story of the mass extermination of the Hungarian Jews allegedly committed in those crematoria.
By Willy Wallwey
The camp Auschwitz-Birkenau, which is today generally referred to as “concentration and extermination camp”, was originally designated as a “prisoner of war camp” at the end of 1941 by the German authorities.[253] The Construction Section BIa was finished in March 1942 and was occupied mostly by Soviet prisoners of war until August 1942. The designation of the camp remained the same, though it subsequently had more the character of a concentration camp, meaning that it was mainly filled with criminal and political prisoners, including Jews, rather than prisoners of war. The camp also bore the name “KL Auschwitz II”. “KL” was the official German abbreviation for concentration camp.
A drawing of mine showing the camp’s state of construction in April/May 1942 is shown in Illustration 1. In the literature, maps of the Birkenau camp are very often false, since in almost all cases the final state of construction of late 1944 is shown, even when the map is used to refer to events that took place in earlier years. This leads to wrong assumptions and conclusions about events of the camp’s history.
According to witness testimonies there was an old farmhouse to the north of the Birkenau camp whose rooms were allegedly used as gas chambers for the killing of human beings since March 1942, cf. Illustrations 1-3. In its vicinity, the accounts state, there were mass graves which later were allegedly also used to burn corpses.[254] It must be noted that there are no indications of where this Bunker 1 allegedly stood.[255]
|
Illustration 1: POW Camp Birkenau in May 1942: |
The witness Maurice Benroubi testified:[256]
“They [the Sonderkommando men] put them [the corpses] in front of graves about 20m long, 3m wide and 2.50m deep.
There were about ten graves ready to receive the martyrs. Parallel to these open graves there were some that had been covered with earth and these extended over about 300 meters […]”
Each pit thus had a surface area of 60 m2 and a volume of 150 m3. If assuming ten of them, this result in: area = 600 m2, volume = 1,500 m3.
Witness Milton Buki stated :[257]
“We took the trolleys to a grave about 40 meters long and I think about 6 meters wide [240 m2], which was about 100 meters away from the house.”
Witness Moshe M. Garbarz said:[258]
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Illustration 2: POW Camp Birkenau; Soviet sketch of the alleged locations of Bunker 1 and 2 |
“We saw big rectangles traced on the ground twenty or thirty meters wide by fifty or sixty meters long. In one of them the ground was stained red.”
The witness indicates that he understood the rectangles to be grave plots. Later on he adds, regarding the depth of the pit, that it was “about one meter fifty deep.”[258]
The surface area of one of these pits thus would have been between 1,000 and 1,800 m2. The amount of excavated soil would have been between 1,500 m3 and 2,700 m3. Wherever such a pit is claimed to have been, right next to it the respective amount of excavated, slightly loosened soil must have been located. Nothing is said about the number of pits. From what Garbarz states later, however, it can be deduced that there must have been at least three of them. The size differences to the other witnesses’ claims is considerable and cannot be ignored. The witness does not indicate why people who have been gassed were bleeding.
There is no documentary evidence to corroborate these claims. Even J.‑C. Pressac questions some of these witness statements, which furthermore are quite contradictory with respect to the number and sizes of the pits as well.[259]
Regarding this house, located to the northwest of the camp, witnesses also tell of gassings and of incinerations in pits from June 30, 1942 until spring of 1943 (Illustration 3). This ‘Bunker’ was allegedly brought back into operation in May/June 1944.[260] In this area, foundations of former buildings used for unknown purposes can indeed be made out today, and they are also recorded on a Polish map of this region.[261]
Regarding the pits, the witness Szlama Dragon stated, for 1942:[262]
“On the other side of the cottage there were four pits 30 meters long, 7 meters wide and 3 meters deep […].”
The witness Dr. Miklos Nyiszli states for 1944 (which we shall come back to in 2.4):[263]
“The pyre was a ditch 50 yards long, six yards wide and three yards deep […]”
A second Soviet sketch dated March 3, 1945, shows a burning pit of 30 m2, see Illustration 2.[264] Again the discrepancies regarding size are considerable. There are also no corroborative documents.
Various witnesses tell of the burial of victims of the first typhus epidemic, and of the burning of these bodies after their exhumation between September 21, 1942 and November 30, 1942 (Illustration 3).[265] The files stored in the Russian State Archive of War in Moscow[266] report in detail about the first epidemic, which had been introduced from outside by civilian labor personnel.[267] It began on July 1, 1942. Crematorium I, which at this time was the only one available, was not of sufficient capacity to cremate all the victims, which were therefore buried in Birkenau. Other casualties had already been buried in the same area earlier. The numbers given vary from 50,000 to 107,000. The ‘body toxins’ resulting from the decomposition process threatened to poison the groundwater, which was used for the drinking water supply for the entire area. Hence, the corpses had to be exhumed. They were then cremated, first on funeral pyres, later in pits. Thus go the reports. No publication that we know of makes any mention of the number of pits.
Witnesses tell of burning pits in the area north of Crematorium V between the building and the ditch in front of the fence, in May to June 1944 (Illustration 3). Since the crematoria were out of service due to damage, a situation arose “[…] that open-air incineration ditches had to be rapidly dug […].”[268] Pressac also mentions “five small incineration ditches” near Crematorium V. These, he says, became necessary because Crematorium IV had been closed since May 1943 and Crematorium V could not be adequately repaired.[269] As witnesses to these pits, Pressac quotes Dragon:[270]
“[…] Jews were burned in five ditches dug behind Crematorium V.”,
as well as the witness Henryk Tauber:[270]
“It was realized that the ditches incinerated the corpses better, [than the furnaces; auth.…] once the ditches entered service”
The witness Filip Müller, whom Pressac accuses of errors and lies,[270] reports:[271]
“[…] work on digging five pits behind Crematorium V was soon […] begun.”
“The two pits that had been dug were 40 to 50 m long, about 8 m wide and 2 m deep “
There then follows a detailed description of the “[…] drainage channel for the human fat […]” in the pits. On page 211, F. Müller continues:
“In the back yard of the Crematorium, Moll ordered three more burning pits excavated, so that he had five at his disposal there now.”
The measurements of these alleged pits result from these statements: total area = 5 pits of each 40 m or 50 m × 8 m = 1,600 or 2,000 m² and a total volume of excavated earth (2 m deep) of 3,200 or 4,000 m³. This earth had to be disposed of somehow, leaving visible traces, but nothing of this is ever mentioned. Further, F. Müller mentions a concrete surface of 60 × 15 m = 900m2, where bones that had not burned up were allegedly crushed. Of course, the Allied air photos taken in 1944 show no traces of this concrete surface, any more than they show the pits themselves, their excavated earth, or the access roads for the transport of bodies and fuel.[272]
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Illustration 3: State of construction of the POW camp Birkenau in September 1942, including alleged Bunkers 1 and 2 and mass graves/burning pits. |
The fire in the burning pits could generate heat of several 100°C, even 1,000°C. The question is: how close can a person not wearing protective clothing approach such a blaze? According to the eyewitness testimony, a team of laborers worked there without any protective gear. Any fireman could comment on this.
Pressac’s ‘Document 8’[273] also contradicts the eyewitness testimony. This cost estimate for Crematorium II, reviewed on May 26, 1944, shows clearly that the furnace pit for the cremation furnaces of Crematorium V was built as a waterproof tub, and that during the excavation of this pit the groundwater of the immediate vicinity was artificially frozen to prevent it from filling up the construction pit.[274] The cross-section diagram of this building, No. 1678,[275] shows that the upper edge of the base of the tub lay about one meter below ground level. Crematorium V did not have a cellar underneath. This proves that this furnace pit extended into the groundwater!
But if this furnace pit had to be protected against the groundwater, this proves that no burning pits as described in the foregoing could have been possible at this location.
It must also be remembered that the grounds of the camp sloped downwards in a northerly direction, as the Polish ordnance survey maps, scale 1:25,000, indicate (Illustration 5).
One section of a work authored by the late Dr. Jan Sehn, former Auschwitz inmate and later director of the Auschwitz Museum, needs to be mentioned here, since it had caused some confusion:[276]
“At the bottom of the pit, thick wooden logs were piled up, followed by increasingly small branches and twigs. Corpses were thrown on top of this base. After that, the SS men supervising this work poured petrol into all four corners of the pit, lit a rubber comb and threw it onto the spots moistened by petrol.”
Every boy scout in the world knows that there is no way one can light a fire in a pit this way. Yet this statement was never criticized. There is apparently not a single former boy scout among the world’s historians! Such examples could be quoted continuously for pages on end. But this is not the purpose of this paper. Such examples could only emphasize why we pose questions like: how could it happen that such witness statements passed unchallenged for so long? And why does there not exist any research into the reasons for the many impossible, so false, statements made by these witnesses?
One reason for our initial doubts is certainly the contradictions between certain eyewitness accounts. Other reasons are also obvious incompatibilities with the laws of nature. But more importantly, the first book of J.-C. Pressac made us rethink our hitherto-held beliefs. Pressac was the first to publish documentary proof for—or better, against—what had been claimed by eye witnesses only until then. Unfortunately, Pressac’s important book is hardly known, and it is unlikely that the historians have read it thoroughly, if at all. If they had, they would know his massive critique of mainstream historiography and the eyewitnesses. The historians did not investigate, they “believed.” Did they do it out of fear? It is also unavoidable to accuse the historians for not having included scholars of other fields in their research, like engineers and architects. They acted wrongly and arrogantly! Or did they fear to become victims of persecution and—in Europe—even of prosecution? Especially German historians know that the wrong opinion in these matters is prosecuted by public prosecutors!
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Illustration 4: POW camp Birkenau in June 1944, including the alleged Bunker 2 and incineration pits. |
Whereas most eyewitness statements existed already shortly after the war, documentary and physical evidence became available in abundance only since the 1990s. Many documents and sketches regarding the matter of the groundwater in Birkenau have become known only since the opening of the Moscow archives. And since there are obvious contradictions between the witness statements on the one hand and the documentary and physical evidence on the other hand, some historians tried to adjust either the witness statements or the meaning of documents and physical evidence by ‘interpreting’ them. However, any attempt to interpret documents and physical evidence in a way that would confirm the eyewitness testimony perforce must fail, for physical and scientific facts are not open to arbitrary interpretation.
For persons who lived through these times, the insistence on erroneous testimony is a very human phenomenon. For this reason, one should not level accusations at persons who suffered injustices, even if they did make false statements – perhaps unintentionally; those who should be blamed are the ones who sensationalize these statements. The Berlin daily paper Die Welt of February 7, 1997 published an interesting article on this topic, titled “Wenn die Erinnerung eines Zeugen trügt” (When a witness’s memory errs).[277] This article confirmed the old-established forensic guideline that “physical evidence takes precedence over witness evidence.”
We have used the following knowledge and materials for our analyses:
These are old maps from the Austro-Hungarian monarchy (still available for purchase today), scale = 1:200,000, dating from 1889, 1905 and 1915. Nothing could show more readily why the area around Auschwitz is so waterlogged. A large number of ponds, fed by the groundwater, stretches like a string of pearls along the Vistula and Sola rivers. This abundance of water, together with the abundance of coal of this area, was decisive for the decision to erect a coal gasification and liquefaction plant of the German chemical corporation I.G. Farbenindustrie A.G. in this area. During the trial against the responsible officers of this corporation after the war, the witness Otto Ambros listed the requirements for this huge factory:[278] one million tons of coal and 15,000 m³ of water per hour.
We also consulted a Polish map, scale 1:25,000, dating from 1986 (Illustration 5). Both camps are shown on the maps, as is the industrial plant of the German chemical corporation I.G. Farbenindustrie A.G. The advantage of the scale of these maps is that they show the drainage ditches and even the smallest water surfaces. From the direction of their flow, especially north of the camp, they show how the ground drops off towards the Vistula. The course of ditches corresponds to the planning shown in the “Melioration, Teil III” of August 15, 1942.[279]
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Illustration 5: Detail of a Polish map of, scale 1:25,000. Elevations used in this paper are underlined. |
These photos were taken between end of 1943 and end of 1944 during reconnaissance flights as part of the Allied bombing campaign against industrial targets in the German industrial area of Upper Silesia. Some of them have been known since 1979, and those of interest here were thoroughly interpreted by John C. Ball.[272]
The documents used were primarily files from the “Zentralbauleitung der Waffen-SS und Polizei, Auschwitz” (Central Building Administration of the Waffen-SS and Police, Auschwitz), insofar as they have been published or could be obtained. Tens of thousands more exist which we have not yet been able to access, basically due to our limited financial possibilities. For this reason, we must expect that we shall have to revise our findings in matters of detail in the future.
He has performed an on-site examination of the terrain and has taken a series of slides; we are of course aware that the conditions prevailing today are comparable to those of 1942 only to a limited degree.
We have in our possession a four-page report dated October 29, 1941, based on the study of a professor from the University of Breslau. It points out the groundwater flows “accompanying the Vistula, Przemsza and Sola Rivers”.[280]
Another professor of the same university photographed and mapped the area’s flora. Additionally, a groundwater observation station was erected. We have not yet analyzed these files. Since one study determined that the groundwater was “not even fit to rinse one’s mouth”, reference is made to the dams as a source of drinking water. However, mineral water was also distributed. The report proves that the authorities proceeded very carefully and professionally.[281]
The Austrian map of 1905, scale = 1:200,000, clearly shows that string of ponds parallel to the Vistula and the Sola, fed with groundwater stemming from the west Beskides, a mountain range south of Auschwitz.
The excellent Polish maps clarify the circumstances and indicate that the ponds probably formed as a result of the exploitation of gravel deposits and that their water table corresponds to the groundwater level.
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Illustration 6: Air Photo of POW camp Birkenau form Sept. 13, 1944.285 |
Pressac documents this pond landscape with a “plan of the sphere of interest of the concentration camp Auschwitz”.[282] It confirms that most of those ponds are the result of gravel mining. An activity report of April 19, 1941, mentions “Added drawings of new ponds in the plan of the sphere of interest.”[283] A separate surveyor’s office was doing this work. The voluminous files of this department have not yet been analyzed and will certainly give new insights, not only about the topic discussed here.
Every publication of significance about these camps points out that the terrain is swampy. Logically, the only terrain that can be swampy is one where the groundwater level is very high or, as in this case, almost even with the ground. Pressac confirms this fact with the following words:[284]
“The nature of the land at Birkenau, where the groundwater is almost at surface level, […]”
An Allied air photo from 1944 shows,[285] to the north of the Birkenau camp, a 2.5-kilometer-long strip of land, running west to east, where a herringbone-pattern system of drainage ditches is visible, approximately 1.25 kilometers wide and expanded in sections to reach right to the Vistula.[286] The photo shows that the drainage work in the western regions was done only shortly before the air photo was taken.
In the camp itself as well, drainage was performed between the drainage ditches that had been dug around the individual camp sectors.[287] The entire ditch system is clearly shown on the Polish map, scale 1:25,000 (Illustration 6).
From a building description of October 30, 1941:[288]
“The groundwater table varies between depths of 0.30 and 1.20 m.” (Emphasis added)
In a letter dated October 17, 1942, regarding Crematorium II:[289]
“[…] the building reaches more than 2 m into the groundwater […]” (Emphasis added)
In a letter dated March 17, 1943, regarding the large delousing facility (BW 32, ‘Large Disinfestation Facility’ i.e. the so-called ‘Central Sauna’), with reference to structural engineering:[290]
“[…] highest groundwater level may be taken as 0.30 m below the surface.”
In another letter dated June 4, 1943, regarding the same building:[291]
“[…] heating pits are relatively deep, and so insulation from the groundwater, which is about 20 cm below the surface, is necessary […]” (all emphases added)
On the plan of the disinfestation facility (BW 32), No. 2159 of March 8, 1943, the elevation clearly shows a line labeled “groundwater table”.[292]
Another sign is the planning and construction of buildings with tub foundations. Buildings are built with this kind of foundation when their basements stand in the groundwater, i.e. if they need to be waterproof. The basement becomes a pontoon, as it were, whose own weight, together with the weight of the superstructure, prevents it from bobbing up. The buildings are constructed in double-shell fashion in these parts. A waterproof layer separates the two shells. During the construction phase, the groundwater level is either lowered with sump pumps or held back by artificially freezing the construction site. All the basement parts and basement pits in Birkenau are constructed as tub foundations. Both methods increase construction costs considerably. For this reason, the construction of basements was reduced to a minimum after the erection of the Crematoria II and III.
It is important to note that the buildings with tub foundations listed in the following are spread over the entire camp from north to south as well as from east to west. This indicates that the groundwater situation was similar in all parts of the camp.
1. Crematorium II | BW 30 |
2. Crematorium III | BW 30a |
3. Crematorium IV | BW 30b |
4. Crematorium V | BW 30c |
5. Disinfestation Facility | BW 32 |
6. Water Treatment Plant | BW 35 |
Due to their small surface area and depth, the subsoil at Crematoria IV and V was artificially frozen.[293] The excavation pits of the other buildings were kept clear of groundwater via sunken wells equipped with pumps.[294]
In the books with which we are familiar, one witness reports about groundwater in the aforementioned pits. This is Filip Müller in his book Sonderbehandlung.[271] Müller was a member of a Sonderkommando. On page 36 he writes about a pit into which groundwater had seeped, and about a test to see how high it was:
“Then we were told to throw the bodies into the pit. […] We took hold of the dead by their hands and feet and threw them full pitch as far towards the center of the pit as possible. When they hit the water’s surface, it splashed to all sides. Then they sank like millstones to the flat bottom, and the water closed over them.”
For the terrain all around the camps, elevation data was—surprisingly enough—already available based on sea level, albeit with zero level referring to the Adriatic Sea. This elevation, measured at the time of the Austrian monarchy, is 0.38 m below Atlantic sea level standard used otherwise in Europe.
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Illustration 7: Enlargement of the detail from the building plan for the “water treatment facility of the POW camp.” Auschwitz-Birkenau, TCIDK 502-2-148. The elevation of the construction site above sea level is clearly marked (arrow). |
Such elevations can be found, e.g., in the detailed maps of the railway facilities, including the connecting railroad tracks. It would go beyond the scope of this study to include them here, but it should be mentioned that we have them in our possession and have analyzed them.[295]
The table below lists the building plans known to us with the elevation of their terrain above sea level. These are points of reference for our further observations.
Buildings of the POW camp Birkenau, with elevation | ||||
Building | Plan | Elevation* | Date | Source |
1. Crematorium II | Huta 109/13a | 235.366 | Sept. 21, 1943 | p. 323 |
2. Crematorium III | Huta 109/14a | 235.366 | Sept. 23, 1943 | p. 325 |
3. Guard Building | ZBL 835 | 235.93 | Nov. 5, 1941 | RGVA,[296] see Ill. 7 |
4. Settling Basin BA III | ZBL 2534 | 233.71 | June 15, 1943 | p. 169 |
5. Water Treatment Plant | ZBL 2364 | 235.45 | May 15, 1943 | RGVA 502-2-148, see Ill. 8 |
* m above sea level; ** page numbers refer to J.-C. Pressac, op. cit. (note 254). |
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Illustration 8: Detail enlargement of the building plan of the main police station of the POW camp Auschwitz-Birkenau. The elevation of the construction site above sea level is clearly marked (arrow). This plan was obtained from the Moscow State Archives, and without an archival reference number. |
The Polish map referred to earlier contains several reference points with elevation given which enable us to calculate the gradient of the camp’s area in %. In Illustration 5 an excerpt of this map is shown with the elevation figures used underlined. The heights above sea level, the distances and orientations given were also calculated from this map.
At the camp’s southern border, the area declines from its southeast corner to the southwest corner from 236.3 m to 234.4 m, which corresponds to a gradient of 0.138% over a distance of 1,380 m.
Along the camp road between camp Sections II and III, the area declines in a similar way from 234.5 m at the east to 232.3 m in the west, i.e., 0.141% over 1,560 m.
The gradient changes slightly some 300 m north of the camp, inclining from 232.3 in the east to 232.8 m in the west, i.e., 0.046% over 1,080 m.
Along the eastern border of the camp, the area declines from 236.3 in the south to 232.3 m in the north, i.e., 0.182% over 2,200 m. Some 1,500 m more to the north, we find the river Vistula at a height of 227.3 m.
Along the western border of the camp, parallel to the line mentioned before, the area declines from 235.4 m in the south to 232.8 m in the north, i.e., 0.112% over 2,310 m. Some 1,375 m north of the camp, we again reach the Vistula, this time at 228.0 m over sea level.
In his first book, Pressac has reproduced a German map of the camp, in which every single barrack of camp section II is annotated in hand writing with its individual elevation over sea level.[297] The purpose of this is not clear. However, these data enabled us to draw detailed elevation lines for the camp. They start at the southeast corner of the camp at 235.5 m and end at the northwest corner at 234.5 m. They confirm both direction and amount of the gradient as established with the Polish map: the area declines 0.139% over 740 m. The direction is roughly north-northwest.
Of course, we have made more corroborating analyses which lead to the same results. It must therefore be concluded that the camp area was and still is almost level. This is also confirmed by the elevation lines in the Polish map as well as by photos of the area.
Further calculations could be done, for instance by using wartime files on drilling drinking-water wells in this area, but we have not had the opportunity to do this. D. Czech reports in her book about the research of a Prof. Dr. Ing. Zunker, Breslau, on water and pond conditions for the purpose of using the area for cattle breeding and fish farming.[281] This research was apparently the basis for the aforementioned construction description from Oct. 30, 1941 (Section 7.1.), and the well-drilling works referred to in the “Construction report for November 1941”.[298]
But since we have sufficiently exact data for several essential points of the area in question, we can already now draw conclusions about the groundwater situation in Birkenau.
The primary basis for our assessment is an “Explanatory report for the preliminary design of the new construction of the POW camp of the Waffen-SS, Auschwitz O/S”, dated October 30, 1941.[288] The soil at the construction site is described as follows:
“Soil consistency is poor. The humus soil is followed by loam and shale [a fossil-rich, grayish blue, plastic marine clay from the Tertiary period], in which gravel and sand particles of minor size are embedded. The groundwater level varies between 0.30 and 1.20 m. Parts of the terrain are boggy.” (Emph. added)
For structural-engineering calculations pertaining to the basement parts, therefore, it was necessary to proceed on the assumption of a groundwater table of 30 cm. This in and of itself shows that pits 1.5 to 3.0 m deep would perforce have collected groundwater. However, there is further evidence. All facts mentioned fit the above description perfectly. The data regarding the level and direction of flow of the groundwater as well as the content of the documents quoted agree with the other observations. We shall present further evidence with respect to two locations of burning pits as described by eyewitness testimony.
It has been shown that the furnace pit, whose upper edge was positioned approximately 1.00 m below ground level, was constructed in tub style. It has also been shown that during the construction of the building the pit was kept free of groundwater by means of artificial freezing.
Documents prove that at the location of the Large Delousing Facility (BW 32) the groundwater table was 20 cm below ground level. This building is situated approximately 270 m away from Crematorium V. Assuming a 3‰ slope of the groundwater table, and disregarding the proven slope of the terrain, the groundwater could have been at most 1.01 m below ground level. We have deliberately postulated a worst case, since it is already sufficient proof in and of itself. However, by the same logic, the groundwater cannot have been that far beneath the surface; if it had been, then on the one hand the terrain would not have been boggy, and on the other hand, ameliorative drainage would have been superfluous. Witnesses give the depth of the pits as 2 m.
Four air photos specified reveal none of the five pits attested to by witnesses.
These five pits allegedly covered a surface area of at least 1,600 m2. The material excavated from them would have required at last the same area. The concrete slab mentioned took up 900 m2. Without even taking into account that there would also have to have been room among all these items for the labor unit to go about its work, the requisite area of approximately 4,100 m2 did not exist between the building and the ditch by the fence. This area actually comprises only 2,000 m2.
According to eyewitness testimony, the pond next to Crematorium IV, which exists still today, existed already in those days, fed by the groundwater. This is further proof of the high groundwater table.[299]
We shall dispense with recounting other impossible, alleged events that violate the laws of nature. Anyone with an education will have no trouble recognizing them.
Similar to 9.1.2, the distance of the pits west of BW 32 is approximately 320 m. Again disregarding the slope of the land, the groundwater table would be 1.16 m below ground level here. The witnesses placed the depth of the pits at 3.0 m.
In conclusion it must also be pointed out that work on stage III of the ameliorative drainage had not yet begun in 1942. This is proven by a document dated November 25, 1942, which stated:[300]
“[…] that in all probability it will not yet be possible to begin thorough drainage of this terrain at full-scale in 1943.”
Hence, the measures could not have had their full effect. Proof for this are also air photos from Sept. 13, 1944.[285]
There are a number of further documents that provide proof of the fact here at issue; we shall dispense with detailing them, since they do not add any new information.
Burning pits of the depth alleged by witnesses were not possible in Birkenau.
For all our statements presented here, we have tried to locate opposing views of experts in our field in order to address them appropriately. However, we found neither any opposing views by any peers, nor any technically correct work by non-experts that would be worth considering. We therefore ask our opponents to address the issues discussed here.
J.-C. Pressac may forgive us that we accept him neither as a technician nor as an engineer. The “technical explanations” in his books are devoid of any basis, as indicated not only by the examples shown above. However, we are still grateful for his books, since they inspired our own attention to these matters. Without his books with their document reproductions in abundance, there would not be a common basis for discussion.
Pressac’s generally neglected first books, which can be found only in major libraries, are filled with justified criticism, as we mentioned before, and we can agree with a lot that he has to say, as well as with those of his contentions that we can confirm. From the multitude of his critical remarks, only a few shall be quoted in order to understand the problem we are dealing with here:
“The witnesses state the contrary, and for them it is the truth.” (p. 16, 3rd col.)
“Five hundred (in actual fact 800) meters further on (from Bunker 2) there was another cottage designated Bunker I. […], able to contain altogether 200 naked persons. (manifest exaggeration by the witness, practically the rule among all the early accounts).” (p. 161. 1st col.)
“The interior of the cottage [Bunker 2] ws[sic] divided into four parts by partition walls […], one of which could contain 1200 naked people, the second 700 the third 400 and fourth 200 to 250.
(making a total of 2,500 to 2,550 people which represents a density of 28 people per square meter over an area of 90 m². This is physically impossible and S. Dragon’s estimate of 2,500/2,550 is clearly wrong. I do not think that this witness was intentionally misleading, but he was following the tendency to exaggerate which seems to have been the general rule at the time of the liberation and which is what gave rise to the figure of 4 million victims for K.L. Auschwitz, a figure now [1989] considered to be pure propaganda. It should be divided by four to get close to reality.)” (p. 171, 3rd col.)
“[…], was four black columns of smoke, belched forth 24 hours a day by the Krematorien. This picture, of course, cannot be taken entirely at face value, because two of the Krematorien were out of service and aerial photographs taken during this period show no trace of smoke. An argument has grown up over the discrepancy between the memory of survivors and the indisputable evidence of the aerial photos.” (p. 253, 1st col.)
“This study already demonstrates the complete bankrupt of the traditional history (and hence also of the methods and criticisms of the revisionists), a history based for the most part on testimonies, assembled according to the mood of the moment, truncated to fit an arbitrary truth […].” (p. 264, 3rd col.)
Only those who have studied Pressac’s books und perused them repeatedly after having gathered new information can see that Pressac had tried with all due restraint to correct false statements and to downgrade eyewitness testimony back to the status they always used to have, and rightly so. In a perspective which is almost revisionist in nature, he recognized that an inversion of this principle had to lead to false conclusions. Perhaps he even foresaw the possible consequences if these details become known to a wider audience. But how bad must the situation really be if not even those warning critiques from friendly persons like J.-C. Pressac are heard?
Our circle of researches includes individuals who experienced World War II. Those who have been herded together under conditions similar or worse than those that prevailed in the German concentration camps, in this case the POW camps of the Allies after the war, have an understanding for erring inmates and their overreactions. We also have made it a principle of ours to conclude that very frequently there is some truth to most rumors. This might also be the case with regard to the stories about open-pit incinerations, which probably have their origin in real open-air incinerations during the worst time of the typhus epidemic of 1942.
Finally, we may close this article with the remark that persons residing in Germany who would publish sentences like the one we quoted above from J.-C. Pressac would be accused and sentenced for “Stirring up the People” and “Incitement to Hatred”. His or her books would be confiscated and, as so many others before, would be destroyed![301] What is a democracy worth without freedom of speech?
Drainage systems lower the groundwater level of the drained area. This is done either by open ditches at high groundwater levels, or with closed pipelines at lower water levels.
Amelioration is the improvement of groundwater conditions mainly for farming purposes. The recommended average level of groundwater for various types of agricultural use is:
– for lawns 50 cm to 80 cm,
– for pastures 60 cm to 70 cm,
– for crops 100 cm to 125 cm,
– for yards 120 cm.
In this paper we used the term ‘witness’. However, we do have to stress that we do not know whether the testimonies we quoted were given in front of a court of law or are simple statements of certain individuals. The Auschwitz Museum contains a great number of such statements, as is well known. The evaluation certainly depends to a certain degree on this.
Against all common practice, the pharmacist J.-C. Pressac, from whose book we quoted these statements,[254] does not give any sources for these statements so that we are unable to check them. All we know is that these statements certainly did not originate from experts.
We therefore can only ask you to assess these statements for yourself and to find out whether or not they were given during a trial.
Dipl.-Ing. Willy Wallwey, September 1997
Half a year after the original German version of this article had been published in print in a journal, in late 1998, the publisher Germar Rudolf was notified by the Public Prosecutor of Munich, District I, that this journal issue was confiscated and subject to destruction and that a criminal case for “Stirring up the People” and “Incitement to Hatred” had been opened against both publisher and the author (writing under pseudonyms). The reason given was, i.a., this article.[302]
The article “Groundwater in the Area of the POW Camp Birkenau” by Willy Wallwey,[303] published in German for the first time in 1998 and reproduced in this study, attempts to show that the existence of “cremation pits” in the courtyard of Crematorium V and the area around the so-called “Bunker 2”, as described by several eyewitnesses, was a technical impossibility due to the high groundwater levels at Birkenau.
Newly discovered documents now permit a more in-depth treatment of this important contention. Analysis of these documents is preceded here by a few comments of a more general nature.
Numerous documents from the Zentralbauleitung (Central Construction Office) of Auschwitz-Birkenau written between 1941 and 1944 refer to very high water tables at Birkenau, but we must first determine exactly what is meant, in concrete terms, by the references involved. I proffer two revealing examples.
An “Explanatory Report on the Preliminary Design for the New Construction of the Waffen-SS Prisoner of War Camp, Auschwitz O/S”, dated 30 October 1941, states as follows, under the headline “Building Land”:[304]
“The soil characteristics are poor. Underneath the humus soil are loam and chalky clay, with imbedded gravel and subterranean sand banks of lesser dimensions. The groundwater level fluctuates between 0.30 and 1.20 m. The terrain is partially marshy.”
A “Construction Order for the Expansion of the Waffen-SS Prisoner of War Camp in Auschwitz O/S. Construction of 25 Barracks Buildings for Personal Effects”, dated 4 March 1944, states as follows, under the heading “Building Land”:[305]
“The soil characteristics are poor. Underneath 25 cm-thick layer of humus, loam appears, with imbedded gravel and subterranean sand banks of lesser dimensions. The groundwater level fluctuates between 0.30 and 1.20 m. The terrain is partially marshy.”
|
Fig. 1: First page of Jothann’s letter dated 10 February 1944 (RGVA, 502-1-155, p. 11) |
|
Fig. 2: Report from the Continentale Wasserwerks Gesellschaft dated 22 February 1943 (RGVA, 502-1-157, p. 4) |
|
Fig. 3: Excavation work for the foundation of the Central Sauna in May 1943. |
Taken literally, this appears to indicate that the groundwater level at Birkenau had not dropped even a single centimeter in almost two and a half years, despite the fact that “sewerage system and water treatment” work (“Bauwerk 18) began on October 21, 1941, and was 60% finished on December 13, 1943.[306] However, it was not the drainage system which needed to be finished, but rather the waste-water-treatment system. Drainage excavation ditches E, F and H of Bauabschnitt (Construction Segment) III were almost entirely finished by September 1943.[307] It seems reasonable to assume that the latter work was undertaken after the much more urgently needed work had been carried out on Construction Segments I and II.
Furthermore, a “catastrophic” drop in the groundwater table in the area around Auschwitz had already been noted in February 1944. This is evident from a letter from the head of the Central Building Administration Jothann “to the District President – Division IIIQ – Kattowitz” dated 10 February 1944, which begins as follows:[308]
|
Fig. 4: Allied air photo of Birkenau Camp north of Crematorium V. The mass graves are circled. |
“As a result of the catastrophic drop in the groundwater level in the area around Auschwitz, the wells sunk to supply the concentration camp and related operations are no longer sufficient.” (See Fig.1)
Although the above refers to Auschwitz Main Camp (concentration camp)—rather than the Birkenau Camp, located some distance away, in the immediate vicinity of the Sola and Weichsel rivers[309]—this letter suggests that groundwater levels at Birkenau itself, less than one month later, on 4 March 1944, might also have been perceptibly lower than in October 1941. The references to the groundwater table in the documents prepared between 1943 and 1944 might not be based on actual investigations. They may well be purely bureaucratic in nature, reflecting, in reality, the situation of October 1941. In practice, the data under the heading “Building Land” might simply have been transferred from one document to another.
A series of hitherto undiscovered documents now permits a far more precise picture of the situation in 1943 to be formed. These documents consist of eleven reports from the Continentale Wasserwerks Gesellschaft relating to drainage work carried out at Birkenau between February 6 and August 7, 1943. The first three of these documents are accounting reports on extra work performed between 6-17 February[310] (see Fig. 2), 18 February to 20 March,[311] and 22-31 March 1943.[312] The remaining eight documents are lists of pumping hours worked at Birkenau, using hand pumps, between 21 and 27. March,[313] 28 March to 3 April,[314] 4 to 10 April,[315] 11 to 18 April,[316] 18 April to 8 May,[317] 28 June to 10 July,[318] 12 to 24 July,[319] and 26 July to 7 August[320] 1943.
|
Fig. 5: Drainage ditch running north of Crematorium V. |
This work was performed for Building Structure (Bauwerk, BW) 19, which was, of course, not related to the sewerage and water purification work at that time—these tasks were the responsibility of BW 18—but rather to the camp water supply installation. Excluding the possibility of error—the occurrence of which appears rather improbable—this anomaly might be explained by administrative habit. A total of 1,931.5 pump hours were clocked; for the most part, this work was performed within Construction Segment (Bauabschnitt, BA) II, during which, in particular, 251 pump hours were listed for draining the construction pit of the future Crematorium II, and 269 pump hours for draining the construction pit of the future Crematorium III. These two crematoria possessed a semi-subterranean cellar, the floor of which was approximately 2 meters below ground. Underneath the floor a 50 cm cellar foundation of concrete (Sohle) was laid, to act as a counterweight against the pressure exerted by underground water.[321]
It follows that groundwater levels may have fallen during this period of time, but certainly not below 2 to 2.5 meters.
How are we to explain the fact that a photograph of the excavation work on the Central Sauna taken in May 1943[322] shows a pit more than 4.3 meters deep, completely dry on the bottom[323] (see Fig. 3[324])? The answer to this question is provided by the above mentioned reports: the excavation work which preceded the construction of the Central Sauna was certainly undertaken with the help of drainage pumps, and, it may be assumed, motor-driven pumps, since the reports contain no reference to construction works using hand-operated pumps at the Central Sauna.
Other documents confirm that the groundwater level during this time period was considerably higher than the above-mentioned 4.3 meters below surface. A report by the head of the Auschwitz Central Construction Office, SS-Sturmbannführer Karl Bischoff, dated 9 May 1943, relating to the measures taken by SS-Brigadeführer Hans Kammler, then head of the civil engineering section of the SS WVHA, during his Auschwitz visit of May 7th of that year, states the following:[325]
“The [SS garrison doctor] objected to the pit system stating that pollution of the groundwater was to be expected due to the high water level [...].”
In a later report on the topic of “Latrines in Construction Segment III” dated 19 July 1943, Bischoff reported:[326]
“It must also be assumed with 99% certainty that the water is not filtered through the poor subsoil, and since Construction Segment III is located between the Sola and the Weichsel, it is fairly certain that the flow of groundwater from this Construction Segment (in totally marshy terrain) also runs through the concentration camp, endangering the camp water supply through contamination of the groundwater. The installation of field latrines must, therefore, absolutely be rejected on hygienic grounds, since we are dealing with here, as already stated, with a completely marshy terrain.”
It is not improbable that the rise in the water table in Construction Segment II, which made pumping necessary in 1943, was caused by the flow of groundwater from Construction Segment III.
|
Fig. 6: Draining ditch in another sector of Birkenau Camp. The exact location can only be identified with difficulty. |
At the end of 1942, when the so-called “Bunker 2”, with its alleged homicidal gas chambers, according to common sources, is supposed to have entered into operation, work on Building 18, i.e., the drainage system, was only 40% finished. Accordingly, the high groundwater levels were even higher at that time. Outside the camp limits, the situation reflected the situation described in the report dated 30 October 1941, i.e., the groundwater level still fluctuated between 0.30 and 1.20 m. It is therefore clear that the alleged “cremation pits” at “Bunker 1” could not have been more than one meter deep.
The factual background to these distorted eyewitness reports consists of mass graves excavated during the first half of 1942, when the small crematorium in the Main Camp was no longer able to cremate the bodies of the epidemic victims. The high groundwater level also provides an explanation for the extraordinary length and width of these mass graves, to compensate for their lack of depth. Two of the air photos taken in 1944, in fact, show traces of four pits outside Birkenau Camp (approximately 160 meters north of Crematorium V, see Fig. 4[327]). These pits are approximately 10 meters wide; two of them are approximately 100 meters long, while the other two are approximately 130 meters long.[328]
By the early summer of 1944, the groundwater level, which had fallen at the beginning of the year, had risen again. This is evident in a telegram from Jothanns to Kammler dated June 2, 1944. Jothann stated that he had refused approval, on hygienic grounds, for the use of 14 barracks located in Construction Segment III of Birkenau Camp, adding:[329]
“The barracks are only partly covered, the terrain is marshy, and not leveled in any way. There is a danger of pollution of the groundwater and the creation of other hotbeds of epidemics.”
For this reason, any pits two to three meters deep dug in the north courtyard of Crematoriums V, would certainly have struck groundwater. The groundwater level was even closer to the surface in the area near the so-called “Bunker 2”, located outside the grounds of the camp, rendering the excavation of pits of this depth absolutely impossible.
In March of 1945, the groundwater level was relatively low once again, as may be seen from Figures 5[330] and 6;[331] by that time, however, six or more months had passed since the time period in question here: these photographs therefore depict a groundwater level different from that which existed during the summer of 1944.
APMO: | Archiwum Panstwowego Muzeum Oświęcim-Brezinka (Archives of the Auschwitz State Museum). |
GARF: | Gosudarstvennii Arkhiv Rossiskoi Federatsii (State Archives of the Russian Federation, Moscow). |
NA: | National Archives, Washington |
RGVA: | Rossiskii Gosudarstvennii Vojennii Arkhiv (Russian State Military Archives, formerly the TCIDK, Tsentr Khranenija Istoriko-Dokumentalnoi Kollektsii, Center for the Archiving of Historical-Documentary Collections), Moscow. |
By Heinrich Köchel
In assessing the reported cremation of huge numbers of human corpses in German concentration, labor, transit and/or extermination camps during the Second World War, the capacities of the respective facilities – crematories, outdoor cremation pits and pyres, as well as mass graves – are an important factor. Literature on the pertinent crematories is plentiful and technically well documented, especially by Pressac’s and Mattogno’s works. In particular the Auschwitz camp was well equipped with crematoria. The other camps established in eastern Poland (Treblinka, Sobibór and Belzec) did not have such sophisticated facilities, so that the corpses had to be burned outdoors. Some two million Holocaust victim deaths are traditionally ascribed to these camps. Using current knowledge about the open-air cremation of large amounts of livestock carcasses, the author of the present study investigates under which circumstances the disposal of so many human corpses would have been feasible, if at all.
In his work Belzec, Sobibor, Treblinka, Yitzak Arad explains that the victims in these camps were killed in homicidal gas chambers using carbon monoxide gas from engine exhaust between fall 1942 and early 1943. Most were initially buried in mass graves. Due to the threat of groundwater contamination but also concerns about a possible later discovery of this evidence of mass murder, these corpses are said to have been disinterred in the first half of 1943 and burned over a period of several months.
Apart from impressive descriptions of these fires regarding their blazing flames, intense heat, acrid smoke and unbearable stench, little precise data can be found about them. Some witnesses stated that even living people died in these fires, either because they were forced to jump into them or because loads of victims were dumped into them from trucks. This is not very credible, though, as such huge fires would have been dangerous even for the perpetrators and for any vehicle getting too close to them.
In the above-mentioned book, Yitzak Arad describes these open-air incinerations at Treblinka and Belzec as follows:
|
|
Smoke and fumes as far as one can see: typical for low-temperature fires. (All photos taken from www.whale.to/m/fmd70.html) |
“[Treblinka:] The cremation structure consisted of a roaster made from five or six railroad rails laid on top of three rows of concrete pillars each 70 cm high. The facility was 30 m wide.[…].
[…] SS Oberscharführer Heinrich Matthes, the commander of the ‘extermination area’ in Treblinka, testified:
‘[…] The corpses were piled on these rails. Brushwood was put under the rails. The wood was doused with petrol.’” (p. 174)
“[…] another special team, called the ‘burning group’ (Feuerkolonne), removed the corpses from the stretchers and arranged them in layers on the roaster to a height of 2 meters. Between 2,000 and 2,500 bodies – sometimes up to 3,000 – would be piled on the roaster. When all was ready, dry wood and branches, which had been laid under the roaster, were ignited. The entire construction, with the bodies, was quickly engulfed in fire. The railings would glow from the heat, and the flames would reach a height of up to 10 meters.
At first an inflammable liquid was poured onto the bodies to help them burn, but later this was considered unnecessary; the SS men in charge of the cremation became convinced that the corpses burned well enough without extra fuel.
Yechiel Reichman, a member of the ‘burning group,’ writes:
The SS ‘expert’ on bodyburning ordered us to put women, particularly fat women, on the first layer on the grill, face down. The second layer could consist of whatever was brought […]. Then the ‘expert’ ordered us to lay dry branches under the grill and to light them. Within a few minutes the fire would take so it was difficult to approach the crematorium from as far as 50 meters away.” (p. 175)
“The body-burning went on day and night. The corpses were transferred and arranged on the roasters during the day; at nightfall they were lit, and they burned throughout the night. When the fire went out, there were only skeletons or scattered bones on the roasters, and piles of ashes underneath.” (p. 176)
“In Belzec, all 600,000 victims had been buried already when the cremation started. During a period of four to five months they had to be unearthed and burned.” (p. 177)
“At Belzec and Treblinka, […] a system had to be found to cremate 150,000 to 200,000 corpses within one month and 5,000 to 7,000 in one day. By […] operating simply built, huge, open-spaced crematoria, […] the Operation Reinhard staff was able to complete its mission of cremation and the erasure of their despicable crimes.” (p. 178)
Arad’s book contains some information about the size and layout of these camps, and even though these data do not fully agree with other sources, it gives an impression of the surface areas available for the respective “zones of death” for the claimed extermination facilities, mass graves and subsequent incinerations:
Camp | Size of “Death Zone” | Surface Area | Arad’s Data |
Belzec: | 275 m × 90 m | ≈ 24,750 m² | map (p. 437) in conj. With |
Treblinka: | 250 m × 200 m | ≈ 50,000 m² | p. 41* |
Sobibór: | 150 m × 100 m | ≈ 15,000 m² | map (p. 35) in conj. with |
*An official Polish source based on a 1945 survey of the camp claims a surface area of merely 14,000 m² (3.45 acres) for the Treblinka “death zone,” see Graf/Mattogno, pp. 91, 321. |
According to eyewitness claims, thousands of bodies, some of them even frozen, were incinerated within a day with a minimal amount of fuel on pyres, which according to Arad had a surface area of 1,000 m² (Treblinka) and 1,500 m² (Belzec and Sobibór). At the end of this process, only ashes and small bone fragments are said to have been left behind. The latter could easily be crushed to dust with stampers. As incredible as such claims may sound, they have been considered to be true so far and were accepted as evidence by various courts of law.
A more recent study of the cremation pyres by Michael Tregenza (2000, p. 253) went a step farther. During a German penal trial against former SS guards, witnesses testified that the pyres used in the Belzec camp measured 5 m × 5 m and that up to five of them existed, although the defendants insisted that only two of them had existed. Tregenza extrapolated the information about the death toll hitherto attributed to this camp and stated:
“There is much disagreement on the subject of the number of pyres at Belzec. Witnesses from the village state that up to five pyres were in use, whereas SS personnel spoke of two pyres during the judicial proceedings in Munich in 1963/1964. According to their indications, at least 500,000 people were burned on those pyres. Assuming that a minimum of 500,000 corpses were burned on two pyres, one has to assume, for five pyres, a much higher figure – possibly twice as high – than the 600,000 persons officially assumed so far.”
|
Carbonation, not cremation |
|
Such calculations merely highlight how shaky the evidentiary basis is to this very day. Tregenza’s uncritical acceptance of the size claimed of these pyres is interesting, though, as it demonstrates how little he knows about the problems of cremating corpses, or cares about the factuality of these testimonies.
During the year 2001 Europe and in particular Great Britain were afflicted by a major outbreak of hoof-and-mouth disease. This permits us to investigate in more detail the challenge of incinerating large amounts of human corpses outdoors, since the media gave this process considerable coverage. The various reports of carcass incineration by government authorities give us detailed information as to the procedures used, in particular regarding the amount of fuel needed, the size of the pyres, the duration of the incineration, and also the manpower and man-hours needed as well as the time it took to set up the pyres, etc.
The table at the end of this paper lists the information gathered from various newspaper articles reporting on eight actual events (some of which were mentioned by several sources) as well as two typical instruction manuals specifically compiled to advise on setting up and operating such open-air mass cremations. Although these sources all relate to the incineration of animal carcasses – cattle, pigs, sheep – they can be extended to human corpses, since their consistency is very similar regarding the amount of fat, protein and water they contain. The instruction manuals quoted moreover expressly support their application to other animal species (not including humans).
An analysis of the data listed in the below table yields the following results:
All pyres are basically very similar regarding the fuels used. Coal is the main type of fuel, but since large wooden logs like railway sleepers are an essential element for constructing a pyre, they contribute a considerable amount of energy. Other types of fuels are also used, as for instance wooden skids, tires, straw bales soaked with diesel oil (to start the blaze), and finally at times thermite to ignite the fire.
|
fireproof garments |
Veterinary instructions indicate that processes for different species of livestock can be converted one to another for the purpose of calculating the required size of a cremation pyre. According to this, one cattle carcass corresponds to either four pigs, four shorn or three unshorn sheep. When converting the energy contents of each type of fuel into equivalents of wood, the various sources yield between 125 and 875 kg of dry wood per pig-equivalent, with an average of 310 kg. Considering the large variation of the data, it seems advisable to exclude the two extreme values, which yields a corrected average of some 270 kg of dry wood per pig-equivalent.
If looking at human corpses in this manner, it is possible to make the conservative estimate that two human bodies correspond to one pig carcass, or eight human bodies to one cattle carcass. This yields an average required amount of some 135 kg of dry wood for the incineration of one human corpse. Depending on the type of wood, this corresponds to 0.2 to 0.3 cubic meters of dry (!) wood.
The sources agree that – at a given load – a narrow but long pyre is preferred to one of a more-square shape. That seems obvious, as feeding the pyre with air is essential for an efficient, i.e. hot and swift, cremation. The longer the distance from the edge to the center of the pyre, the higher the risk that the burning mass located there cannot burn efficiently, merely sinking down and smoldering rather than burning. Moreover, in case of need it is exceedingly difficult to add additional fuel to spots more distant from the edge of the pyre.
The sources state in general that pyres should not be wider than some 2.5 m, which is the length of railway sleepers. This size is also conducive to constructing and loading such pyres from the long edges, as the workers can work simultaneously from both sides of the pyre. Photographs and schematic drawings show that cattle are usually placed in a single layer upon the bed of fuel, while sheep and pigs can be loaded in several layers. The total height does not exceed some 1.8 to 2 m, though. If loading is done manually, it is impossible to work at higher heights anyway. If stacked higher, the risk that the pile topples over increases considerably, for instance in case the pyre burns down unevenly or in case any frozen ground melts and thus gives way unevenly. The described design results in a trapezoidal cross section of the pyre with an area of some 3 to 4 m² and a volume respectively of some 3 to 4 m³ for each meter of the pyre.
If the location does not allow the construction of a single long pyre, it is of course possible to build several pyres next to each other. In that case a minimum distance between individual pyres needs to be kept for safety reasons, in particular if the pyres are not lit at the same time, in which case they are each at different stages of being prepared, burning down or being cleared out. For the pyres used during the 2001 outbreak of hoof-and-mouth disease, a minimum distance of 250 m between pyres was recommended. One witness of the German wartime camps mentioned a distance of 50 m around the pyres which was too hot and/or smoky to enter (Arad, p. 175). The same is also true for other artificial or natural blazes like burning houses or forest fires.
Based upon the data from the 2001 hoof-and-mouth epidemic it can be calculated that, in case of a single pyre of 1,000 m length and 250 m safety distance around it, an area of 500 m × 1,000 m would be required, plus a safety zone at both ends of the pyre (2 semi-circles of 250 m radius), which amounts to a little more than 50 hectares (124 acres). If that pyre were to be split up into four of 250 m length each, this number would increase to almost 100 hectares (1 km² or 0.4 square mile).
The sources quoted give different values for the time it takes for a pyre to burn down completely, ranging from “at least 24 hours” to “one to two weeks.” The shorter times probably refer to the dying down of perceptible flames, the longer values to the time it takes for the pyres to cool down.
The report about the incineration of 800 sheep in France (see below) by 100 soldiers deployed for this task also mentions a fleet of trucks (and presumably other equipment) used during the event.
The disposal of corpses in German wartime camps was different than the combustion of livestock carcasses in several regards:
– The human corpses had to be almost completely reduced to ashes so that no identifiable remnants would be left behind. The literature on this topic states that any bone fragments left over were even manually ground to powder. This would have been possible only after the pyres had cooled down sufficiently.
– Judging by the witness testimony available, it may be assumed that mainly wood rather than coal was used for the fires, since moderately sized pieces of wood can be transported by hand, whereas the transportation of coal or coke requires at least a modicum of mechanical devices (shovels, wheelbarrows etc.) never referred to in any witness account.
– Since wood has a much lower energy value per unit of mass than coal and coke, and also has a much lower density, such wood-fired pyres are inexorably more voluminous than those made mainly of coal/coke; this means that fewer corpses per surface area can be loaded onto wood pyres than onto coal/coke pyres.
– Wood fires generally burn at lower temperatures than coal/coke fires, which makes it more difficult to reduce corpses completely to ashes this way.
– It may be surmised that any firewood used stemmed from freshly-logged wood taken from surrounding forests. Since green, moist wood has only roughly half the net caloric yield of dried wood, this would double the amount of wood needed, lengthen the time the pyres burned, and reduce even more the average temperature of such pyres, hence complicating the entire process.
Based upon the above elaboration it can be deduced that the cremation of a human corpse outdoors requires at least 0.2 to 0.3 cubic meters of dry wood (or 0.4 to 0.6 cubic meters of fresh wood). Together with the corpse itself and the gaps required for an efficient cremation, a typical pyre could possibly accommodate two corpses per cubic meter of pyre for dry wood (and one corpse for fresh wood). The optimally designed pyre for small livestock carcasses as discussed earlier could thus be loaded with some 8 to 10 human corpses per running meter (or 4 to 5 for a sub-optimal pyre using fresh wood). In practice the conditions were most certainly not ideal, meaning that the actual pyres could probably accommodate less than that.
To achieve a daily capacity of some 5,000 to 7,000 corpses, as had to be cremated in those camps if we follow the traditional narrative, dry-wood pyres of 2.5 m width would have been required which were at least some 500 to 700 m long (or 1,000 to 1,400 m in case of moist wood).
|
Outdoor livestock carcass cremation seen from the air. The pyres which allegedly burned at Auschwitz, Belzec, Sobibor and Treblinka would have dwarfed fires like this and would have blanketed the entire area in smoke. Nothing of that kind can be seen on any of the air photos of Auschwitz. |
After the pyres had been built and ignited, they would have burned for between one and two days, as was reported for the pyres of the 2001 hoof-and-mouth epidemic. Experience with large piles of hot ashes shows that such piles remain hot for numerous days up to a week after the fire was started. After this the piles had to be sifted in search of larger bone fragments in order to grind them down, which would have required probably more than a day. It is therefore realistic to assume that each load of a pyre was being processed for up to ten days before a new pyre could be erected for a new load of corpses.
For the cremation capacity mentioned or implied in the literature of up to 7,000 bodies, ten outdoor cremation sites of the above size had to exist at the same time – all in various stages of the process. If assuming a distance of only 100 m between each such site and around the periphery of all pyres, the total surface area needed for that kind of operation of some 1,000 m × 1,000 m results for dry wood (and twice that for fresh wood). Such a surface area exceeds by far the sizes described in the literature of these camps; and in fact, it exceeds by far the size of every one of these camps taken in their entireties, hence not just the part of the camps where these activities are said to have unfolded.
|
Outdoor livestock carcass cremation seen from the air. Pit, excavated soil, massive destruction of vegetation and top soil around the pits – nothing of that kind can be seen on any of the air photos of Auschwitz. |
The availability of fuel is of course indispensable. The traditional literature does not even raise that issue, let alone discuss it. As a matter of fact, it is even claimed that very little if any fuel was required. Assuming that dry wood was the main fuel, we arrive at a requirement of 1,400 to 2,100 cubic meters of wood (dry and sawn) which had to be delivered into the camp every day for cremating 7,000 corpses daily. That corresponds to 200 truckloads or 70 to 100 mid-size freight cars via railway, and this every single day for several months. Considering the unreliable transport situation during the war, it would also have been advisable to have a minimum reserve of two to three days’ supplies, which means to store some 3,000 to 6,000 cubic meters of wood. If such logs of 2.5 m in length are piled up 3 m high, the resulting wood pile would be 400 to 800 m long, and the surface area required would amount to some 1,000 to 2,000 m² – plus additional space to access the piles, many meters wide on either side of the piles. This easily amounts to another hectare (2.5 acres) of surface area. This area alone amounts to a considerable portion of the area which Arad describes as these camps’ “zone of death” (see above). If, however, freshly-logged wood was used instead, the numbers would again double. In that case, logging that many tress, transporting them into the camp, and debranching and cutting them up would pose its own logistic challenge, which shall not be investigated here in detail.
Concerning the labor effort required for the cremations themselves we may assume due to the shortage of labor during the war that mainly forced labor (slave labor) was resorted to and that assisting mechanical devices were hardly available. The excavator depicted in Arad’s book (p. 95), which is said to have been inoperable at times, could not have done more than lift the corpses out of the mass graves and put them at the workers’ feet.
In the present paper it is not possible to thoroughly describe the workflow, but one needs to keep in mind that the vast area needed for these cremations (if it was available to begin with) would have required that the workers had to travel long distances to bring corpses from the mass graves and fuel from the wood storage area to the pyres – distances of up to a kilometer and more each way are realistic.
The orthodox literature mentions in passing that a narrow-gauge railway had been constructed. Due to the described ideal design of the pyres, this is not a practical solution, though, because the railway spur would have to run close to the pyre and would have to be relocated to another cremation pyre once one pyre was ready to be set ablaze and the work crew moved to the next cremation site – plus it would have to be a double-track line. It would have been impossible to place the tracks near a burning pyre, because the heat would have compromised both rails and sleepers. It is worth noting that a considerable number of rolling stock would have been almost indispensable for the transportation of 7,000 corpses and 1,400 to 2,100 metric tons of dry wood (or 2,800 to 4,200 tons of green wood) every single day.
The statements about the extermination camps made in the orthodox literature contradict the insights gained in connection with the 2001 outbreak of hoof-and-mouth disease to such a degree that it is impossible to accept the claims of the orthodox literature, according to which for several months, thousands of human corpses were cremated every day within the confines of the Treblinka, Sobibór and Belzec camps. These camps probably had facilities permitting the cremation of corpses, but most likely on a much smaller scale than claimed. A generous calculation using the surface areas actually available according to the orthodox literature (1,000 to 1,500 m² for each camp) results in pyres of a size permitting the cremation of maybe some 1,500 corpses per week, but not several tens of thousands, as is usually claimed.
If following the data given by M. Tregenza for the claimed pyres (4, possibly 5 “grills”, each of 5 m × 5 m, i.e. some 100 to 125 m²), the estimates shrink even further by almost an order of magnitude to a few hundred corpses which could have been disposed of within a week. In any case, the claims that fuel wood was needed only to start the fires are outside of the realm of documented experiences and must therefore be rejected. All reports about actual pyres during the 2001 hoof-and-mouth epidemic as well as instructions for the construction of such pyres emphasize the substantial fuel requirement.
This paper does not conclude that no such cremations took place at all in these camps. Crimes against humanity do not depend on a set number of victims. Legal and moral decisions follow different guidelines than technical issues. But we should reconcile ourselves to the thought that the two million victims attributed to these camps are a gross exaggeration. Considering the verifiable information about these camps and the experiences with outdoor mass cremations during livestock epidemics, we can safely assume that not more than 3,000 to 5,000 corpses could have been disposed of weekly in these camps. Applying this to the total time span during which such cremations are said to have occurred in the context of the “Aktion Reinhardt,” that is to say a four- to six-month period, no more than 80,000 to 125,000 corpses could possibly have been disposed of in that manner. The actual numbers are likely to be much lower than these, though.
Revisionists have dealt with the above problem in a number of their books. The results are similar to the present study, although the ways the authors arrived at them are much more complex. The present study has the advantage that it is based on real, properly documented cases of open-air mass cremations which are similar in style, scope and scale to the ones claimed for the alleged extermination camps of “Aktion Reinhardt.” The so-inclined reader may compare the present result to those obtained in these studies, of which the first three are concise while the last one is exhaustive to the point of being excessive:
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Amount of Fuel Required during Hoof-and-Mouth Epidemic, Part 1 | ||||
Description of actual outdoor mass cremations and of livestock and instructions to construct pertinent pyres | ||||
reference # | ||||
location/authority | Heddon-on-the-Wall | Caldbeck | Shadwick | Burdon |
cattle | 75 | 500 | 401 | 200 |
pigs | 850 |
|
|
|
sheep |
|
|
| 730 |
pig-equivalents | 1150 | 2000 | 1604 | 1770 |
railway sleepers | 250 | 3800 | 700 | 800 |
coal [t] | 75 | 700 | 200 | 290 |
wood |
| 900 skids |
| 29 t |
diesel oil [l] |
| 7600 |
| 3000 |
straw | 2 truckloads | 60 t |
| 20 t |
length [m] | 150 |
|
| 250?350? |
wood equivalents [t] | 185 | 1750 | 450 | 677 |
wood/pig [kg] | 160 |
| 280 | 360 |
wood/pig [kg] | average: 310 kg; corr. average: 270 kg (values struck through not considered) | |||
For this study the caloric value of each type of fuel is expressed as wood equivalents. Some basic value can be found here:http://www.brennholz-killat.de/abc/Heizwerttabelle.pdf, from which I took “Heizöl EL” for diesel, “Brennholz (Mittel)” for average wood, “Steinkohle” for coal, “Stroh (in Ballen)” for bales of straw with 0.25 m³ and 35kg per bale. Considering the frequent imprecision of the data given (skids, truckloads etc.) some calculations had to be based on educated guesses. However, in every case the contribution of coal and wood was always the decisive value. Unless indicated otherwise, a railway sleeper was calculated as a piece of wood of 2.5 m × 0.3 m × 0.2 m with a specific density of 0.5 t/m³. |
Amount of Fuel Required during Hoof-and-Mouth Epidemic, Part 2 | ||||
reference # | [5] | [6] | [7] | [8] |
location/authority | Epynt | Oswestry | Oswestry | FAO |
cattle | 300 | 68 | 45 cows, 10 calves | 1 |
pigs |
| 450 |
| or 4 |
sheep |
| 115 | 90 | or 4 shorn |
pig-equivalents | 1200 | 860 | 320 | 4 |
railway sleepers | 380 | 200 | 150 | 1 |
coal [t] | 175 | 30 | 25 | 0.2 |
wood | 250 skids | 4 truckloads 200 tires | 2 truckloads 100 tires | 35 kg |
diesel oil [l] | 2800 | 150 | 150 | 5 |
straw | 4 t | 350 bales | 250 bales | 1 bale |
length [m] | 250?500? | 60 | 45 |
|
wood equivalents [t] | 400 | 110 | 75 | 0.5 |
wood/pig [kg] | 330 | 130 | 235 |
|
wood/pig [kg] | average: see Part 1 of this table | |||
See remark in the footer of Part 1 of this table. |
Amount of Fuel Required during Hoof-and-Mouth Epidemic, Part 3 | |||
reference # | [9] | [9a] | [10] |
location/authority | DOH | APHIS | Bondues, France |
cattle | 1 | 1 |
|
pigs |
| or 5 |
|
sheep |
| or 5 | 818 |
pig-equivalents | (4) | 5 | 1100 |
railway sleepers | 3 | 3×8 sq ft | 350 |
coal [t] | 1 | 0.23 | 60 |
wood | 40 kg | 23 kg | 56 m³ |
diesel oil [l] |
| 3.8 | (60 t?) |
straw | 1 bale | 3 bales | 10 t |
length [m] |
| 0.9/cattle | 100 |
wood equivalents [t] | 2.3 | 0.87 | 190 |
wood/pig [kg] | 575 | 174 | 170 |
wood/pig [kg] | average: see Part 1 of this table | ||
See remark in the footer of Part 1 of this table. |
Table 1: Strength of Crematorium Personnel, January-February 1944
Date | Strength |
January 1, 1944 | 383[332] |
January 31, 1944 | 414[333] |
February 15, 1944 | 405[334] |
Table 2: Strength and Composition of Crematorium Personnel, April-September 1944[335] | |||||||
Date | Unit | Stokers of | Posts | Specialists | Helpers | Total | |
Specialists | Helpers | ||||||
Apr. 20 | 206-B | I and II | 2 | 1 | 120 |
|
|
207-B | III and IV | 2 | 3 | 84 | 3 | 214 | |
May 3 | 206-B | I and II | 2 | 1 | 100 |
|
|
207-B | III and IV | 2 | 2 | 104 | 3 | 214 | |
May 11 | 206-B | I and II | 2 | 1 | 100 |
|
|
207-B | III and IV | 2 | 2 | 105 | 3 | 215[336] | |
May 14 | 206-B | I and II | 2 | 1 | 39 |
|
|
207-B | III and IV | 2 | 2 | 38 | 3 | 87 | |
May 15 | 206-B | I and II | 2 | 1 | 150 |
|
|
207-B | III and IV | 2 | 2 | 155 | 3 | 315 | |
July 28 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 1 | 109 |
|
|
Table 2, continued | |||||
Date | Unit | Stokers of Crematoria | Posts | Specialists | Helpers |
| 58-B | II Night | 3 | - | 110 |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 2 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 3 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
61-B | Wood unloaders Cr. IV | / | - | 30 | |
| Total | 22 | 3 | 900 | |
July 29 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 1 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 2 | - | 110 | |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 2 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 3 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
61-B | Wood unloaders Cr. IV | / | - | 30 | |
| Total | 22 | 2 | 900 | |
July 29 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 1 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 2 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 3 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
61-B | Wood unloaders Cr. IV | / | - | 30 | |
| Total | 22 | 3 | 900 | |
July 30 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 1 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 2 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 3 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
61-B | Wood unloaders Cr. IV | / | - | 30 | |
| Total | 22 | 3 | 900 | |
Aug. 1 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 1 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 2 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
61-B | Wood unloaders Cr. IV | / | - | 30 | |
| Total | 22 | 3 | 900 | |
Aug. 2 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 1 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 2 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
61-B | Wood unloaders Cr. IV | / | - | 30 | |
| Total | 22 | 3 | 900 | |
Aug. 3 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 1 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 2 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 3 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
61-B | Wood unloaders Cr. IV | / | - | 30 | |
| Total | 22 | 3 | 900 | |
Aug. 4 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 1 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 2 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 3 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
61-B | Wood unloaders Cr. IV | / | - | 30 | |
| Total | 22 | 3 | 900 | |
Aug. 5 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 1 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 2 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 3 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
61-B | Wood unloaders Cr. I & II | / | - | 30 | |
| Total | 22 | 3 | 900 | |
Aug. 6 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 1 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 2 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 3 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | 1 | 100 | |
61-B | Wood unloaders Cr. I. | 2 | - | 30 | |
| Total | 24 | 3 | 900 | |
Aug. 7 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 1 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 2 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 3 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
61-B | Wood unloaders Cr. I & II | 1 | - | 30 | |
| Total | 23 | 3 | 900 | |
Aug. 8 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 1 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 2 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 3 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
61-B | Wood unloaders Cr. I & II | 1 | - | 30 | |
| Total | 23 | 3 | 900 | |
Aug. 9 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 1 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 2 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 3 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
61-B | Wood unloaders Cr. I & II | 2 | - | 30 | |
| Total | 24 | 3 | 894 | |
Aug. 10 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 1 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 2 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 3 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
| Total | 22 | 3 | 870 | |
Aug. 11 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 1 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 2 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 3 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
| Total | 22 | 3 | 870 | |
Aug. 12 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 1 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 2 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 3 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
| Total | 22 | 1 | 870 | |
Aug. 13 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 1 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 2 | - | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
| Total | 22 | 3 | 870 | |
Aug. 14 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 1 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 2 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 3 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
| Total | 22 | 3 | 870 | |
Aug. 15 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 1 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 2 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 3 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
| Total | 22 | 3 | 870 | |
Aug. 16 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 1 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 2 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 3 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
| Total | 22 | 3 | 870 | |
Aug. 17 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 1 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 2 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 3 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
| Total | 22 | 3 | 870 | |
Aug. 18 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 1 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 2 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
| Total | 22 | 3 | 870 | |
Aug. 19 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 1 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 2 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 3 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
| Total | 22 | 3 | 870 | |
Aug. 21 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 1 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 2 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 3 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
| Total | 22 | 3 | 870 | |
Aug. 22 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 2 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 2 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 3 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
| Total | 22 | 4 | 870 | |
Aug. 23 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 2 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 2 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 3 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
| Total | 22 | 4 | 870 | |
Aug. 24 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 2 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 2 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 3 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
| Total | 22 | 4 | 870 | |
Aug. 25 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 2 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 2 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 3 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
| Total | 22 | 4 | 870 | |
Aug. 26 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 2 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 2 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 3 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
| Total | 22 | 4 | 870 | |
Aug. 27 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 2 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 2 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 3 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
| Total | 22 | 4 | 870 | |
Aug. 28 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 2 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 2 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 3 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
| Total | 22 | 4 | 870 | |
Aug. 29 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 2 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 2 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 3 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
| Total | 22 | 4 | 870 | |
Aug. 30 | 57-B | I Day | 2 | 2 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 3 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
58-B | II Day | 3 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 2 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 3 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Night | 3 | - | 110 | |
60-B | IV Day | 3 | 1 | 109 | |
| Total | 22 | 4 | 870 | |
Sept. 7 | 57-B | I Day | 1 | 2 | 109 |
57-B | I Night | 2 | - | 104 | |
58-B | II Night | 2 | - | 110 | |
58-B | II Day | 1 | - | 110 | |
59-B | III Day | 1 | 1 | 109 | |
59-B | III Night | 2 | - | 109 | |
60-B | IV Night | 2 | - | 110 | |
60-B | IV Day | 1 | 1 | 109 | |
| Total | 12 | 4 | 870 | |
57-B | I Day | 1 | - | 84 | |
57-B | I Night | 2 | - | 85 | |
58-B | II Night | 2 | - | 85 | |
58-B | II Day | 1 | - | 84 | |
59-B | III Day | 1 | 1 | 84 | |
59-B | III Night | 2 | - | 85 | |
60-B | IV Night | 2 | - | 84 | |
60-B | IV Day | 1 | - | 70 | |
| Total | 12 | 1 | 661 |
Table 3: Strength and Composition of Crematorium Personnel, October 1944[338] |
Date | Crema II | Crema III | Crema IV | Crema V | Total | ||||
Day | Night | Day | Night | Day | Night | Day | Night |
| |
2 | 84 | 85 | 84 | 85 | 84 | 85 | 84 | 70 | 661 |
3 | 84 | 85 | 84 | 85 | 84 | 85 | 84 | 70 | 661 |
4 | 84 | 85 | 84 | 85 | 84 | 85 | 84 | 70 | 661 |
5 | 84 | 85 | 84 | 85 | 84 | 85 | 84 | 70 | 661 |
6 | 84 | 85 | 84 | 85 | 84 | 85 | 84 | 70 | 661 |
7 | 84 | 85 | 84 | 85 | 84 | 85 | 84 | 70 | 661 |
8 | 84 | 85 | 84 | 85 | 84 | 85 | 84 | 70 | 661 |
9 | 27 | 26 | 26 | 27 | 27 | 26 | 26 | 27 | 212 |
10 | 33 | 33 | 33 | 33 | - | - | 33 | 33 | 198 |
11 | 33 | 33 | 33 | 33 | - | - | 33 | 33 | 198 |
12 | 33 | 33 | 33 | 33 | - | - | 33 | 33 | 198 |
13 | 33 | 33 | 33 | 33 | - | - | 33 | 33 | 198 |
14 | 33 | 33 | 33 | 33 | - | - | 33 | 33 | 198 |
15 | 33 | 33 | 33 | 33 | - | - | 33 | 33 | 198 |
16 | 33 | 33 | 33 | 33 | - | - | 33 | 33 | 198 |
17 | 33 | 33 | 33 | 33 | - | - | 33 | 33 | 198 |
18 | 33 | 33 | 33 | 33 | - | - | 33 | 33 | 198 |
19 | 33 | 33 | 33 | 33 | - | - | 33 | 33 | 198 |
20 | 33 | 33 | 33 | 33 | - | - | 33 | 33 | 198 |
21 | 33 | 33 | 33 | 33 | - | - | 33 | 33 | 198 |
22 | 33 | 33 | 33 | 33 | - | - | 33 | 33 | 198 |
23 | 33 | 33 | 33 | 33 | - | - | 33 | 33 | 198 |
24 | 33 | 33 | 33 | 33 | - | - | 33 | 33 | 198 |
25 | 33 | 33 | 33 | 33 | - | - | 33 | 33 | 198 |
26 | 33 | 33 | 33 | 33 | - | - | 33 | 33 | 198 |
27 | 33 | 33 | 33 | 33 | - | - | 34 | 33 | 199 |
28 | 33 | 33 | 33 | 33 | - | - | 34 | 34 | 200 |
29 | 33 | 33 | 33 | 33 | - | - | 34 | 34 | 200 |
30 | 33 | 33 | 33 | 33 | - | - | 34 | 34 | 200 |
31 | 33 | 33 | 33 | 33 | - | - | 34 | 34 | 200 |
Total for Jan. 16, 1945: 30[339]
|
Doc. 1: Drawing by Alter Fajnzylberg (alias Stanisław Jankowski) August/September 1985. APMO, Zespół Oświadczenia, vol. 113, p. 9. |
|
Doc. 2: Drawing by Dov Paisikovic, August 10, 1964. APMO, Zespół Oświadczenia, vol. 44, p. 112. |
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Doc. 3: Locations of the alleged incineration trenches around Crematorium V. Kazimierz Smoleń (ed.), Auschwitz vu par les SS, Edition du Musée d’Etat à Oświęcim, 1974, plate without page number. |
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Doc. 4: Photograph by the underground resistance movement at Auschwitz. APMO, negative 277. |
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Doc. 5: Photograph by the underground resistance movement at Auschwitz. APMO, negative 278. |
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Doc. 6: Photograph by the underground resistance movement at Auschwitz, detail. APMO, negative 278. |
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Doc. 7: Photograph by the underground resistance movement at Auschwitz, detail. APMO, negative 278. |
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Doc. 8: Photograph by the underground resistance movement at Auschwitz, detail. APMO, negative 278. |
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Doc. 9: Photograph by the underground resistance movement at Auschwitz, detail. APMO, negative 278. |
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Doc. 10: Polish photograph, spring 1945. Birkenau, area of Crematorium V, Fence 35. APMO, negative 21334/137. |
|
Doc. 11: Birkenau, area of Crematorium V, Fence 35, 1991. Detail of Fence 35. © Carlo Mattogno |
|
Doc. 12: Photograph by the underground resistance movement at Auschwitz. APMO, negative 282. |
|
Doc. 13: Photograph by the underground resistance movement at Auschwitz, detail: bathtubs at detainee bath. APMO, negative 282. |
|
Doc. 14: Photograph by the underground resistance movement at Auschwitz, detail: water jug. APMO, negative 282. |
|
Doc. 15: Photograph by the underground resistance movement at Auschwitz, detail: man with cylindrical vessel. APMO, negative 282. |
|
Doc. 16: Photograph by the underground resistance movement at Auschwitz, (document 12). In the version published by Jan Sehn. Oświęcim-Brzezinka (Auschwitz-Birkenau) Concentration Camp, Wydawnictwo Prawnicze, Warsaw 1961, p. 131. |
|
Doc. 17: Fire-fighting pond west of the ruins of Crematorium IV. 1991. © Carlo Mattogno |
|
Doc. 18: Air photo of Birkenau area taken May 31,1944. NA, Record Group no. 373, Mission 60 PRS/462 60 SQ. Can D 1508, Exposure 3055. |
|
Doc. 19: Section Enlargement of U.S. National Archives, Record Group no. 373, Mission 60 PRS/462 60 SQ. Can D 1508, exp. 3056. Area of alleged “Bunker 2” and part of the Effektenlager. |
|
Doc. 20: Enlargement of Document 18. Area of alleged “Bunker 2.” |
|
Doc. 21: Enlargement of Document 18. Area of alleged “Bunker 2”: the 3 alleged incineration trenches. |
|
Doc. 22: Enlargement of Document 18. A fence blocks the entry to the area of alleged “Bunker 2” from the road leading to the camp (indicated by arrow). |
|
Doc. 23: Enlargement of Document 18. Northerly yard of Crematorium V. Outdoor cremation site. |
|
Doc. 24: Northern yard of Crematorium V. Outdoor cremation site. Enlargement of second photograph taken May 31, 1944. NA, Record Group no. 373, Mission 60 PRS/462 60 SQ. Can D 1508, Exposure 3056. |
|
Doc. 25: Enlargement of Document 18. Northerly yard of Crematorium V. Outdoor cremation site in lower portion. In upper portion, the circle encloses the smoking area which appears in air photo of August 23, 1944 (cf. Documents 36, 38). |
|
Doc. 26: Birkenau, northerly yard of former Crematorium V, in 1997. Area where cremation site was located in August of 1944. © Carlo Mattogno |
|
Doc. 27: Enlargement of Document 18. Northerly yard of Crematorium V. Outdoor cremation site. Triangulation of photograph 278 (Document 5). Letter “V” in circled area is cremation site shown in photograph of August 23, 1944. |
|
Doc. 28: Birkenau, northerly yard of former Crematorium V, in 1997. Area in which cremation site was located in August of 1944. © Carlo Mattogno |
|
Doc. 29: Enlargement of Document 18. Area of the 4 mass graves. |
|
Doc. 30: Enlargement of Document 18. Wooded area to the west of the camp. |
|
Doc. 31: Air photo of Birkenau taken June 26, 1944. NA, Record Group no. 373, Mission 60/PR 522, 60 SQ. Can C 1172, Exposure 5022. |
|
Doc. 32: Air photo of Birkenau area taken on July 8, 1944. NA, Record Group no. 373. Film: 14/44 /LGK VIII) B. Nr. 123 (German photograph). |
|
Doc. 33: Enlargement of Document 32. Northerly yard of Crematorium V. Outdoor cremation site. |
|
Doc. 34: Air photo of August 20, 1944. NA, Mission USEC/R 86. Can B 10658, Exposure 5018. |
|
Doc. 35: Enlargement of Document 34: Crematorium III with smoking chimney (arrow). |
|
Doc. 36: Air photo of Birkenau area taken on August 23, 1944. |
|
Doc. 37: Enlargement of Document 36. Area of alleged “Bunker 2” |
|
Doc. 38: Enlargement of Document 36. Northerly yard of Crematorium V. Outdoor cremation site. |
|
Doc. 39: Air photo of Birkenau taken on August 25, 1944. NA, Record Group no. 373, Mission 60/PR 694 60 SQ. Can F 5366, Exposure 5027. |
|
Doc. 40: Enlargement of Document 39. Northerly yard of Crematorium V. |
|
Doc. 41: Air photo of November 29, 1944. Area of alleged “Bunker 2.” NA, Record Group no. 373, Mission 15 SG/887 5PG. Can D 1610, Exposure 4058. |
|
Doc. 42: Air photo of December 21, 1944. Area of Crematoria IV and V and wooded zone to the west of Birkenau camp. NA, Record Group no. 373, Mission 15 SG/994 15 PG. Can D 1533, Exposure 3021. |
|
Doc. 43: Air photo taken February 19, 1945. Birkenau, northerly yard of Crematorium V. Wood piled up along drainage ditch. NA, Record Group no. 373, GX 12337/145. |
|
Doc. 44: Polish photograph from spring 1945. Birkenau, area of Crematorium V, pile of wood along drainage ditch APMO, negative 4798. |
|
Doc. 45: Photograph of pile of wood near Sobibór camp. 1997. © Carlo Mattogno |
|
Doc. 46: “Arbeitseinsatz” report of Auschwitz II-Birkenau camp dated August 30, 1944. AGK, NTN, 94, p. 153. |
|
Doc. 47: Strength of crematoria personnel at Birkenau between October 2 and 11, 1944. GARF, 7021-108-20, p. 163. Soviet elaboration on basis of “Arbeitseinsatz” report series. |
|
Doc. 48: “Arbeitseinsatz” report of Auschwitz II-Birkenau camp for January 16, 1945. GARF, 502-1-67, p. 17a. |
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Air Photo Evidence: World War Two Photos of Alleged Mass Murder Sites Analyzed. By John C. Ball. During World War Two both German and Allied reconnaissance aircraft took countless air photos of places of tactical and strategic interest in Europe. These photos are prime evidence for the investigation of the Holocaust. Air photos of locations like Auschwitz, Majdanek, Treblinka, Babi Yar etc. permit an insight into what did or did not happen there. John Ball has unearthed many pertinent photos and has thoroughly analyzed them. This book is full of air photo reproductions and schematic drawings explaining them. According to the author, these images refute many of the atrocity claims made by witnesses in connection with events in the German sphere of influence. 3rd revised and expanded edition. Edited by Germar Rudolf; with a contribution by Carlo Mattogno. 168 pages, 8.5”×11”, b&w illustrations, bibliography, index (#27).
The Leuchter Reports: Critical Edition. By Fred Leuchter, Robert Faurisson and Germar Rudolf. Between 1988 and 1991, U.S. expert on execution technologies Fred Leuchter wrote four detailed reports addressing whether the Third Reich operated homicidal gas chambers. The first report on Auschwitz and Majdanek became world famous. Based on chemical analyses and various technical arguments, Leuchter concluded that the locations investigated “could not have then been, or now be, utilized or seriously considered to function as execution gas chambers.” 4th edition, 252 pages, b&w illustrations. (#16)
The Giant with Feet of Clay: Raul Hilberg and His Standard Work on the “Holocaust.” By Jürgen Graf. Raul Hilberg’s major work The Destruction of European Jewry is an orthodox standard work on the Holocaust. But what evidence does Hilberg provide to back his thesis that there was a German plan to exterminate Jews, carried out mainly in gas chambers? Jürgen Graf applies the methods of critical analysis to Hilberg’s evidence and examines the results in light of modern historiography. The results of Graf’s critical analysis are devastating for Hilberg. 2nd, corrected edition, 139 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#3)
Jewish Emigration from the Third Reich. By Ingrid Weckert. Current historical writings about the Third Reich claim state it was difficult for Jews to flee from Nazi persecution. The truth is that Jewish emigration was welcomed by the German authorities. Emigration was not some kind of wild flight, but rather a lawfully determined and regulated matter. Weckert’s booklet elucidates the emigration process in law and policy. She shows that German and Jewish authorities worked closely together. Jews interested in emigrating received detailed advice and offers of help from both sides. 2nd ed., 130 pages, index. (#12)
Inside the Gas Chambers: The Extermination of Mainstream Holocaust Historiography. By Carlo Mattogno. Neither increased media propaganda or political pressure nor judicial persecution can stifle revisionism. Hence, in early 2011, the Holocaust Orthodoxy published a 400 pp. book (in German) claiming to refute “revisionist propaganda,” trying again to prove “once and for all” that there were homicidal gas chambers at the camps of Dachau, Natzweiler, Sachsenhausen, Mauthausen, Ravensbrück, Neuengamme, Stutthof… you name them. Mattogno shows with his detailed analysis of this work of propaganda that mainstream Holocaust hagiography is beating around the bush rather than addressing revisionist research results. He exposes their myths, distortions and lies. 268 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography. (#25)
Treblinka: Extermination Camp or Transit Camp? By Carlo Mattogno and Jürgen Graf. It is alleged that at Treblinka in East Poland between 700,000 and 3,000,000 persons were murdered in 1942 and 1943. The weapons used were said to have been stationary and/or mobile gas chambers, fast-acting or slow-acting poison gas, unslaked lime, superheated steam, electricity, diesel exhaust fumes etc. Holocaust historians alleged that bodies were piled as high as multi-storied buildings and burned without a trace, using little or no fuel at all. Graf and Mattogno have now analyzed the origins, logic and technical feasibility of the official version of Treblinka. On the basis of numerous documents they reveal Treblinka’s true identity as a mere transit camp. 365 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#8)
Belzec in Propaganda, Testimonies, Archeological Research and History. By Carlo Mattogno. Witnesses report that between 600,000 and 3 million Jews were murdered in the Belzec camp, located in Poland. Various murder weapons are claimed to have been used: diesel gas; unslaked lime in trains; high voltage; vacuum chambers; etc. The corpses were incinerated on huge pyres without leaving a trace. For those who know the stories about Treblinka this sounds familiar. Thus the author has restricted this study to the aspects which are new compared to Treblinka. In contrast to Treblinka, forensic drillings and excavations were performed at Belzec, the results of which are critically reviewed. 138 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#9)
Sobibor: Holocaust Propaganda and Reality. By Jürgen Graf, Thomas Kues and Carlo Mattogno. Between 25,000 and 2 million Jews are said to have been killed in gas chambers in the Sobibór camp in Poland. The corpses were allegedly buried in mass graves and later incinerated on pyres. This book investigates these claims and shows that they are based on the selective use of contradictory eyewitness testimony. Archeological surveys of the camp in 2000-2001 are analyzed, with fatal results for the extermination camp hypothesis. The book also documents the general National Socialist policy toward Jews, which never included a genocidal “final solution.” 434 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#19)
The “Extermination Camps” of “Aktion Reinhardt”. By Jürgen Graf, Thomas Kues and Carlo Mattogno. In late 2011, several members of the exterminationist Holocaust Controversies blog published a study which claims to refute three of our authors’ monographs on the camps Belzec, Sobibor and Treblinka (see previous three entries). This tome is their point-by-point response, which makes “mincemeat” out of the bloggers’ attempt at refutation. It requires familiarity with the above-mentioned books and constitutes a comprehensive update and expansion of their themes. 2nd edition, two volumes, total of 1396 pages, illustrations, bibliography. (#28)
Chelmno: A Camp in History & Propaganda. By Carlo Mattogno. The world’s premier holocaust scholar focuses his microscope on the death camp located in Poland. It was at Chelmno that huge masses of prisoners—as many as 1.3 million—were allegedly rounded up and killed. His book challenges the conventional wisdom of what went on inside Chelmno. Eyewitness statements, forensics reports, coroners’ reports, excavations, crematoria, building plans, U.S. reports, German documents, evacuation efforts, mobile gas vans for homicidal purposes—all are discussed. 191 pages, indexed, illustrated, bibliography. (#23)
The Gas Vans: A Critical Investigation. (A perfect companion to the Chelmno book.) By Santiago Alvarez and Pierre Marais. It is alleged that the Nazis used mobile gas chambers to exterminate 700,000 people. Up until 2011, no thorough monograph had appeared on the topic. Santiago Alvarez has remedied the situation. Are witness statements reliable? Are documents genuine? Where are the murder weapons? Could they have operated as claimed? Where are the corpses? Alvarez has scrutinized all known wartime documents, photos and witness statements on this topic, and has examined the claims made by the mainstream. 390 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#26)
Concentration Camp Majdanek. A Historical and Technical Study. By Carlo Mattogno and Jürgen Graf. Little research had been directed toward Concentration Camp Majdanek in central Poland, even though it is claimed that up to a million Jews were murdered there. The only information available is discredited Polish Communist propaganda. This glaring research gap has finally been filled. After exhaustive research of primary sources, Mattogno and Graf created a monumental study which expertly dissects and repudiates the myth of homicidal gas chambers at Majdanek. They also critically investigated the legend of mass executions of Jews in tank trenches (“Operation Harvest Festival”) and prove them groundless. The authors’ investigations lead to unambiguous conclusions about the camp which are radically different from the official theses. Again they have produced a standard and methodical investigative work, which authentic historiography cannot ignore. Third edition, 350 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#5)
Concentration Camp Stutthof and Its Function in National Socialist Jewish Policy. By Carlo Mattogno and Jürgen Graf. The Stutthof camp in Prussia has never before been scientifically investigated by traditional historians, who claim nonetheless that Stutthof served as a ‘makeshift’ extermination camp in 1944. Based mainly on archival resources, this study thoroughly debunks this view and shows that Stutthof was in fact a center for the organization of German forced labor toward the end of World War II. Fourth edition, 170 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#4)
The Real Case of Auschwitz: Robert van Pelt’s Evidence from the Irving Trial Critically Reviewed. By Carlo Mattogno. Prof. Robert van Pelt is considered one of the best mainstream experts on Auschwitz and has been called upon several times in holocaust court cases. His work is cited by many to prove the holocaust happened as mainstream scholars insist. This book is a scholarly response to Prof. van Pelt—and Jean-Claude Pressac. It shows that their studies are heavily flawed. This is a book of prime political and scholarly importance to those looking for the truth about Auschwitz. 2nd edition, 758 pages, b&w illustrations, glossary, bibliography, index. (#22)
Auschwitz: Plain Facts—A Response to Jean-Claude Pressac. Edited by Germar Rudolf. French pharmacist Jean-Claude Pressac tried to refute revisionist findings with the “technical” method. For this he was praised by the mainstream, and they proclaimed victory over the “revisionists.” In Auschwitz: Plain Facts, Pressac’s works and claims are debunked. 2nd ed., 226 pages, b&w illustrations, glossary bibliography, index. (#14)
The Rudolf Report. Expert Report on Chemical and Technical Aspects of the ‘Gas Chambers’ of Auschwitz. By Germar Rudolf and Dr. Wolfgang Lambrecht. In 1988, execution expert Fred Leuchter investigated the gas chambers of Auschwitz and Majdanek and concluded that they could not have worked as claimed. Ever since, Leuchter’s work has been attacked. In 1993, Germar Rudolf published a thorough forensic study about the “gas chambers” of Auschwitz. His report irons out the deficiencies of “The Leuchter Report.” Second edition, 457 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. (#2)
Auschwitz Lies: Legends, Lies and Prejudices on the Holocaust. By Carlo Mattogno and Germar Rudolf. The fallacious research and alleged “refutation”of Revisionist scholars by French biochemist G. Wellers, Polish Prof. J. Markiewicz, chemist Dr. Richard Green, Profs. Zimmerman, M. Shermer and A. Grobman, as well as researchers Keren, McCarthy and Mazal, are exposed for what they are: blatant and easily exposed political lies created to ostracize dissident historians. In this book, facts beat propaganda once again. Third edition, 404 pages, b&w illustrations, index. (#18)
Auschwitz: The Central Construction Office. By Carlo Mattogno. Based upon mostly unpublished German wartime documents, this study describes the history, organization, tasks and procedures of the Central Construction Office of the Waffen-SS and Auschwitz Police. Despite a huge public interest in the camp, next to nothing was really known about this office, which was responsible for the planning and construction of the Auschwitz camp complex, including the crematories which are said to have contained the “gas chambers.” 2nd ed., 188 pages, b&w illustrations, glossary, index. (#13)
Garrison and Headquarters Orders of the Auschwitz Camp. By C. Mattogno. A large number of all the orders ever issued by the various commanders of the infamous Auschwitz camp have been preserved. They reveal the true nature of the camp with all its daily events. There is not a trace in these orders pointing at anything sinister going on in this camp. Quite to the contrary, many orders are in clear and insurmountable contradiction to claims that prisoners were mass murdered. This is a selection of the most pertinent of these orders together with comments putting them into their proper historical context. (Scheduled for early 2018; #34)
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